10th International Workshop Neural Coding 2012



Book of Abstracts

Prague, Czech Republic, September 2–7, 2012

10th International Workshop Neural Coding 2012



Book of Abstracts

Prague, Czech Republic, September 2–7, 2012

http://nc2012.biomed.cas.cz/

Local Organising Agency:

CONFORG, Ltd.

http://www.conforg.cz



Supported by:

Office of Naval Research Global



Grant No.: N62909-11-1-1111

Contents

Using the structure of inhibitory networks to unravel mechanisms of spatiotemporal patterning Maxim Bazhenov	1
On dependency properties of the ISIs generated by a two compartmental neuronal model Elisa Benedetto and Laura Sacerdote	3
Modelling of Sensory Pathway of Swimming Initiation in Young Frog Tadpole Spinal Cord: a Developmental Approach Roman Borisyuk, Kalam Abul AlAzad, Alan Roberts, Steve Soffe, Deborah Conte and Edgar Buhl	5
Determinism, Randomness and the Question of the "Free Will" – Examined from a Neural Coding Perspective Hans A. Braun	7
Fast learning in single synapses and behavioral learning times Guido Bugmann	9
A Simple Algorithm for Simulating Firing Times predicted by a LIF Model Aniello Buonocore, Luigia Caputo and Enrica Pirozzi	11
Precise coding of interaural level differences in the auditory brainstem <i>Zbynek Bures</i>	13
Image coding at the electrosensory lobe of pulse gymnotiforms Ángel Ariel Caputi, Ana Carolina Pereira and Alejo Rodríguez-Cattaneo	15
Interplay between Endogenous and Exogenous Rhythms in Recurrent Networks with Conductance-Based neurons Stefano Cavallari, Alberto Mazzoni and Stefano Panzeri	17
Independent components of wing kinematics in the fruit fly Drosophila Soma Chakraborty, Jan Bartussek, Steven N. Fry and Martin Zapotocky	19
FM responses of midbrain auditory neurons modeled with artificial neural network based on multiple trigger features T.R. Chang, T.W. Chiu and Paul W.F. Poon	21
Coding of woody and fruity odorant mixtures: Interactions of odorants with olfactory receptors and receptor neurons match the perceptual dynamics <i>M. A. Chaput, F. El Mountassir, T. Thomas-Danguin, A. M. Le Bon, B. Ferry and P. Viret</i>	23

Patterns of single-trial auditory evoked potentials on the human temporal cortex extracted with the adaptive filter T.W. Chiu, W. Qiu, Paul W.F. Poon, Kirill Nourski, Hiroyuki Oya, John F. Brugge and Matthew A. Howard III	25
Diffusion approximation of neuronal models revisited Jakub Cupera	27
Some remarks on a spike train model of interacting neurons Antonio Di Crescenzo, Maria Longobardi and Barbara Martinucci	29
Firing mechanisms in the stochastic Morris-Lecar neuron model and its embedded leaky integrate-and-fire model Susanne Ditlevsen	31
Brain States revealed by Bispectral Analysis of Microsleep Pierre Dutoit, Vladyslav V. Shaposhnyk, Alessandro E. P. Villa and Stephen Perrig	33
Coding in the presence of adaptation Wulfram Gerstner and Richard Naud	35
A simple estimator for mutual information Maria Teresa Giraudo, Laura Sacerdote and Roberta Sirovich	37
Neural Encoding of Saccadic Stimuli in the Retina Tim Gollisch, Vidhyasankar Krishnamoorthy and Christian B. Mendl	39
Inter Neuron Nearest Spike Intervals based Method to Measure Synchrony under Low Firing Rates Aldana M. Gonzalez-Montoro, Ricardo Cao, Christel Faes and Geert Molenberghs	41
The Mechanism of Orientation Selectivity in Primary Visual Cortex without a Functional Map David Hansel and Carl van Vreeswijk	43
Genesis, dynamics and role of nested theta to gamma oscillations in an attractor network model of cortical memory Pawel Andrzej Herman, Mikael Lundqvist and Anders Lansner	45
A computational modelling approach to the problem of odour mixture segmentation Pawel Andrzej Herman, Simon Benjaminsson and Anders Lansner	47
Activity Patterns in Networks Stabilized by Background Oscillations Frank Hoppensteadt	49
Channel Capacity of a Spiking Neuron Shiro Ikeda and Jonathan H. Manton	51
Inverse Problem for Leaky Integrate-and-Fire Neuronal Models using Spike-Times Data: The sinusoidally-driven case	53

Alexandre Iolov and Andre Longtin

Can discrete Response-Stimulus Correlation distinguish Integration from Coincidence Detection? Jacob Kanev, Achilleas Koutsou and Chris Christodoulou	55
Estimating Nonstationary Inputs from Firing Rate and Non-Poisson Irregularity in a Single Spike Train Hideaki Kim and Shigeru Shinomoto	57
A model-based inference of synaptic connectivity from simulated multi-neuronal spike data Katsunori Kitano and Ryota Kobayashi	59
A Bayesian approach for estimating time-varying input signals from membrane potential of a neuron Ryota Kobayashi, Shigeru Shinomoto and Petr Lansky	61
On reliable information transmission in simple neuronal systems Lubomir Kostal and Ryota Kobayashi	63
Input synchrony estimation in the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck model through the slope of depolarisation at threshold crossing Achilleas Koutsou, Petr Lansky, Jacob Kanev and Chris Christodoulou	65
Coding efficiency and detectability of rate fluctuations with non-Poisson neuronal firing Shinsuke Koyama	67
Non-markovian spiking statistics of a neuron with delayed feedback in the presence of refraction Kseniia Kravchuk and Alexander Vidybida	69
Estimating latency in the case of inhibitory response Marie Levakova and Petr Lansky	71
Information filtering by stochastic neurons Benjamin Lindner	73
An electrophysiological study of cortico-thalamic networks in PV depleted mice Alessandra Lintas, Beat Schwaller and Alessandro E. P. Villa	75
The effect of prestimulus oscillatory dynamics on the performance of a cortical attractor network model in a simulated stimulus detection task Mikael Lundqvist, Pawel Andrzej Herman and Anders Lansner	77
Stochastic pooling networks embedded in cortical networks of excitatory and inhibitory neurons Mark D. McDonnell, Pierre-Olivier Amblard and Minh-Son To	79
Optically Mapping Electrical Activity in the Ganglion of the Leech Hyrudo Medicinalis Majid Moshtagh Khorasani, Evan W. Miller and Vincent Torre	81
A novel mechanism for sparse and reliable stimulus coding in sensory cortices Martin Paul Nawrot and Farzad Farkhooi	83

Estimation of the information pathway for a motor command generation in an insect brain based on the physiological data Ikuko Nishikawa, Yoshihiko Yamagishi, Hidetoshi Ikeno, Tomoki Kazawa, Shigehiro Namiki and Ryohei Kanzaki	n 85 1
Coding of temporally incoherent odour mixtures in the antennal lobe of honeybees <i>Thomas Nowotny, C. Giovanni Galizia and Paul Szyszka</i>	87
Discrimination of binary patterns by perceptrons with binary weights Andrey Olypher and Jean Vaillant	89
The interplay between network topology and structural synaptic plasticity in a model of cortical sequence learning Daniel E. Padilla and Mark D. McDonnell	91
Effectiveness of information transmission in the brain-like communication models Bartosz Paprocki and Janusz Szczepanski	93
Noise correlations in cortical networks Nestor Parga	95
Calcium Activated Potassium Currents Contribute to High Fat Diet Induced Inhibition of POMC Neurons of the Mouse Hypothalamus Andreas Pippow, Moritz Paehler, Simon Hess, Lars Paeger, Merly C. Vogt, Tim Klöckener, Christop Pouzat, Jens C. Brüning and Peter Kloppenburg	f 97 he
Nonparametric estimation of interspike interval distribution and its characteristics Ondrej Pokora and Lubomir Kostal	99
Fano Factor Estimation Kamil Rajdl and Petr Lansky	101
Novelty detection and jamming avoidance share common computational mechanisms in pulse gymnotiforms Alejo Rodríguez-Cattaneo, Pedro Aguilera, Ana Carolina Pereira and Ángel Ariel Caputi	1 103
Response Properties of First- and Second-Order Neurons in the Olfactory Systems of a Moth and a Frog Jean-Pierre Rospars, Philippe Lucas and Patricia Viret	105
A model of Trial-to-Trial Variability in Monkey Motor Cortex Thomas Rost, Alexa Riehle and Martin P. Nawrot	107
Dependency problems in neuronal network modeling Laura Sacerdote, Massimiliano Tamborrino and Cristina Zucca	109
Spike-triggered covariance revisited Inés Samengo and Tim Gollisch	111
Ideal observer in the stochastic interpolation model of the auditory brainstem Pavel Sanda and Petr Marsalek	113
Synchronization of stochastic neuronal networks Lutz Schimansky-Geier	115

Order patterns networks (ORPAN) – Concept and applications Stefan Schinkel, Gorka Zamora-López, Olaf Dimigen, Werner Sommer and Jürgen Kurths	117
Inferring nonstationary input activities from non-Poisson firing of a neuron Shigeru Shinomoto	119
Slope-based suprathreshold stochastic resonance in populations of phasic neurons due to intrinsic ion channel noise Brett Schmerl, Daniel E. Padilla and Mark D. McDonnell	121
Analysis of non-renewal spiking in neuron models with adaptation Tilo Schwalger	123
(Leaky) Integrate and Fire models can be coincidence detectors Roberta Sirovich, Luisa Testa, Petr Lansky and Laura Sacerdote	125
Transmission efficiency in the brain-like neuronal networks. Information and energetic aspects Janusz Szczepanski and Bartosz Paprocki	127
Identification of noisy response latency in presence of a background signal Massimiliano Tamborrino, Susanne Ditlevsen and Petr Lansky	129
Modeling the Relations between Neuronal Membrane Potentials, Ion Currents and Ion Channel Dynamics Aubin Tchaptchet, Svetlana Postnova, Martin T. Huber and Hans A. Braun	131
Understanding disordered topography of auditory cortex through natural sound statistics Hiroki Terashima and Masato Okada	133
Analysis of synaptic action in stochastic interpolation model of the auditory brainstem Peter G. Toth and Petr Marsalek	135
Very Slow Synchronization and Variability of Interspike Intervals in a Globally Coupled Neuronal Oscillators Ryotaro Tsuneki, Shinji Doi and Junko Inoue	137
Structural phase transition in the neural networks Tatyana Turova	139
Network Inference with Stochastic Hidden Units Joanna Tyrcha and John Hertz	141
Computational investigation of Glutamate-AMPA interaction in synaptic transmission Francesco Ventriglia and Vito Di Maio	143
Efficient coding beyond the retina Jonathan D. Victor, Yunguo Yu and Mary M. Conte	145
Event-related potentials associated to decision-making in emotionally-primed Ultimatum Game <i>Alessandro E. P. Villa, Alessandra Lintas, Sarah Mesrobian and Marina Fiori</i>	147

Synthetic and elemental coding of the pineapple "accord" and its components	149
Patricia Viret, Petryszyn Sarah, Michel Chaput and Barbara Ferry	
Representational capacity of neural codes in the cortex	151
Lawrence York, Jan Pieczkowski and Mark van Rossum	
Dynamics of axon fasciculation and its consequences for ephaptic coupling	153
Martin Zapotocky and Debasish Chaudhuri	
Index of Authors	155

Using the structure of inhibitory networks to unravel mechanisms of spatiotemporal patterning

Maxim Bazhenov Department of Cell Biology and Neuroscience, University of California, Riverside, USA bazhenov@salk.edu

We established a relationship between an important structural property of an inhibitory network, its colorings, and the dynamics it constrains. Using a model of the insect antennal lobe we show that our description allows the explicit identification of the groups of inhibitory interneurons that switch, during odor stimulation, between activity and quiescence. This description optimally matches the perspective of the downstream neurons looking for synchrony in ensembles of pre-synaptic cells.

On dependency properties of the ISIs generated by a two compartmental neuronal model

Elisa Benedetto Department of Mathematics "G. Peano", University of Torino Via Carlo Alberto 10, Torino, Italy elisa.benedetto@unito.it

Laura Sacerdote Department of Mathematics "G. Peano", University of Torino Via Carlo Alberto 10, Torino, Italy laura.sacerdote@unito.it

One dimensional Leaky Integrate and Fire neuronal models describe Interspike Intervals as a renewal process and disregard the geometry of the neuron. Multicompartment models account for the geometrical features of the neuron but they are too complex for their mathematical tractability. Leaky Integrate and Fire two compartment models seem a good compromise between mathematical tractability and an improved realism. Indeed they allow to relax the renewal hypothesis, typical of one dimensional models, without introducing too strong mathematical difficulties. Our aim is to enlarge the analysis of the two compartment model studied by Lansky and Rodriguez, using some specific mathematical tools together with simulation techniques. This model is one of the simplest models allowing the dependence between interspike intervals (ISIs). This fact motivates its study, as a first prototype of a model neuron of non renewal type.

Keywords: Two compartment neural model, ISI dependency properties

- [1] Benedetto, E., Sacerdote, L. and Zucca, C. (2012) *A first passage problem for a bivariate diffusion process: numerical solution with an application to neuroscience.* eprint arXiv:1204.5307
- [2] Bressloff, P.C. (1995) *Dynamics of a compartmental integrate-and-fire neuron without dendritic potential reset*. Physica D 80, pp 399–412.
- [3] Lansky, P. and Rodriguez, R. (1999) *Two-compartment stochastic model of a neuron*. Physica D 132, pp. 267–286.
- [4] Nelsen, R.B. (1999) An introduction to copulas. Springer.
- [5] Ricciardi, L.M. (1977) Lecture Notes in Biomathematics. Springer Verlag, Berlin.
- [6] Buonocore, A., Nobile, A.G. and Ricciardi, L.M. (1987) *A new integral equation for the evaluation of first-passage-time probability densities*. Adv. Appl. Prob. 19, pp. 784–800.

Modelling of Sensory Pathway of Swimming Initiation in Young Frog Tadpole Spinal Cord: a Developmental Approach

Roman Borisyuk, Kalam Abul AlAzad Plymouth University, Plymouth, PL4 8AA UK rborisyuk@plymouth.ac.uk

Alan Roberts, Steve Soffe, Deborah Conte, Edgar Buhl University of Bristol Bristol, BS8 1GU, UK A.Roberts@bristol.ac.uk

The relationship between structure and function of neuronal circuits is a challenging problem in neuroscience which has two main aspects: 1) How does a dynamical pattern of spiking activity lead to functions like cognitive behaviour? 2) What methods can identify the neuronal connections which lead to appropriate activity of a circuit?

In our previous work [1] we have developed a biologically realistic anatomical model of the tadpole spinal cord which is based on the developmental approach. The idea of this method is to analyze available experimental data on neuron anatomy, function and synaptic connections and extract their "characteristic features" which are then used for modelling. Thus, the model is able to generate an extended set of "artificial data" with the same characteristic features as the more limited experimental evidence.

The anatomical model is expanded to include both the hide brain and the spinal cord. A new model is based on three chemical gradients and some other simple rules which generate realistic neuronal axonal projection patterns for each of the neurons in the network. For each neuron type we therefore distribute cell bodies along the neuronal axis and generate axon projections using the growth model. We map the axons onto a two-dimensional nervous system and allow connections to form with a certain probability where axons cross the fixed dendrites assigned to each neuron. This gives us what we call a "connectome", a pattern of connections between all the different types of neurons [2].

To model spiking activity on the neural network, we use a conductance-based Hodgkin-Huxley type model with parameters set according to available neurophysiological measurements for each neuron type ([3]). Connections in the neuronal network are according with the connectome.

Functioning of the model is based on two main principles: 1) pacemaker activity, mutual excitation and Post-Inhibitory Rebound (PIR) in excitatory descending Inter-Neurons (dIN); 2) inhibition of activity on opposite side by the commissural Inter-Neurons (cIN). Oscillator half centres on each side of the body include both excitatory dIN and inhibitory cIN neurons.

Swimming initiation is modeled by a brief simulation of three nearby sensory neurons (RB cells) at some point on one side of the body. Although stimulation is possible at any point of the body, an excitation of sensory neurons is delivered by the network (with connections according to the connectome) to the hind brain and the rostral part of the spinal cord to excite dIN neurons at the rostral position of the spinal cord. From the rostral part, activity of dIN neurons propagates along the body (metachronal wave). Due to the inhibitory activity of the commissural cIN neurons, left and right sides of the body demonstrate anti-phase oscillations.

A remarkable result of this modelling is that the spatio-temporal pattern of spiking activity corresponds to swimming. This activity pattern is stable in some region of the parameter space. Our model is probably the first demonstration of how a biologically realistic connectome (structure) leads to a proper spatio-temporal pattern of spiking activity (function).

Keywords: connectome, spiking activity, swimming pattern

- [1] Borisyuk R, al Azad AK, Conte D, Roberts A and Soffe SR (2011) Modeling the connectome of a simple spinal cord. *Front. Neuroinform.* **5**: 20
- [2] Roberts A, Soffe SR, Buhl E, Conte D, Borisyuk R and Azad A (2012). Can simple rules control the development of central nervous networks generating behaviour in response to sensory stimulation? *Front. Behav. Neurosci. Conference Abstract: Tenth International Congress of Neuroethology*
- [3] Sautois B., Soffe S., Li W.-C., Roberts A. (2007) Role of type-specific neuron properties in a spinal cord motor network. *J Computational Neuroscience* **23**: 59–77

Determinism, Randomness and the Question of the "Free Will" – Examined from a Neural Coding Perspective

Hans A. Braun

Neurodynamics Group, Institute of Physiology and Pathophysiology, Philipps University of Marburg Deutschhausstrasse 2, D-35037 Marburg Germany

braun@staff-uni.marburg.de

http://www.uni-marburg.de/fb20/physiologie/ags/braun

The existence of a "free will" has repeatedly been questioned since ancient times. In recent years, attacks against the "free will" specifically came from neuroscience. EEG recordings [1] as well as more recent fMRI data [2], have demonstrated that action related brain activity (readiness potentials, BOLD signals) occurs up to several seconds before an individual becomes aware about his/her decision to perform the action. As neuronal mechanisms are obeying physical laws it has been proposed that all decisions are fully determined already before the individuals become aware of those, only having the "illusion" of a free will.

Whether these experimental data can really disprove the existence of a "free will" has controversially been discussed [3, 4], also with critical contributions of Libet himself [5]. Here, only the argument of determinism shall be considered, thereby specifically reminding on basic neurophysiology knowledge that, in principle, is already known since 60 years (www.cnsorg.org/hodgkin-huxley60) when Hodgkin and Huxley have published their groundbreaking work about the generation and conduction of action potentials, modeled by voltage dependent rate constants[6]. In between, it could be demonstrated in innumerous experiments that the rate constants, indeed, reflect transition probabilities between open and closed ion channel states [7]. This indicates that there exists a particular type of randomness, apparently driven by Brownian motion that is principally unavoidable as long as the temperature does not fall to absolute zero, i.e. under all life compatible conditions. This randomness (or "noise") is different from common stochasticity which may result from a manifold of unknown influences that are not under control.

Ion channel openings and closings, of course, first of all depend on physiological parameters, e.g. membrane potential or neurotransmitters and neuromodulators. Nevertheless, certain randomness always remains. An example is shown in Fig.1 relating an ion current activation curve to the underlying transitions rates of ion channel open and closing probabilities demonstrating significant fluctuations around deterministically expected steady state values. This "channel noise" of course, is becoming smaller with further increasing number of ion channels. Nevertheless, the deterministic value would only be reached with an infinitely high number of ion channels or, alternatively, after an infinitely long time. Hence, in real life there is no chance to get rid of randomness in neural coding and brain functions.

Noteworthy, even small channel noise can be dramatically blown up especially when it originates from subthreshold currents with slow activation and inactivation kinetics [8]. While the shape of an action potential is essentially determined by fast Na⁺- and K⁺-currents, the timing of action potential initiation - and fluctuations – depends on subthreshold currents, often generated by comparably few ion channels. The thereby induced variations in the temporal pattern of action potential generation lead to a principally unavoidable component also of synaptic noise. As a consequence, ion channel fluctuations can be dramatically blown up when propagated through individual neurons' action potential generation to synaptic effects in neuronal networks. At each level the direct or indirect impact of channel noise can further be enhanced by cooperative effects with the systems' inherent nonlinearities. Hence, a significant part of the well-known randomness of brain functions at all levels may be the result of principally unavoidable channel noise.

Principle unpredictability has been discussed in different contexts, specifically emphasized in physics by Heisenberg's uncertainty relation. In biology, the relations between "chance and necessity" seem to achieve a particular relevance not only for random mutations in evolution [9] but also for everyday life of neural coding. There are neurons in diverse brain nuclei (e.g. amygdala and

V = -30 p = 0.54 Mind y being a presenting of the many ten your fight
V = -30 p = 0.60
$ \begin{array}{c} V = -30 \\ p = 0.60 \end{array} $
V = -30 p = 0.38
V = -30 p = 0.49
V = -30 p = 0.60
V = -30 p = 0.56
V = -30 p = 0.44
V = -30 p = 0.48
V = -30 p = 0.56

Figure 1: Left diagram: Sigmoid curve of voltage dependent ion current activation $a = 1/(1+\exp(-s(V-Vh)(Vh = 30 \text{ mV}, s = 0.14))$ related to exponential voltage dependencies of ion channel transitions probabilities between open and closed states $p_{o,c} = x \exp(y(V - Vh))$ (per ms). that are implemented symmetrically with unit value at Vh and x = 0.1, y = (-)0.065. Right diagram: Examples of random ion channel switching over 50ms at half activation voltage Vh = 30 mV, p indicating the relative open state. With one thousand of such simulation runs (i.e. ion channels) the time course of compound current activation, plotted in the left diagram for different voltages, still shows significant fluctuations. Bars of black circles indicate the variation range of 50ms simulations runs as shown on the right.

entorhinal cortex) as well as sensory receptors (thermo- and electroreceptors [10]) that apparently take advantage of random fluctuations for their proper functioning.

In conclusion, randomness in neural coding and brain functions is principally unavoidable. This, of course, is not a proof of "free will" – but determinism, for sure, is also not a good argument against.

Keywords: ion channels, action potential, noise, chance, Hodgkin-Huxley

- Libet, B.; Wright, E.W.; Gleason, C. A. (1983) Readiness potentials preceding unrestricted spontaneous pre-planned voluntary acts. Electroencephal. and Clin. *Electroencephal. and Clin. Neurophysiology* 54: 322–325.
- [2] Soon, C.S.; Brass, M.; Heinze H.-J.; Haynes J.-D. (2008) Unconscious determinants of free decisions in the human brain. *Nature Neuroscience* 11: 543–545
- [3] Smith, K. (2011) Taking aim at free will. Nature 747: 23-25
- [4] Heisenberg, M. (2009) Is free will an illusion? Nature 459: 164-165
- [5] Libet, B. (2005) Mind Time. Suhrkamp, Frankfurt
- [6] Hodgkin, A.L. and Huxley A.F. (1952) A quantitative description of membrane current and its application to conduction and excitation in nerve, *J. Physiol.* **17**: 500–544
- [7] Hille, B. (1992) Ionic Channels of Excitable Membranes. Sinauer Associates Inc., Sunderland, Mass.
- [8] Finke C, Vollmer J, Postnova S, Braun HA (2008): Propagation effects of current and conductance noise in a model neuron with subthreshold oscillations. *Mathematical Biosciences* **214**: 109–121
- [9] Monod, J. (1974) Chance and necessity: an essay on the natural philosophy of modern biology. Fontana Press, Fontana, CA
- [10] Braun, H.A.; Wissing, H.; Schäfer, K.; Hirsch, M.C. (1994) Oscillation and noise determine signal transduction in shark multimodal sensory cells. *Nature* **367**: 270–273.

Fast learning in single synapses and behavioral learning times

Guido Bugmann Plymouth University Drake Circus, Plymouth PL4 8AA, United Kingdom gbugmann@plymouth.ac.uk www.plymouth.ac.uk/staff/gbugmann

Human can learn new facts and rules in a few seconds from a single presentation of a stimulus [1]. There is little experimental information on the speed of onset of synaptic changes in biology.

The first part of this paper estimates learning speed from synaptic depression and spine growth data, to determine how fast weight changes can actually take place. The resulting learning speed of a S-R association in a multilayer network of LIF neurons developed in [2] is then examined. This has implications on the number of synaptic relays that can practically be involved in fast learning and on the representation of sensory information.

Learning speed estimation from synaptic depression. Given that LTP requires the insertion of new AMPA receptors in the synapse, information on the speed of the process can be gained from observing the recovery from synaptic depression, although it is difficult to separate pre-synaptic vesicle replenishing effects, postsynaptic AMPAR recovery processes and diffusive contributions. Recovery is probably dominant for large synapses while diffusion and vesicle depletion dominate for small synapses [3]. When intracellular calcium concentration is increased through NMDA activation, the recovery from depression is slowed down, indicating that diffusion effects can be the limiting factor in the recovery time from depression. Thus, recovery time constants from depression represents a lower bound on the receptors influx time during learning. From data published in [3], the full synaptic conductivity is restored in approximately 100ms.

Estimation from the speed of growth of new spines. There is a good correlation between synapse area and number of AMPA receptors in a synapse [4]. Therefore, another source of information on the speed of learning is the observation of the speed of growth of spines. Several experiments have shown very fast growth of new spines in the presence of glutamate produced by uncaging. In [5], a spine can grow by 1um with an average spine head area of 0.4um2 in as little as 10 seconds. This is produced by 20 uncaging pulses produced at 2Hz. The same growth can be produced by 20 pulses at 0.5Hz, in a total time of 40 sec. The process requires NMDA activation. The independence of pulse frequency suggests that a certain amount of growth occurs for each pulse with a rate of at least 0.23um2/sec. In [4] synapses with a radius of 0.1um have no AMPAR, while those with 0.2um have a maximum number. The area difference is 0.19um2, which could be grown in just less than 1 second.

Implications for fast learning. The data presented above provide a maximum time of learning per synapse of 1 sec based on spine growth and a minimum of around 100ms corresponding to the recovery time from depression. With an input stimulus firing at around 100Hz, these boundaries allow for between 10 and 100 spikes to induce the desired synaptic weight. In a 6-layer multilayer system such as the one described in [2], we have set the learning rate so that 2, 20, 50 and 100 spikes are needed to set a weight, the learning times are found to be respectively 680 ms, 1066 ms, 1615 ms, and 2764 ms (fig. 1)

Fig 1A and 1B indicate that the learning time scales with the number of trained layers. Fig 1C shows that the total learning T time scales linearly with the number m of input spikes needed to learn one weight: T = 700 + 21m. For up to 20 spikes needed to train one synapse, the overall learning time is less than 1 second, a duration that is behaviorally realistic. However, if more spikes were needed, then one would need to reduce the number of layers to keep the learning time below 1 sec. Such a reduction would require an appropriate representation to have been pre-trained in deeper layers. It is surprising that a 50 fold decrease of the rate of synaptic weight change only causes a 2.4 fold increase of the learning time. Fig 1C reveals a basic learning-rate-independent



Figure 1: Fraction of active nodes in successive layers as learning progresses and learning time. The x-axis in A) and B) represents a duration of 2 seconds. A: Condition where the new weight is effective from the second input spike on each synapse. B: Condition where 20 spikes are needed to bring the weight to the same level. All active inputs fire Poisson spike trains at 100Hz. The weight of each synapse converges towards W_0/n where W_0 is the size of an initial pool of weight resource, e.g. extra-synaptic surface AMPAR, and n is the number of active inputs of the neuron. More details can be found in [2]. C: Learning time as a function of the number of spikes needed.

learning time, possibly linked to the stochastic arrival of the inputs, to which the weight build-up process adds a component that increases linearly with the number of spikes needed.

Keywords: Synaptic learning. Receptors mobility. AMPAR pool.

- [1] Ruge H. and Wolfensteller U. (2009) Rapid formation of pragmatic rule representation in the human-brain during instruction-based learning. *Cerebral Cortex*, 20: 1656–1667.
- [2] Bugmann G. (2012) Modelling fast stimulus-response association learning along the occipitoparieto-frontal pathway following rule instructions. *Brain Research*, vol.1434, pp. 73–89
- [3] Heine M, Groc L, Frischknecht R, Beique JC, Lounis B, Rumbaugh G, Huganir RL, Cognet L, Choquet D. (2008). Surface mobility of postsynaptic AMPARs tunes synaptic transmission. *Science* 320, 201–205.
- [4] Takumi Y, Ramirez-Leon V, Laake P, Rinvik E, Ottersen OP. (1999) Different modes of expression of AMPA and NMDA receptors in hippocampal synapses. *Nat Neurosci* 2:618–624.
- [5] Kwon HB, Sabatini BL. (2011) Glutamate induces de novo growth of functional spines in developing cortex. *Nature* 474: 100–104.

A Simple Algorithm for Simulating Firing Times predicted by a LIF Model

Aniello Buonocore, Luigia Caputo, Enrica Pirozzi Dipartimento di Matematica e Applicazioni, Università di Napoli Federico II Via Cintia, Monte S.Angelo, 80126 Napoli, Italy {aniello.buonocore,luigia.caputo,enrica.pirozzi}@unina.it

The problem of first passage time is widely known as one of the most difficult matters in the theory of stochastic processes, even if it plays a crucial role in various application contexts, i.e. in quantitative finance, in theoretical biology, in engineering, in chemistry, in epidemiology.

In the context of the firing of a single neuron the membrane potential is often described by means of a Gaussian diffusion process (IF, LIF, EIF models) whose excursion is limited above by an absorbing barrier, called firing threshold, at attainment of which there is the emission of the socalled action potential or spike. The shape of the stereotyped function describing the action potential depends on each family of neurons. Here, considerable importance is given to the determination of the distribution of the firing times, or alternatively, to the determination of its main statistical indexes.

In this specific application, the problem of the firing time of a neuron can be even more complicated than the underlying problem of the first passage time described above. In fact, even assuming that, subsequently the emission of an action potential, the membrane potential is initialized, after a fixed absolute refractory period, at a pre-assigned value, the time dependency of the deterministic stimulus may cause different conditions for next evolutions towards the threshold firing.

It may then be useful to have methods to simulate the interspike intervals (ISIs). This can be done, for example, by simulating trajectories of the membrane potential by means of numerical methods suitable for the stochastic differential equations of diffusive type (see [1] and [2]), or exploiting the underlying known Gaussian bridge distribution (see [3]). However, as the above cited authors point out, it is necessary to evaluate the probability that a spike arises within each interval of the temporal mesh before the time of the observed spike.

With this aim, in [2] the authors applied a Monte Carlo method, while in [3] via theoretical considerations an useful bound is obtained.

We now propose the application of the simulation method based on the hazard function ([4]) that for the first passage time problem represents the related instantaneous rate: the ratio between the probability density function and the survival function. For this purpose it would be known the first passage time probability density function that is, unfortunately, the unknown desired function. The method proposed by us is based on the use of the integral equation ([5], [6]), known in the literature as the singularity removed probability current equation ([7]). According the available computational facilities, one can use several methods to obtain suitable numerical approximations of the required probability density.

Taking account that the application of the method of the hazard function can also lead to the evaluation of the above density in times considerably larger than the integration step, the proposed method is particularly operative when the hazard function tends, as time increases, to a constant or a periodic function. We prove that it happens, asymptotically respect to the firing threshold, in the case of the LIF model with constant or periodic stimulus. The same result is obtained in the LIF model in which the time constant and the resting potential are substituted with appropriate time dependent functions.

Keywords: Hazard Rate Method, Gauss-Diffusion Processes, Instantaneous Firing Rate.

Bibliography

[1] Giraudo, M.T. and Sacerdote, L. (1999) An improved technique for the simulation of first passage times for diffusion processes *Communication in Statistics: simulation and computation*,

28(4): 1135–1163.

- [2] Giraudo, M.T., Sacerdote, L. and Zucca, C. (2001) A Monte Carlo Method for the Simulation of First Passage Times of Diffusion Processes *Meth. Comp. Appl. Prob.*, **3**: 215–231.
- [3] Taillefumier, T. and Magnasco, M.O. (2010) A Fast Algorithm for the First-Passage Times of Gauss-Markov Processes with H?lder Continuous Boundaries *Journal of Statistical Physics* 40(6): 1–27.
- [4] Ross, S. M. (2007) Introduction to the Probability Models. Academic Press, Elsevier.
- [5] Buonocore, A., Caputo, L., Pirozzi, E. and Ricciardi, L.M. (2011) The First Passage Time Problem for Gauss-Diffusion Processes: Algorithmic Approaches and Applications to LIF Neuronal Model *Methodology and Computing in Applied Probability* 13(1): 29–57.
- [6] Gutiérrez Jáimez, R., Román Román, P., Torres Ruiz, F. (1995) A note on the Volterra integral equation for the first passage time probability density. *J. Appl. Prob.* **32**:635–648.
- [7] Dong, Y., Mihalas, S. and Niebur, E. (2011) Improved Integral Equation Solution for the First Passage Time of Leaky Integrate-and-Fire Neurons *Neural Computation* **23**(2): 421–434.

Precise coding of interaural level differences in the auditory brainstem

Zbynek Bures College of Polytechnics Tolsteho 16, Jihlava, Czech Republic buresz@vspj.cz

Interaural level difference (ILD) is one of basic binaural clues supporting the localization of a sound source. Due to acoustic shadow cast by the head, deviation of a sound source from the medial plane results in an increased sound level at the nearer ear and a decreased sound level at the averted ear. In mammalian auditory brainstem, the ILD is evaluated by neurons in the lateral superior olive (LSO), which receive excitatory projections from the ipsilateral side and inhibitory projections from the contralateral side. As the sound level is encoded predominantly by neuronal discharge rate, the principal function of LSO neurons is to estimate the difference between discharge rates of the two inputs. Both psychophysical and neurophysiological studies in mammals have shown that the ILD is assessed with a remarkable precision, the just noticeable differences (JND) ranging from 0.5 dB to 4 dB [2]. Such a precision imposes severe requirements on precision of both sound level coding and the ILD evaluation mechanism. Employing computer simulations and signal detection theory, the current work explores the theoretical JNDs of ILD depending on various parameters of the input spike trains and the evaluation mechanism.

The afferent inputs to the LSO may be either primary-like, preserving precisely the discharge patterns in the auditory nerve, or choppers with regular rhythmic response [1]. These two types of firing were modeled by a dead-time Poisson process with shifted exponential distribution of interspike intervals (ISI), and a process with a uniform distribution of ISI, respectively. Only asynchronous firing with no phase-lock to the stimulus waveform was considered.

The temporal variability of neuronal discharge patterns may be expressed using the coefficient of variation (CV: standard deviation of ISI divided by mean ISI) or Fano factor (FF: spike count variance divided by mean spike count over some counting interval). A higher variability of firing leads to a lower precision of the rate code. Intuitively, if a repeated presentation of a given stimulus evokes each time a different spike count, then to distinguish between two different stimuli, the associated spike count change must be larger than the spike count variability.

The JND of ILD may be evaluated, e.g., by fixing the contralateral sound level and varying the ipsilateral sound level. However, as the relationship between the sound level and the corresponding discharge rates at the LSO input depends on many factors (such as auditory nerve rate-level function, RLF), the current work does not evaluate the ILD itself, but the just noticeable changes of firing rate of the excitatory LSO input. The corresponding ILDs may be estimated by considering that the slope of auditory nerve RLFs is on average 5 spikes/sec/dB [3]. In the simulations, the theoretical JNDs are evaluated using ideal subtraction of excitatory and inhibitory firing rates using a given counting window.

The results show that the JND increases nearly linearly with increasing CV of the excitatory or inhibitory input (see Fig. 1A), the distribution of ISI of the inputs does not play a role. The length of the counting window Δ strongly influences the JND. The longer the Δ , the smaller the JND, explicitly, JND = $K/\sqrt{\Delta}$, where *K* is some positive constant. An analogous dependence may be found between the JND and overall input firing rate. Given a constant CV of the inputs, the JND grows with the square root of the input rates. This leads to a paradox that to keep the JND constant, higher input rates must be accompanied by longer counting windows.

The above results hold for excitatory and inhibitory inputs each comprising a single random renewal process with given ISI distribution and CV. As multiple excitatory and inhibitory fibers may converge at an LSO cell, such situation was considered by modeling each input as a sum of multiple independent random renewal processes with identical statistics. Importantly, despite that the converging fibers are independent, JND decreases for an increasing number of fibers. Although a sum of multiple non-Poisson processes has nearly an exponential distribution of ISI, the result



Figure 1: JND depending of the excitatory CV and on number of converging fibers.

is not a renewal process and on longer time scales, it preserves the properties of the individual component processes [4]. The simulations show that in the case of a renewal process, Fano factor is proportional to the square of CV. However, if we sum up multiple processes each having CV=0.25, the resulting CV quickly approaches 1, yet the resulting FF corresponds to the CV of an individual component process (i.e., $FF \sim 0.25^2$), leading to markedly lower JNDs. Furthermore, the summary process is not renewal, hence the spike counts (and thus also the JNDs) obtained at the beginning of the process are different from those obtained during the course of the process (see Fig. 1B), which may have implications for ILD perception: JNDs of ILD may be lower when evaluated using short tone pips than when using continuous signals.

Concluded, the lowest theoretical JNDs of ILD are similar or better than the experimental values. However, the LSO cells hardly behave as an ideal detector; a certain worsening of JND is to be expected. Given that the lowest excitatory and inhibitory CVs are approx. 0.2 and 0.7, respectively [1, 3], then to attain the desired precision, the counting window should be at least 200 ms long, ca. 10 excitatory and 10 inhibitory fibers should converge at one cell, and the input firing rates should be kept low. Furthermore, spike timing must be conveyed accurately from the auditory afferents to the LSO.

Supported by projects M00176 "Elektronicko-biomedicinska kooperace" and "Podpora a individualni rozvoj perspektivnich akademickych pracovniku na VSPJ".

Keywords: Binaural interaction, Lateral superior olive, Subtraction of firing rates.

- [1] Palmer, A.R., Wallace, M.N., Arnott, R.H., Shackleton, T.M. (2003) Morphology of physiologically characterised ventral cochlear nucleus stellate cells. *Exp Brain Res*, **153**: 418–426.
- [2] Tollin, D.J., Koka, K., Tsai, J.J. (2008) Interaural level difference discrimination thresholds for single neurons in the lateral superior olive. *J Neurosci*, **28**(19): 4848–4860.
- [3] Young, E.D., Barta, P.E. (1986) Rate responses of auditory nerve fibers to tones in noise near masked threshold. *J Acoust Soc Am*, **79**(2): 426–442.
- [4] Lindner, B. (2006) Superposition of many independent spike trains is generally not a poisson process. *Phys Rev E*, **73**: 022901.

Image coding at the electrosensory lobe of pulse gymnotiforms

Ángel Ariel Caputi Neurociencias Integrativas y Computacionales Instituto de Investigaciones Biológicas Clemente Estable. Av. Italia 3318, Montevideo, Uruguay caputiangel@gmail.com www.iibce.edu.uy

Ana Carolina Pereira Neurociencias Integrativas y Computacionales Instituto de Investigaciones Biológicas Clemente Estable. Av. Italia 3318, Montevideo, Uruguay carolinapereiralarronde@gmail.com www.iibce.edu.uy

Alejo Rodríguez-Cattaneo Neurociencias Integrativas y Computacionales Instituto de Investigaciones Biológicas Clemente Estable. Av. Italia 3318, Montevideo, Uruguay carolinapereiralarronde@gmail.com www.iibce.edu.uy

Electric fish explore their environment using an electric organ discharge. The electric field is modified by the presence of nearby objects allowing the fish to identify different object attributes related to their impedance, shape, position in the electric field, size and distance. This study is focused on the early processing of electro-sensory images in the electro-sensory lobe of *Gymnotus omarorum*.

The electro-sensory lobe, the first neural relay of electro-sensory images, contains two different sensory streams: the fast and the slow electro-sensory pathways. At the electro-sensory lobe the fast electro-sensory pathway shows a single spiking onset neuron type whose intrinsic properties and role in information processing was recently disclosed [1]. The slow path shows a complex circuitry with several cell types [2]. The main output cells of the slow path are two types of pyramidal cells differentiated anatomically by the presence or absence of a basilar dendrite. While basilar pyramids are excited by the stimulus increase at the center of the receptive field, non-basilar pyramids are inhibited [3]. The firing patterns of these cells in response to changes in electro-sensory stimuli as well as the roles of this dual output of the electro-sensory lobe are still unknown in pulse gymnotiforms.

The aim of this study was to investigate the post-EOD probability pattern discharge of pyramidal neurons in the chronically implanted, freely discharging and non-anesthetized fish. We found a general pattern of discharge. There is an early silent phase, starting about 4 ms and lasting up to 12 ms after the EOD. This silent period is followed by the active phase lasting the rest of the inter-EOD interval. Different firing modalities were distinguished in the phase histogram that usually was bimodal. Histogram modes were characteristically timed and modulated up or down by local signals allowing us to classify the recorded units according to their post-EOD firing pattern and their response to the presence of conductive or non- conductive objects and global changes in their environment (tube hiding).

Keywords: electrosensory system, unitary recording in freely moving fish, pyramidal neurons

- [1] Réthelyi M, Szabo T (1973) Neuro-histological analysis of the lateral line lobe in a weakly electric fish Gymnotus carapo. *Exp Brain Res* 18: 323–339
- [2] Nogueira J, Caputi AA (2011) Timing Actions to Avoid Refractoriness: A Simple Solution for Streaming Sensory Signals. *PLoS ONE* 6(7): e22159. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0022159

[3] Bastian J (1981) Electrolocation. II. The effects of moving objects and other electrical stimuli on the activities of two categories of posterior lateral line lobe cells in Apteronotus albifrons. *J Comp Physiol A* 144:481–494

Interplay between Endogenous and Exogenous Rhythms in Recurrent Networks with Conductance-Based neurons

Stefano Cavallari¹, Alberto Mazzoni¹, Stefano Panzeri^{1,2} ¹Center for Neuroscience and Cognitive Systems@UniTn, Istituto Italiano di Tecnologia, Via Bettini 31, 38068 Rovereto (TN), Italy ²Institute of Neuroscience and Psychology, University of Glasgow, 58 Hillhead Street, Glasgow G12 8QB, United Kingdom stefano.cavallari@iit.it,alberto.mazzoni@iit.it,stefano.panzeri@iit.it

A central issue in computational neuroscience is to determine the way cortical activity originates from the interplay between external stimuli and internal dynamics [1]. This is crucial to understand how the brain combines external and internal sources of information to produce its functions. In previous works, we begun the investigation of the effect upon cortical dynamics (as measured by Local Field Potentials - LFPs) of the interplay between endogenous and exogenous rhythms by studying the dynamics of recurrent excitatory and inhibitory integrate-and-fire networks, that were stimulated with various types of dynamic external inputs arising from the thalamus [2, 3, 4]. We modelled LFPs because we focused on network-scale (rather than single cell) rhythms. These rhythms are indeed more easily measured experimentally with LFPs, which include contributions from different neural phenomena (expressing a wide range of frequencies) that are not easily captured when recording extracellularly the spiking activity of small groups of neurons. In the previous studies we found that, in agreement with experimental results [4, 5], low and high LFP frequency bands expressed by our networks conveyed independent information about simulated external stimuli with complex, natural-like temporal dynamics [2, 3]. The power of low frequency (<10 Hz) LFP oscillations carried information about the corresponding low frequency components of the simulated external input because the latter entrained the first, whereas the information carried by the power of internally generated LFP oscillations in the gamma range (50-100 Hz) was about the intensity of the simulated external input.

A limitation of our previous work was that it did not take into account the dependence of the post synaptic current (PSC) on the membrane potential of the post synaptic neuron and that it neglected certain types of sources of endogenous oscillations, such as adaptation currents that are known to enable the network to display endogenous slow LFP fluctuations, potentially leading to Up and Down states [6]. These limitations did not enable us to study the interplay between external stimuli and certain classes of internal dynamics. Here, we present results obtained with a network having the same architecture of the one studied in [2, 3], but with conductance-based neurons (in which the PSC depends on the membrane potential of the post synaptic neuron) and pyramidal cells displaying activity-dependent adaptation current.

We found that our conductance-based model was able to replicate several aspects of cortical dynamics. In particular, it could replicate well the shape of field potentials, the dependence of LFP information about visual stimuli upon the LFP frequency [5], and the cross-frequency coupling between phase of slow oscillations and power of gamma oscillations. This suggests that the hypotheses about the network mechanism generating slow (<10 Hz) and fast (50-100 Hz) information components in LFPs, that arose from our previous models [2, 3], are robust enough to hold also in the presence of more realistic conductance based synaptic dynamics.

The presence of an adaptation current [7] did not disrupt the gamma oscillation regime induced in the network by sufficiently strong stimuli. Only when the ratio of the excitatory and inhibitory input to the excitatory population was above a given threshold, the interplay between recurrent excitation and adaptation current led to the presence of a dynamics resembling the Up and Down states.

Keywords: Integrate and fire networks, Conductance based model, Local field potential oscillations

Acknowledgements: this work was supported by the Compagnia di San Paolo, and by the SI-CODE

project of the Future and Emerging Technologies (FET) programme within the Seventh Framework Programme for Research of The European Commission, under FET-Open grant number: FP7-284553.

- [1] MacLean, J.N. et al (2005) Internal dynamics determine the cortical response to thalamic stimulations. *Neuron*, 48: 811-823.
- [2] Mazzoni, A. et al (2008) Encoding of naturalistic stimuli by Local Field Potential spectra in networks of excitatory and inhibitory neurons. *PLoS Comp. Biol.*, 4(12): e1000239.
- [3] Mazzoni, A. et al (2010) Understanding the relationships between spike rate and delta/gamma frequency bands of LFPs and EEGs using a local cortical network model. *Neuroimage*, 52: 956-972.
- [4] Mazzoni, A. et al (2011) Cortical dynamics during naturalistic sensory stimulations: experiments and models. *Journal of Physiology Paris*, 105: 2–15.
- [5] Belitski, A. et al (2008) Low-frequency local field potentials and spikes in primary visual cortex convey independent visual information. *J. Neurosci.*, 28(22): 5696-5709.
- [6] Compte, A. et al (2003) Cellular and network mechanisms of slow oscillatory activity (<1 Hz) and wave propagations in a cortical network model. *J. Neurophysiol.*, 89: 2702-2725.
- [7] Parga, N. and Abbott, L.F. (2007) Network model of spontaneous activity exhibiting synchronous transitions between up and down states. *Front. Neurosci.*, 1: 57-66.

Independent components of wing kinematics in the fruit fly Drosophila

Soma Chakraborty Institute of Physiology, Academy of Sciences of Czech Republic Videnska 1083, 14220 Prague, Czech Republic chakraborty@biomed.cas.cz

Jan Bartussek Institute of Neuroinformatics, University of Zurich and ETH Zurich, Winterthurerstrasse 190, 8093 Zurich, Switzerland jan@ini.phys.ethz.ch

> Steven N. Fry SciTrackS GmbH, Lohzelgstrasse 7, 8118 Pfaffhausen, Switzerland steven.fry@scitracks.com

Martin Zapotocky Institute of Physiology, Academy of Sciences of Czech Republic, Prague, Czech Republic zapotocky@biomed.cas.cz www.biomed.cas.cz/~zapotocky/

Flies are known for their supreme flight maneuverability that is facilitated by their highly specialized flight apparatus. In the fruit fly Drosophila melanogaster, the wing motion is modulated by the activity of a group of around 18 miniscule steering muscles at the base of each wing. Our study is motivated by the hypothesis that a small number of muscle co-activation synergies gives rise to the changes in wingbeat responsible for flight maneuvers. Complementary to existing electrophysiological studies of selected muscles, our approach is to study the neuromotor control mechanism of the flight apparatus as a whole. We have developed a statistical method based on independent component analysis [1] to classify the wing motion patterns of the fruit fly during tethered flight. This method identifies components of the wing motion that are maximally statistically independent of each other; such components may be viewed as the basic neuromotor flight control modes.

Wing motion of tethered flying flies was recorded using a high speed computer vision system (TrackFast, SciTrackS.com) [2]. Angular positions of the two wings at 12 equispaced phases of the wingbeat cycle were considered as 24 separate time series and analyzed using independent component analysis (ICA). Out of the 24 least dependent components obtained from each test, only 6 to 8 were found to have a non-flat spectral density (Wiener entropy below 0.8), while the remaining components had the characteristics of broad-band noise. Thus, the wing beat variability during a segment of tethered flight is composed of only a few types of mutually independent characteristic variations.

Our present study focuses on variations that we found repeatedly in test flights of individual flies and between flies. These variations were reproduced even when only 2 phase points per wing (the dorsal and ventral reversal angles of each wing) were considered as 4 input signals for the ICA. Each test flight was analyzed in segments of 2500 wing strokes, and components represented by similar linear combinations of the four signals in distinct segments were clustered. Clusters from different test flights and from separate flies were then grouped based on the characteristic properties of the dominant variations in their elements (Fig. 1).

Three distinct groups of least dependent components were obtained. Components in the first group were dominated by sharp features at a time scale of 40 to 70 wing beat cycles and had almost no correlation (< 0.2) with wing beat period. During these events, the ventral reversal angle of one wing decreased, while that of the other wing increased (Fig. 1). Such a change corresponds to



Figure 1: Example of mutually independent wing variations. a) Time course of ICA components belonging to two distinct groups. Events 1 and 2 mark two intervals, in which variation corresponding to one of the components occurs exclusively. b) Mean wing trajectory during events 1 and 2. Dashed lines show wing trajectory averaged over 2000 cycles.

the well-known fast turning maneuvers of flies during free flight, called body saccades [3]. Components in the second group have period-correlated (> 0.45) variations at a time scale of 200 to 500 wing beat cycles (Fig. 1). These events comprised bilaterally symmetrical alterations of wing beat amplitudes, corresponding to a lift maneuver during free flight. The third group of components was obtained from the difference of dorsal reversal angles and had no identifiable characteristic time course. The first two types of variations were occasionally found to occur simultaneously and ICA resolved them as distinct components. In conclusion, our findings suggest that the muscle synergies that generate lift and saccade maneuvers operate independently from each other.

Keywords: Flight control, muscle synergy, independent component analysis.

- [1] Stögbauer, H., Kraskov A., Astakhov, S. A., and Grassberger, P. (2004) Least-dependentcomponent analysis based on mutual information. *Phys. Rev. E* **70**, 066123.
- [2] Graetzel, C. F., Fry, S. N., and Nelson, B. J. (2006) A 6000 Hz computer vision system for real-time wingbeat analysis of Drosophila. Biomedical Robotics and Biomechatronics, BioRob 2006. pp. 278-283.
- [3] Fry, S. N., Sayaman, R., and Dickinson, M. H. (2003) The aerodynamics of free-flight maneuvers in Drosophila, *Science* **300** pp. 495-498.

FM responses of midbrain auditory neurons modeled with artificial neural network based on multiple trigger features

T.R. Chang Dept. of Computer Sciences and Information Engineering, Southern Taiwan University, Tainan, Taiwan trchang@mail.stut.edu.tw

T.W. Chiu Dept. of Biological Science and Technology, National Chiao Tung University, Hsinchu, Taiwan twchiu@g2.nctu.edu.tw

Paul W.F. Poon^{*} Dept. of Physiology, Medical College, National Cheng Kung University, Tainan, Taiwan ppoon@mail.ncku.edu.tw

Frequency modulation (FM) is an important building block of complex sounds including speech signals. Mechanisms on neural processing of complex sounds remain largely unclear. Attempts have been made to predict neural responses to complex sounds using various computer models, but often without much success especially targeted at the higher levels of the auditory pathways [1, 2]. The failure is generally attributed without to 'non-linear' properties of the central circuits [3]. We had previously reported that such unsatisfactory results are partly due to the lack of knowledge on the complexity of trigger features [4]. When the trigger features are better delineated and incorporated into the model, performance would usually improve [5]. Here, we attempt to model auditory neurons with multiple trigger features. Single spike activity was first recorded from midbrain auditory neurons of anesthetized rats in response to a battery of sounds (random FM tones of different carrier frequencies and different modulation profiles). We then applied spiketrigger averaging to extract the raw trigger features which were further segregated into individual components following a scheme of 'progressive thresholding' and 'spike de-jittering' algorithms we have developed earlier [6, 7]. We then carefully grouped the peaks in peri-stimulus time histogram of the spike response to FM sound in accordance with the trigger features and simultaneously taking into account of the performance of trained artificial neural network in predicting the response. The artificial neural network is a finite impulse response artificial neural network of simple architecture (1-1-1). Separate modeling of groups of peaks was subsequently performed. Results showed that such approach of separate modeling provide satisfactory prediction of FM response to modulation envelope unknown to the trained model. Our findings are in support that trigger features are likely more important than non-linearity in successful modeling at least for some FM-sensitive neurons in the auditory midbrain.

(supported in part by research grants from National Science Council, Taiwan 101-2911-I-006-511-MY2, 100-2221-E-218-004 and NCKU Office of International Affairs)

Keywords: Frequency modulation, spectro-temporal receptive field, inferior colliculus, neural modeling.

- [1] deCharms, R.C., Blake, D.T., Merzenich, M.M. (1998) Optimizing sound features for cortical neurons. *Science* **280**: 1439–1443.
- [2] Theunissen, F.E., Sen, K., Doupe, A.J. (2000) Spectral-temporal receptive fields of nonlinear auditory neurons obtained using natural sounds. *J. Neurosci.* **20**: 2315–2331.

- [3] Ahrens, M.B., Linden, J.F., Sahani, M. (2008) Nonlinearities and contextual influences in auditory cortical responses modeled with multilinear spectrotemporal methods. J. Neurosci. 28: 1929–1942.
- [4] Chang, T.R., Poon, P.W.F., Chiu, T.W., Chung, P.C. (2010) Should neuronal spikes be given equal weighting in the generation of spectral temporal receptive field? *J. Physiol. (Paris)* **104**: 215–222.
- [5] Chang, T.R., Chiu, T.W., Sun, X., Poon, P.W.F. (2012) Modeling frequency modulated responses of midbrain auditory neurons based on trigger features and artificial neural networks. *Brain Res.* 1434: 90–101.
- [6] Chang, T.R., Chung, P.C., Chiu, T.W., Poon, P.W.F. (2005) A new method for adjusting neural response jitter in the STRF obtained by spike-trigger averaging. *Biosystems* **79**: 213–222.
- [7] Chang, T.R., Sun, X., Poon, P.W.F. (2010) Fine frequency-modulation trigger features of midbrain auditory neurons extracted by a progressive thresholding method. *Chin. J. Physiol.* 53: 430–438.

Coding of woody and fruity odorant mixtures: Interactions of odorants with olfactory receptors and receptor neurons match the perceptual dynamics

M. A. Chaput¹, F. El Mountassir², T. Thomas-Danguin², A. M. Le Bon², B. Ferry¹ and P. Viret¹

¹UMR 5292, Centre de recherche en neurosciences de Lyon, Université de Lyon, CNRS, INSERM, 50 avenue Tony Garnier, F-69366 Lyon, France chaput@olfac.univ-lyon1.f

http://crnl.univ-lyon1.fr

²Centre des Sciences du Goût et de l'Alimentation, UMR6265 CNRS, UMR1324 INRA, Université de Bourgogne, Agrosup Dijon, F-21000, Dijon, France

The present study aimed to create a direct bridge between peripheral and central responses to odorant mixtures and their components. Three experiments were performed using mixtures of fruity (isoamyl acetate, ISO) and woody (whiskey lactone, WL) odorants known to contribute to some of the major notes in Burgundy red wine. These experiments consisted of *(i)* calcium imaging of human embryonic kidney cells (HEK293T) transfected with olfactory receptors (ORs); *(ii)* single-unit electrophysiological recordings from olfactory receptor neurons (ORNs) and analyses of electro-olfactogram (EOG) responses in the rat nose in vivo; and *(iii)* psychophysical measurements of the perceived intensity of the mixtures as rated by human subjects.

The calcium imaging and electrophysiological results revealed that ISO and WL can act simultaneously on single ORs or ORNs and confirm that receptor responses to mixtures are not the result of a simple sum of the effects of the individual mixture compounds. The addition of WL to ISO principally suppressed the ORN activation induced by ISO alone and was found to enhance this activation in a subset of cases. In the human studies, the addition of high concentrations of WL to ISO decreased the perceived intensity of the ISO. In contrast, the addition of low concentrations of WL enhanced the perceived intensity of the fruity note (ISO) in this mixture, as it enhanced EOG responses in ORNs.

Thus, both OR and ORN responses to ISO+WL mixtures faithfully reflected perceptual response changes, so that the odour mixture information is set up since the peripheral stage of the olfactory system.

Keywords: Odour coding, odour mixture, olfactory receptors, olfactory receptor neurons
Patterns of single-trial auditory evoked potentials on the human temporal cortex extracted with the adaptive filter

T.W. Chiu

Dept of Biological Science and Technology, National Chiao Tung Univ, Hsinchu, Taiwan twchiu@g2.nctu.edu.tw

W. Qiu Auditory Research Laboratory, State Univ of New York, Plattsburgh, USA qiuw@plattsburgh.edu

Paul W.F. Poon* Dept of Physiology, Medical College, National Cheng Kung Univ, Tainan, Taiwan ppoon@mail.ncku.edu.tw

> Kirill Nourski Dept of Neurosurgery, Univ of Iowa, Iowa City, USA nourski@gmail.com

> Hiroyuki Oya Dept of Neurosurgery, Univ of Iowa, Iowa City, USA hiroyuki-oya@uiowa.edu

> John F. Brugge Dept of Neurosurgery, Univ of Iowa, Iowa City, USA brugge@physiology.wisc.edu

> Matthew A. Howard III Dept of Neurosurgery, Univ of Iowa, Iowa City, USA matthew-howard@uiowa.edu

Human auditory evoked potentials especially recorded intra-cranially especially over the superior temporal cortices are valuable in understanding neural coding of speech sounds. Such electrical recordings from the temporal cortex are usually obtained from consent neurosurgical patients undergoing investigatory procedures during short stays in the hospital [1]. Consequently, datasets obtained from these subjects are of limited sample size. To extract the auditory evoked responses from such small samples, the conventional ensemble averaging often fails to suppress the relatively large ongoing background EEG activity over the association auditory cortices where large inter-trial variations in response could occur, likely related to the fluctuation of attention during experiment [2]. Effective methods to extract evoked potentials especially on single-trial basis are therefore important. Here we applied the technique of adaptive filter [3] to extract the stimulus-evoked single-trial potentials at the superior temporal cortices recorded with chronically-placed surgical grid electrodes. We found that the method was able to successfully extract single-trial evoked potentials in the face of large inter-trial variations in both response amplitude and latency. Furthermore, we found an apparent gradient of inter-trial variability and response latency from dorsal to ventral, and from posterior to anterior aspects over the superior temporal cortices. This gradient appeared to be related if not extended from a similar gradient along the long axis of the nearby primary auditory field. Based on the extracted single-trial evoked response, subtle differences could be detected when two sounds sharing similar spectral property but different temporal property (e.g., fast-slow versus slow-fast FM tone) are presented in the same session. Greater differences are detected for sounds with greater spectral and temporal disparity (e.g., clicks versus AM tone). Similar findings were also observed with the gamma band responses to sounds at the same recording locations. Results are consistent with the notion that inputs to the various cortical fields could be segregated to some extent for effective processing of the complex sounds. Depending on the acoustic property of the stimulus sounds, the underlying neural processing could take place on similar or different areas of the superior temporal cortices.

Keywords: evoked potentials, adaptive filter, superior temporal cortex

- [1] Griffiths, T.D., Kumar, S., Sedley, W., Nourski, K.V., Kawasaki, H., Oya, H., Patterson, R.D., Brugge, J.F., Howard, M.A. (2010), Direct recordings of pitch responses from human auditory cortex. *Current Biol.* 20: 1128–1132.
- [2] Rauschecker, J.P., Scott, S.K. (2009), Maps and streams in the auditory cortex: nonhuman primates illuminate human speech processing. *Nature Neurosci.* **12**: 718–724
- [3] Qiu, W., Chang, C., Liu, W., Poon, P.W.F., Hu, Y., Lam, F.K., Hamernik, R.P., Wei, G., Chan, F.H.Y. (2006), Real time data-reusing adaptive learning of a radial basis function network for tracking evoked potentials. *IEEE Trans. BME.* **53**: 226–237.

Diffusion approximation of neuronal models revisited

Jakub Cupera Institute of Physiology, AS CR Videnska 1083, Prague 4, Czech Republic xcupera@math.muni.cz

Stein's neuronal model with reversal potentials (see [1]) has number of diffusion approximations, each depending on the form of random amplitude of excitatory, resp. inhibitory postsynaptic potentials (see [2, 3]). Probability distributions of the first passage time and of the steady state value of the membrane potential in the original model and its diffusion approximations are numerically compared in order to find which of the approximations is the most suitable one. Importance of the properties of the random amplitudes of postsynaptic potentials is discussed. It is shown on a simple example that quality of the approximation depends directly on them.

Keywords: Stein's model with reversal potentials, Diffusion approximation.

- [1] Tuckwell, H. C. (1979) Synaptic transmission in a model for stochastic neural activity. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, **77**: 65–81.
- [2] Hanson, F. B., Tuckwell, H. C. (1983) Diffusion approximations for neuronal activity including synaptic reversal potentials. *Journal of Theoretical Neurobiology*, **2**: 631–647.
- [3] Lansky, P., Lanska, V. (1987) Diffusion approximation of the neuronal model with synaptic reversal potentials. *Biological Cybernetics*, **56**: 19–26.

Some remarks on a spike train model of interacting neurons

Antonio Di Crescenzo Dipartimento di Matematica, Università degli Studi di Salerno Via Ponte don Melillo, I-84084 Fisciano (SA), Italy adicrescenzo@unisa.it

Maria Longobardi Dipartimento di Matematica e Applicazioni, Università di Napoli Federico II Via Cintia, I-80126 Naples, Italy maria.longobardi@unina.it

Barbara Martinucci Dipartimento di Matematica, Università degli Studi di Salerno Via Ponte don Melillo, I-84084 Fisciano (SA), Italy bmartinucci@unisa.it

Since spikes have very short duration, counting processes are commonly used as probability models of spike trains. Aiming to include the neuronal refractory period and to describe properties of spike trains, various authors follow an approach based on the assumption that the non-homogeneous Poisson process describing the number of neuronal firings has a conditional intensity function expressed as product of the *free firing rate function* and a suitable *recovery function*; see Berry and Meister (1998), Johnson and Swami (1983), Kass and Ventura (2001), Miller (1985), and, more recently, Chan and Loh (2007). Such model is based on a point process N(t), $t \ge 0$, which denotes the number of spikes of a single neural unit in the time interval [0, t], and on the following conditional intensity function:

$$\lambda(t \mid \tau_1, \tau_2, \dots, \tau_{N(t)}) = \lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \mathbb{E}[N(t + \delta) - N(t) \mid \tau_1 < \tau_2 < \dots < \tau_{N(t)}] \text{ a.s.}$$

In order to include the effect of the refractory period, the above authors proposed the Markovian model in which the conditional intensity function has the following form:

$$\lambda(t \mid \tau_1, \tau_2, \dots, \tau_{N(t)}) = \begin{cases} s(t), & \text{if } N(t) = 0, \\ s(t)r(t - \tau_{N(t)}), & \text{if } N(t) \ge 1, \end{cases}$$

where *s* and *r* are non-negative functions, *s* being known as the free firing rate function and *r* as the recovery function, and where τ_i is the *j*-th spike time.

We purpose to extend the above model to the case of a network of excitatory neuronal units, where the recovery function of the conditional intensity function of the *i*-th unit depends on the last spiking unit. A suitable choice of the recovery function allows to include the effect of the refractory period and the interactions among the neurons of the network.

In the special case of a network formed by two neurons characterized by constant free firing rate $s(t) = \lambda$, we evaluate the probability that a spike of a generic unit, occured at a generic instant, is followed by a spike of the same unit. The special form of the recovery function yields that the spiking activity of the network is described by a Poisson process with intensity λ . We finally investigate

(i) the distribution of the number of spikes that occur in [0, t] and that are followed by spikes of the same unit,

(ii) the distribution of the index of the last neuron firing in [0, t].

Keywords: Neuronal network, Free firing rate function, Recovery function.

Bibliography

 Berry, M.J. and Meister, M. (1998) Refractoriness and neural precision. J. Neurosci., 18: 2200– 2211.

- [2] Chan, H.P. and Loh, W.L. (2007) Some theoretical results on neural spike train probability models. *Ann. Stat.*, **35**: 2691–2722.
- [3] Johnson, D.H. and Swami, A. (1983) The transmission of signals by auditory-nerve fiber discharge patterns. J. Acoust. Soc. Am., 74: 493–501.
- [4] Kass, R.E. and Ventura, V. (2001) A spike-train probability model. *Neural Comput.*, **13**: 1713–1720.
- [5] Miller, M.I. (1985) Algorithms for removing recovery-related distortion from auditory nerve discharge patterns. *J. Acoust. Soc. Am.*, **77**: 1452–1464.

Firing mechanisms in the stochastic Morris-Lecar neuron model and its embedded leaky integrate-and-fire model

Susanne Ditlevsen University of Copenhagen, Denmark susanne@math.ku.dk

Stochastic leaky integrate-and-fire models are popular tools to describe the stochastic fluctuations in the neuronal membrane potential dynamics due to their simplicity and statistical tractability. They have been widely applied to gain understanding of the underlying mechanisms for spike timing in neurons, and have served as building blocks for more elaborate models. Especially the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process is popular, but also other models like the square-root model or models with a non-linear drift are sometimes applied. However, experimental data show varying time constants, state dependent noise, a graded firing threshold and time-inhomogeneous input, and higher dimensional, more biophysical models are called for.

The stochastic Morris-Lecar neuron is a two-dimensional diffusion which includes ion channel dynamics. We study the firing mechanism in the model as well as in experimental data from a spinal motoneuron, and relates it to a leaky integrate-and-fire model.

The talk is based on joint work with Patrick Jahn, Rune W. Berg, Jørn Hounsgaard and Priscilla Greenwood.

Bibliography

[1] Berg, R. W., Alaburda, A., and Hounsgaard, J. (2007). *Balanced inhibition and excitation drive spike activity in spinal half-centers, Science*, **315**, 390–393.

[2] Berg, R. W., Ditlevsen, S., and Hounsgaard, J. (2008). Intense synaptic activity enhances temporal resolution in spinal motoneurons. *PLoS ONE*, **3**, e3218.

[3] Ditlevsen, S. and Greenwood, P. (2012). The Morris-Lecar neuron model embeds a leaky integrate-and-fire model. *J. Math. Biol.* DOI: 10.1007/s00285-012-0552-7.

[4] Jahn, P., Berg, R. W., Hounsgaard, J., and Ditlevsen, S. (2011). Motoneuron membrane potentials follow a time inhomogeneous jump diffusion process. *J. Comp. Neurosci.*, **31**, 563–579.

Brain States revealed by Bispectral Analysis of Microsleep

Pierre Dutoit ^{1,2}, Vladyslav V. Shaposhnyk ², Alessandro E. P. Villa ² and Stephen Perrig ¹

¹ Sleep Laboratory, Neuropsychiatry Service, University Hospital Geneva Ch. du Petit-Bel Air 2, 1225 Chêne-Bourg Switzerland Stephen.Perrig@hcuge.ch

² Neuroheuristic Research Group, University of Lausanne Quartier Dorigny, Internef 138, 1015 Lausanne, Switzerland [pdutoit,vshaposh,avilla]@nhrg.org, http://neuroheuristic.org/

Neurology and neuropsychiatry are for long facing a great duty and challenge: Detect as early as possible pathological states, follow their evolution *with* or *without* treatment and assess the success of the latter. This means to identify and further detect specific global, regional or local brain states which further implies to develop techniques allowing to explore functional brain connectivity in the least invasive way. Scalp EEG is the least invasive electrophysiological tool whose resolution seems too low to discriminate any states but the most global like wakefulness, sleep stages etc.

This hold true when considering visual inspection and linear signal analysis. This might not be true with the use of third order cumulant analysis of the electrophysiological recordings used to measure the phase-coupled frequencies corresponding to non-linear coupling of spectral frequency components, somewhat analogous to frequencies of resonance [1, 2]. Frequency pairs corresponding to bispectra peaks different from zero were tested for bicoherence. The sum of the two frequencies in each pair defined the frequency of resonance [5]. Bispectral analysis, a non linear signal analysis method which detect interactions between pairs of signals with frequency and phase locking such as two different generators *G*1 and *G*2, generating frequencies *F*1 and *F*2, generate together a third one, called harmonic, which is the sum or difference of these two frequencies (F3 = F1 + F2 or F3 = F1 - F2) with a similar phase relationship ($\phi_3 = \phi_1 + \phi_2$ or $\phi_3 = \phi_1 - \phi_2$). These harmonic components indicate a kind of cross modulation of the *G*1 and *G*2 generators (groups of neurons).

We used bispectral analysis to assess the follow-up of cognitive-behavioral therapy of patients affected by primary insomnia [3]. This analysis was able to characterize very well sleep stages and could also be used to discriminate normal and pathological brain states, such as epilepsy [4]. The aim of the current study is to extend further the investigation of bispectral analysis for assessing sleep disorders and to reveal more basic mechanisms related to sleep neurophysiology.

We examined the EEG of 7 patients having a confirmed obstructive sleep apnea syndrome with daytime sleepiness and therefore possible microsleeps (MS) while in relaxed resting position. Microsleeps were recorded during a maintenance wakefulness test (MWT) consisting of 4 sessions of 40 min. every two hours. Patients were told to rest relaxed, without sleeping, in the comfortable arm-chair of a quiet and dark room. MS scoring was done visually according to general literature, i.e. with the complete disappearance of alpha rhythm on frontal, central and occipital derivations, and the apparition of theta rhythm. lasting at least 3 *s* and no more than 14 *s*. Patients were further divided in 2 groups for comparison: Big Microsleepers (BM) with more than 40 MS (2 patients) and Small Microsleepers (SM) with less than 20 MS (5 patients).

We analysed and compared the 10s EEG segments (AA) preceding MS onsets with the full MS (MA) segment. We also compared the 3 first seconds of MS (M1) with the 3 segments of 3 s (A1, A2, A3) immediately preceding the MS onset. In order to be reliable, bispectra must be estimated over a number of epochs greater than the number of samples of a single epoch. As we used 1s epochs with a 200 Hz sampling rate one needs at least 200 epochs to detect significant *QPCs*. As the number of

MS is to low for reliability we assume that the QPC content do not change much over a 3 epoch long segment, thus multiplying the number of epochs by three. Even with this assumption the number of epochs remains too low. By further assuming that patients share common QPC features when similarly related to MS onsets, we pooled all MSs of each group of patients as if they where issued by a single patient. This concatenation of event related data segments from subjects of a given group allow to ensure a low variance while hopefully enhancing the common features of this group.

To compare the BM synthetic subject with the SM one (the control) we compared their MS segments with each of the pre-MS in the frontal (Fr), central (Cr) and occipital (Or) regions as these later do not "compute" the same kind of information. These comparisons were made by running a Kolmogorov-Smirnov test (with p < 0.01) between distributions of the harmonic frequencies of the detected QPCs, both for auto (aF3) and cross (xF3) bispectra.

For all regions and for both aF3 and xF3, the M1 *vs.* MA and the A1 *vs.* AA comparisons showed no differences for SM and systematic differences for BM, indicating dynamic changes of the AA and MA segments in the BM subjects. Both for aF3 and xF3, SM and BM subjects did not differ at all in Or for all segments and only for A1 in Fr and Cr indicating a weak, if any, involvement of occipital region and the first pre-MS segment in all regions. The Fr-Cr comparison showed a SM-BM difference only for A3 with aF3, whereas the Cr-Or one differed for A3 and E1 only for xF3. The Fr-Or SM-BM difference exists for A1 and AA both for aF3 and xF3 with the additition of A3 for xF3. Other analysis like the IRF (index of resonnant frequencies) [3] were made to evaluate the low-high frequency relationships and structures in bispectral QPC harmonics.

In conclusion, our results indicate that Big Microsleepers represent a specific population and open a way to higher topographical and time resolution bispectral studies to better understand microsleep and other brain states.

Keywords: quadratic phase coupling, microsleep, bispectrum.

- [1] D. R. Brillinger. An introduction to polyspectra. Ann. Math. Stat., 36:1351–1374, 1965.
- [2] D. R. Brillinger and R. A. Irizarry. An investigation of the second- and higher-prder spectra of music. *Signal Processing*, 65:161–179, 1998.
- [3] S. Perrig, P. Dutoit, K. Espa-Cervena, V. Shaposhnyk, L. Pelletier, F. Berger, and A. E. P. Villa. Changes in quadratic phase coupling of EEG signals during wake and sleep in two chronic insomnia patients, before and after cognitive behavioral therapy. In B. Apolloni, S. Bassis, and C. F. Morabito, editors, *Neural Nets WIRN09*, volume 204 of *Frontiers in Artificial Intelligence and Applications*, pages 217–228. IOS Press, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2009.
- [4] A. E. P. Villa and I. V. Tetko. Cross-frequency coupling in mesiotemporal eeg recordings of epileptic patients. *J Physiol Paris*, 104(3-4):197–202, May-Sep 2010.
- [5] A. E. P. Villa, I. V. Tetko, P. Dutoit, and G. Vantini. Non-linear cortico-cortical interactions modulated by cholinergic afferences from the rat basal forebrain. *Biosystems*, 58(1-3):219–228, Oct-Dec 2000.

Coding in the presence of adaptation

Wulfram Gerstner and Richard Naud Laboratory of Computational Neuroscience, School of Computer and Communication Sciences and Brain Mind Institute, EPFL-LCN, Station 15, CH-1015 Lausanne, Switzerland wulfram.gerstner@epfl.ch

A population of adapting neurons encodes a time-dependent input in the instantaneous firing rate of the population (spike count in a small window averaged across the population), a quantity which we call 'population activity'. In this talk, I present a novel analytical expression of the population activity, show how coding and decoding is possible, and relate population activity to measured dynamics of individual neurons.

Bibliography

[1] Naud R., Gerstner W. (2012) Coding and Decoding with Adapting Neurons: A Population Approach to the Peri-Stimulus Time Histogram, *PLOS Comput. Biol.*, to appear

A simple estimator for mutual information

Maria Teresa Giraudo Department of Mathematics "G. Peano" Via Carlo Alberto 10, 10123 Italy mariateresa.giraudo@unito.it

Laura Sacerdote Department of Mathematics "G. Peano" Via Carlo Alberto 10, 10123 Italy laura.sacerdote@unito.it

Roberta Sirovich Department of Mathematics "G. Peano" Via Carlo Alberto 10, 10123 Italy roberta.sirovich@unito.it

A possible approach to study how the brain encodes information to the activity of neural populations deals with concepts from information theory. In this framework the quantity of interest is the information about a given stimulus contained in the neural response. In particular mutual information between the stimulus and the response gives a measure of the gained information about the stimulus obtained by knowing the response. It is a quantity that measures the mutual dependency of two variables taking into account both linear and non linear correlations.

From a statistical point of view the direct estimation of mutual information is difficult. Firstly, the joint stimulus–response distribution requires a prohibitive amount of data and usually any real experiment only yields a finite number of trials, see [1, 2, 3]. A different approach is the so called "binless" strategy that allows an estimation of the information without relying on response discretization into a "binary" word using bins of finite temporal precision [4, 5, 6].

We propose here a new and simple estimator for the mutual information. We rely on the equation that links the entropy of the copula (dependence structure) and the mutual information of two random variables [7]. Hence the problem is reduced to the estimation of the entropy, once the sample is suitably transformed. The properties of the new estimator are illustrated through simulative examples and performances are compared to the best estimators in the literature.

Keywords: Information Theory, Mutual Information, Estimation.

- [1] Paninski, L. (2003) Estimation of Entropy and Mutual Information *Neural Computation*, **15**: 1191Đ1253.
- [2] Nemenman, I., Bialek, W. and de Ruyter van Steveninck, R. (2004) Entropy and information in neural spike trains: Progress on the sampling problem *Physical Review E*, **69**: 056111.
- [3] Panzeri, S., Senatore, R., Montemurro, M. A. and Petersen, R. S. (2007) Correcting for the Sampling Bias Problem in Spike Train Information Measures *Journal of Neurophysiology*, **98**: 1064-1072.
- [4] Kozachenko, L. and Leonenko, N. (1987) Sample estimate of the entropy of a random vector *Problems in Information Transmission*, **23**: 95Đ101.
- [5] Victor, J. D. (2002) Binless strategies for estimation of information from neural data *Physical Review E*, **66**: 051903.

- [6] Kraskov, A., Stogbauer, H. and Grassberger, P. (2004) Estimating mutual information *Physical Review E*, **69**: 66138Đ66116.
- [7] Jenison, R. L. and Reale, R. A. (2004) The Shape of Neural Dependence *Neural Computation*, **16**: 665Đ672.

Neural Encoding of Saccadic Stimuli in the Retina

Tim Gollisch Georg-August University and Bernstein Center for Computational Neuroscience Göttingen 37073 Göttingen, Germany tim.gollisch@med.uni-goettingen.de www.retina.uni-goettingen.de

Vidhyasankar Krishnamoorthy Georg-August University and Bernstein Center for Computational Neuroscience Göttingen 37073 Göttingen, Germany vidhyasankar.krishnamoorthy@med.uni-goettingen.de www.retina.uni-goettingen.de

> Christian B. Mendl Center for Mathematics, Technical University Munich 85747 Garching, Germany christian_mendl@hotmail.com

Natural vision is structured into brief episodes of fixation, separated by rapid gaze shifts, called *saccades*. Nearly all animals with a sense of vision perform such saccades, either by movements of the eyes or of the head and body [1]. The saccadic nature of vision provides a strong spatio-temporal structure to visual stimuli that impinge on the retina: brief presentations of nearly stationary images are separated by rapid global motion signals. Under laboratory conditions, however, visual systems are often studied with stationary stimulation or simple light flashes.

In the retina, the global motion signal that occurs during a saccade has been shown to cause bursts of activity in some neurons [2] while suppressing activity in others [3]. Moreover, the beginning of a new fixation after a saccadic motion is often marked by bursts of activity that are particularly informative about the newly fixated image [4]. Yet, little is known about how neurons in the retina encode specific stimulus features in the presence of saccades.

To better understand the neural code of the retina under saccadic stimulus presentation, we performed extracellular recordings of spiking activity in isolated retinas of salamander and mouse. We used multi-electrode arrays to record spikes of retinal ganglion cells while stimulating the retina with images that were projected onto the photoreceptor layer and shifted in a saccade-like fashion. Specifically, we asked how the observed spiking responses depended on the image prior to the saccade, on the image after the saccade, and on the transition between the fixated images.

For both salamander and mouse, we found that many of the encountered cells defy the picture of simple stimulus filters that is commonly used to describe the function of retinal ganglion cells, based on investigations with simplistic or stationary visual stimuli. Instead, a large fraction of cells show highly nonlinear response properties. Furthermore, they encode the transition from the image prior to the saccade to the new image rather than the new image by itself. In the salamander retina, we found many cells that transfer information about the image transition in a precise spike-timing code, similar to previous observations for flashed images [5]. By systematically varying the saccade characteristics, we were able to disentangle the contributions of the new image, the previous image, and the motion trajectory to the generation of the response.

For mouse retina, we found a more diverse picture of response patterns and classified these into several distinct types. While some cells responded primarily to the spatial structure of the newly fixated image, other response types could be characterized as detectors of change or similarity in fixated images across the saccadic transition. These response types have an intrinsically nonlinear nature and cannot be captured by standard receptive field models. Rather, the findings suggest that

the saccadic image presentation triggers specific circuit elements that provide different cell types with characteristic response features of potentially high behavioral relevance.

Keywords: retina, saccade, neural code.

- [1] Land, M.F. (1999) Motion and vision: why animals move their eyes. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A*, **185**: 341–352.
- [2] Noda, H. and Adey, W.R. (1974) Retinal ganglion cells of the cat transfer information on saccadic eye movement and quick target motion. *Brain Research*, **70**: 340–345.
- [3] Roska, B. and Werblin, F. (2003) Rapid global shifts in natural scenes block spiking in specific ganglion cell types. *Nature Neuroscience*, **70**: 600–608.
- [4] Segev, R., Schneidman E., Goodhouse, J., and Berry, M.J. II (2007) Role of eye movements in the retinal code for a size discrimination task. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, **98**: 1380–1391.
- [5] Gollisch, T. and Meister M. (2008) Rapid neural coding in the retina with relative spike latencies. *Science*, **319**: 1108–1111.

Inter Neuron Nearest Spike Intervals based Method to Measure Synchrony under Low Firing Rates

Aldana M. González-Montoro^{1,*}, Ricardo Cao¹, Christel Faes² and Geert Molenberghs²

 ¹ Department of Mathematics, Facultad de Informática, Universidade da Coruña, Campus de Elviña s/n, 15071 A Coruña, Spain.
 ² Interuniversity Institute for Biostatistics and statistical Bioinformatics, Universiteit Hasselt and Katholieke Universiteit Leuven, Diepenbeek, Belgium.

*agonzalezmo@udc.es

A common interest in electrophysiological studies is synchrony among neurons under several conditions, such as different kinds of stimuli. In this work we present a synchrony measure that can be easily adapted to different firing rates scenarios. Usually, synchrony measures are based on 1-1 matches along binned trains [3][4][2]. Our method is based on the time elapsed between spikes of the different trains, thus no binning is required. This method is flexible enough to work in low firing rate scenarios such as spontaneous activity. In some experimental settings, getting many recordings of one group of neurons is very difficult or impossible. The proposed method can be used to measure the synchrony with small amounts of trials. We discuss tests to determine (1) whether the synchrony observed is due only to chance and (2) whether there exist differences in synchrony between experimental conditions.

Consider two neuronal recordings described by the counting processes $\{N_i(t), t \in [0, \infty)\}$ for neurons i = 1, 2 and let $X_{ij}, j = 1, ..., J_i$ be the time points where neurons fire. Define de Inter Neuronal Nearest Spike Intervals (INNSI) as the time that elapses between the spikes of one neuron and the closest spike of the other neuron. Let n_{δ} be the frequency of INNSI smaller or equal to δ , where δ can be chosen by the researcher according to the problem. Let \bar{n}_{δ} be the frequency of the INNSI that are larger than δ . We define the INNSI-based Synchrony Estimator (ISE) as:

$$ISE = \frac{n_{\delta}}{n_{\delta} + 2\bar{n}_{\delta}}$$

This is just the proportion of INNSI that are smaller than δ in the total amount of INNSI, giving double weight to the ones that are greater than δ .

The ISE can be assumed to be time dependent by applying the function on sliding windows. At time t, spiking activity in a window of length 2v is used. Controlling v, low firing rate is outweighed by the use of neighborhood activity in the estimation of n_{δ} at time t: $n_{\delta}(t, v)$.

We propose the use of binomial Generalized Additive Models (GAM) [5]. Since the ISE estimator can be regarded as the success probability for an event INNSI < δ , the ISE measure can be estimated via the use of a Binomial process, $n_{\delta} \approx \text{Binomial}(n, \pi_{\delta})$. An autoregressive term in the parametric part is suggested to account for dependence between responses at consecutive time points. Time should be considered as a covariate in the smooth terms together with any other covariates under study.

To make sure that the proposed synchrony measure is not driven by firing in proximity just by chance, we compare the method with the theoretical synchrony expected under independence of spike trains. Also, a bootstrap procedure is proposed to build confidence bands for the predictions of the GAM model. These confidence bands can be used to test different hypothesis [8].

The data used to exemplify the use of ISE was provided by the NEUROcom Group of the Universidade da Coruña. The spike trains were recorded simultaneously in the primary visual cortex of an anesthetized cat. Recordings were made under spontaneous activity and two types of electrical stimulations were carried out. These stimulations were made in two areas of the brain that module the wake-sleep cycle: the brainstem (bs) and the forebrain (bf) [7][1][6]. When stimulating these areas, a wake-like state is induced and then the sleep-like state is gradually recovered. We study synchrony of a pair of spike trains under the two stimulation conditions. Firing rates are very low through out the experiment and only three trials of each condition are available.

The best GAM was selected using the AIC criterion and was used to build confidence bands and test the following hypothesis:

- H_0^1 : $\pi_{\delta}^A(t) = \pi_{\delta}^0$ for every *t* after the condition onset. Here, π_{δ}^0 represents the baseline synchrony before the stimulus. A similar hypothesis can be formulated for condition B.
- H_0^2 : $\pi_{\delta}(t) = \pi_0$, where π_0 stands for random synchrony.
- H_0^3 : $\pi_{\delta}^A(t) = \pi_{\delta}^B(t)$. With this test we aim to detect differences in the synchrony profile induced by the experimental conditions.

Results show significant differences between baseline synchrony and under stimuli (H_0^1) . Regarding H_0^2 we found that encountered synchrony is almost all the time higher to that theoretically expected under independence. Finally, differences between synchrony under the different conditions are found significant after stimulation while they are not so before stimulation.

Keywords: bootstrap, generalized additive models, spike train, synchrony.

- Bazhenov, M., Timofeev, I., Steriade, M. and Sejnowski, T. (2002). Model of thalamocortical slow-wave sleep oscillations and transitions to activated states. *The Journal of Neuroscience* 22: 8691–8704.
- [2] Faes C., Geys H., Molenberghs G., Aerts M., Cadarso-Suarez C., Acuña C., Cano M. (2008). A flexible method to measure synchrony in neuronal firing. *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 103: 149–161.
- [3] Grün, S. (1996). Unitary Joint-Events in Multiple-Neuron Spiking Activity: Detection, Significance, and Interpretation. Reihe Physik, Band 60. Verlag Harri Deutsch.
- [4] Grün, S., Diesmann, M. and Aertsen, A. (2002). Unitary Events in Multiple Single-Neuron Spiking Activity: I. Detection and Significance. *Neural Computation* **14**: 43–80.
- [5] Hastie, T. and Tibshirani, R. (1990) Generalized Additive Models.
- [6] Mariño, J. and Cudeiro, J. (2003). Nitric Oxide-Mediated Cortical Activation: A Diffuse Wake-Up System. *The Journal of Neuroscience* 23: 4299–4307.
- [7] Steriade, M. (1994). Sleep oscillations and their blockage by activating systems. *Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience* **19**: 354–358.
- [8] Wood, S. (2006) Generalized Additive Models: An Introduction with R. Chapman and Hall.

The Mechanism of Orientation Selectivity in Primary Visual Cortex without a Functional Map

David Hansel and Carl van Vreeswijk Laboratory of Neurophysics and Physiology Paris Descartes University and CNRS, 45 Rue des Saints-Peres, 75270, Paris, France david.hansel@parisdescartes.fr http://www.neurophys.biomedicale.univ-paris5.fr

Most neurons in primary visual cortex (V1) have an orientation selective response. This is true for animals such as cats and primates, in which V1 has an orientation map [1], as well as for animals without such a map, e.g. rodents [2]. The mechanism for orientation selectivity (OS) remains a matter of debate. Whether selectivity is primarily due to feedforward connectivity or to recurrent interactions has not been settled. If the mechanism is primarily feedforward, the presence or absence of an orientation map hardly matters, but if recurrent interactions are important the spatial organization of preferred orientations could affect the mechanism. Theoretical studies of OS have, up to now, focused on models of V1 with orientation map. The proposed recurrent mechanisms rely on the fact that, with a map, neurons mostly receive recurrent connections from cells with similar preferred orientations [3].

The connectivity in V1 without map is hotly debated [5]. Unclear is whether connections depend on the difference in stimulus feature preferences. With such a preference, the distributions of orientations of cells projecting to a neuron would be similar to that in cortices with a map and the same mechanism could operate. In contrast, when connectivity is independent of difference in preferred orientation, this distribution is flat. How can orientation tuning arise in this case? Here we argue that OS arises naturally in V1 without feature dependent connectivity if it operates in the balanced regime. To this end, we consider a network consists of an excitatory and an inhibitory population of randomly connected neurons with, on average, K recurrent inputs from each population. The strengths of the recurrent connections are of order $1/\sqrt{K}$. Neurons also receive a feedforward input, with an untuned part of order \sqrt{K} and a random orientation dependent part of order 1. Feedforward input, total excitatory and total inhibitory feedback are all much larger than the rheobase. Nevertheless neurons fire at a reasonable rate because the net feedback approximately cancels the feedforward input. Because of the connectivity, the total excitatory and inhibitory feedback are almost untuned. As a result, the untuned part of the feedforward input is approximately canceled by the feedback, but its much smaller tuned part is not. This results in an output of the cells with significant orientation tuning. The heterogeneity in tuning curves is large. Our study predicts that the average voltage of the neurons, relative to rest, shows clear orientation tuning, but the size of the voltage fluctuations are orientation independent.

Recent experiments have investigated the effect of manipulating the activity of subsets of GABAergic interneurons on the response of primary visual cortex (V1) of mice. Atallah et al [7] optogenetically suppressed or stimulated parvalbumin expressing (PV) interneurons. For physiologically reasonable changes of the PV activity, the amplitude of the Pyramidal (Pyr) cells response was modulated by a factor 0.7–1.2, upon visual stimulation. Yet, both the orientation tuning and the shape of the contrast response function were largely unaffected. It was also shown that manipulating the PV cell activity modifies the inhibitory synaptic input into the Pyr cells, but does not significantly change their excitatory input upon visual stimulation. What do the recent optogenetic experiments tell us about the V1 network? The fact that manipulating the PV input affects the Pyr activity, but hardly changes the excitatory input into these cells, implies that the recurrent excitation is weak. We show that this increases the selectivity of the Pyr cells. Because the E-E connections are weak, for the input into the Pyr neurons to be balanced, their recurrent inhibition just cancels the feedforward excitation. Thus, if the network consisting only of Pyr and PV neurons, it responds to changes in the external input into PV cells by changing the Pyr activity in such a way that E to I input must just cancels the extra feedforward input into the PV cells, leaving the PV firing rate unaffected. Hence,

to account for the effect of optical stimulation on the PV activity the presence of a second inhibitory population is essential. With two inhibitory populations in the model we can account for the experiments. Activation/suppression of the PV activity leads to a multiplicative increase/decrease in the response of the Pyr neurons. Furthermore, as in the experiments, this change in the gain of the Pyr neurons leaves their tuning properties unaffected. Finally we argue that the second inhibitory population can be identified with the somatostatin expressing interneurons. Indeed, we show that this population is more sharply tuned than the PV cells.

Very recently, Chen et al. [6] measured calcium signals in spines on pyramidal neurons in layer 2/3 of the mouse auditory cortex. They found that inputs to neighboring spines are tuned to sound with very different preferred frequencies. Nevertheless, the responses of the neurons are sharply selective to frequency. The ideas developed in this work can readily be extended to explain strong selectivity in primary auditory cortex or indeed other sensory cortices.

Part of this work has been published in [8].

Keywords: Neuronal networks, balanced state, interneurons.

- [1] Blasdel, G. G. and Salama, G. (1986) Voltage-sensitive dyes reveal a modular organization in monkey striate cortex, *Nature*, **321**: 579-585.
- [2] Ohki, K. and Reid, R.C., (2007) Specificity and randomness in the visual cortex, *Curr. Opin. in Neurobiol.*, **17**: 401–407; Niell, C.M. and Stryker, M.P. (2008) Highly Selective Receptive Field in Mouse Visual Cortex, *J. Neurosci.*, **28**: 7520–7536.
- [3] Ben-Yishai, R., Lev Bar-Or, R. and Sompolinsky, H. (1995) Theory of orientation tuning in visual cortex, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A*, **92**: 3844–3848; Ferster, D. and Miller, K. D. (2000) Neural mechanisms of orientation selectivity in the visual cortex, *Ann. Rev. Neurosci.*, **4**: 441–471; McLaughlin, D., Shapley, R., Shelley, M. and Wielaard, D.J., (2000), A neuronal network model of macaque primary visual cortex V1 orientation selectivity and dynamics in the input layer 4Cα, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A*, **97**: 8087–8092.
- [5] Ko, H., Hofer, S. B., Buchanan, K. A., Sjöström, P. J. and Mrsic-Flogel, T. D. Functional specificity of local synaptic connections in necortical networks, (2011) *Nature*, 473:87–91; Jia, H., Rochefort, N. L., Chen, X. and Konnerth, A. (2010) Dendritic organization of sensory input to cortical neurons in vivo. *Nature*, 464: 1307–1312; Hofer, S. B., Ko, H., Pichler, B., Vogelstein, J., Ros, H., Zeng, H., Lein, E., Lesica, N. A. and Mrsic-Flogel, T. D. (2011) Differential connectivity and response dynamics of excitatory and inhibitory neurons in visual cortex, *Nat. Neurosci.*, 14: 1045–1052.
- [6] Chen, X., Leischner, U., Rochefort, N. L., Nelken, I. and Konnerth, A (2011) Functional mapping of single spines in cortical neurons in vivo, *Nature*, **475**: 501–505.
- [7] Atallah, B.V., Bruns, W., Carandini, M. and Scanziani, M. (2012) Parvalbumin-Expressing Interneurons Linearly Transform Cortical Responses to Visual Stimuli, *Neuron* **73**: 159–170.
- [8] Hansel, D. and van Vreeswijk, C. (2012) The Mechanism of Orientation Selectivity in Primary Visual Cortex without a Functional Map, *Journal of Neuroscience* **32**:4049-64

Genesis, dynamics and role of nested theta to gamma oscillations in an attractor network model of cortical memory

Pawel Andrzej Herman^{1,2}, Mikael Lundqvist^{1,2}, Anders Lansner^{1,2}

¹Department of Computational Biology, Royal Institute of Technology (KTH), Stockholm, Sweden ²Numerical Analysis and Computer Science, Stockholm University (SU), Stockholm, Sweden paherman@kth.se,lundqvis@csc.kth.se,ala@csc.kth.se

Oscillations constitute an ubiquitous aspect of neural dynamics. Their cognitive as well as behavioural correlates have been extensively studied at different levels of brain organisation. Numerous reports discuss the relevance of these rhythms in the context of working memory tasks (for review, see Klimesch, 1996; Benchenane et al., 2011), perceptual processes (e.g. Tallon-Baudry, 2009; Romei et al., 2010), attentional modulation (for review, see Benchenane et al., 2011) and early sensory processing (for review, see Koepsell et al., 2010). Despite extensive research effort, the understanding of the origins and mechanisms underlying these cognitive correlates of theta to gamma oscillations is limited.

In our attempt to study functional aspects of the cortical oscillatory activity, a computational modelling approach was adopted to examine a hypothesis that memories, either evoked by external stimuli or activated as a result of internal processing, are manifested as distributed cell assemblies oscillating at gamma-like frequencies with lifetimes within a theta scale. To this end we continued to investigate a meso-scale attractor network model (Lundqvist et al., 2006) allowing for the examination of oscillatory phenomena as an emergent feature of neuronal activity and, most importantly, as a correlate of the network's functional states in simulations of two memory paradigms: stimulus-triggered memory recall and multi-item working memory maintenance by periodic replay (cf. Fuentemilla et al., 2010). This biophysically detailed cortical model of cortical layer 2/3, operating in bistable mode, has previously been shown to faithfully reproduce single cell firing statistics (Lundqvist et al., 2010) and qualitative effects of modulation of the synchronous population activity in working memory as well as long-term memory tasks (Lundqvist et al., 2011). The focus here was on investigating spatially dependent coherence within distinct frequency components of the synthesised local field potentials as well as cross-frequency interactions, specifically nested oscillations. The nesting phenomenon has been mainly reported as coupling between the amplitude of gamma and the phase of theta rhythm in experimental work on sensory and memory systems (Chrobak and Buzsaki, 1998; Lakatos et al., 2005; Tort et al., 2008). In the model, the same nested hierarchy of gamma (25-35 Hz) and theta (2-5 Hz) rhythms was shown to arise during activation of memory patterns (coding attractor state) in the two simulated paradigms. Additionally, 10-Hz alpha rhythm emerged as part of this nested hierarchy when memory retrieval was triggered by a stimulus. The activity in the gamma band was associated with selective activation of local neural subpopulations and the 10-Hz rhythm appeared due to heterogeneity of excitability within these subpopulations. Theta was correlated with coordinated activation of more globally distributed assemblies consisting of several such local subpopulations. The network also exhibited idling activity manifested as an upper alpha/lower beta rhythm (15-25 Hz) in the absence of nested oscillations during a non-coding state, thus reflecting the readiness to process input.

In conclusion, the model was demonstrated to be consistent with the concept that gamma oscillations are a manifestation of local computations while theta oscillations reflect the activation of global, distributed assemblies. We hypothesise that the dynamics of coherent theta constitute an important aspect of the formation and replay of the encoded memory items. Finally, it should be mentioned that this computational study has been, to the best of our knowledge, the first attempt to explore the rich oscillatory dynamics with spatial aspects of coherence and synchronisation patterns, and cross-frequency effects emerging in a biophysically detailed model with strong commitment to functionality.

Bibliography

Benchenane, K., Tiesinga P.H., and Battaglia, F.P. (2011) Oscillations in the prefrontal cortex: a gateway to memory and attention. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 21, 475–485.

Chrobak, J.J., and Buzsaki, G. (1998) Gamma Oscillations in the Entorhinal Cortex of the Freely Behaving Rat. *J. Neurosci.* 18, 388–398.

Fuentemilla, L., Penny, W.D., Cashdollar, N., Bunzeck, N., and Düzel, E. (2010). Theta-coupled periodic replay in working memory. *Curr Biol.* 20, 606–612.

Klimesch, W. (1996) Memory processes, brain oscillations and EEG synchronization. *Int. J. Psychophys.* 24, 61–100.

Koepsell, K., Wang, X., Hirsch, J.A., and Sommer, F.T. (2010) Exploring the function of neural oscillations in early sensory systems. *Front. Neurosci.* 4, 53.

Lakatos, P., Shah, A.S., Knuth, K.H., Ulbert, I., Karmos, G., and Schroeder, C.E. (2005) An Oscillatory Hierarchy Controlling Neuronal Excitability and Stimulus processing in Auditory Cortex. *J. Neurophysiol.* 94, 1904–1911.

Lundqvist, M., Compte, A., and Lansner, A. (2010) Bistable, Irregular Firing and Population Oscillations in a Modular Attractor Memory Network. *PLoS Comput. Biol.* 6, e1000803.

Lundqvist, M., Herman, P., and Lansner, A. (2011) Theta and gamma power increases and alpha/beta power decreases with memory load in an attractor network model. *J. Cogn. Neurosci.* 10, 3008-3020.

Lundqvist, M., Rehn, M., Djurfeldt, M., and Lansner, A. (2006) Attractor dynamics in a modular network model of neocortex. *Network* 17, 253–276.

Romei, W., Gross, J., and Thut, G. (2010) On the Role of Prestimulus Alpha Rhythms over Occipito-Parietal Areas in Visual Input Regulation: Correlation or Causation? *J. Neurosci.* 30, 8692–8697.

Tallon-Baudry, C. (2009) The roles of gamma-band oscillatory synchrony in human visual cognition. *Front. Biosci.* 14, 321–332.

Tort, A.B., Kramer, M.A., Thorn, C., Gibson, D.J., Kubota, Y., Graybiel, A.M., and Kopell, N.J. (2008) Dynamic cross-frequency couplings of local field potential oscillations in rat striatum and hippocampus during performance of a T-maze task. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 105, 20517–20522.

A computational modelling approach to the problem of odour mixture segmentation

Pawel Andrzej Herman^{1,2}, Simon Benjaminsson¹, Anders Lansner^{1,2}

¹Department of Computational Biology, Royal Institute of Technology (KTH), Stockholm, Sweden ²Numerical Analysis and Computer Science, Stockholm University (SU), Stockholm, Sweden paherman@kth.se,simonbe@csc.kth.se,ala@csc.kth.se

Odorants in natural environments are dominated by multi-ligand mixtures and their blends, many of which are composed of a large and complex variety of chemical components. Some of the most challenging directions in the olfactory research to date have involved the problem of coding, processing and, ultimately, perception of odour mixtures in the olfactory systems. Despite intensive investigations pursued at a wide range of levels ranging from molecular, electrophysiological to psychophysical and psychological, there is still a plethora of open questions and debatable hypotheses. We adopt a different approach to studying the mammalian olfactory system and attempt to understand general principles of olfactory information processing by constructing a large-scale computational model. The key objective of this contribution was to propose a neural mechanism underlying cortical segmentation of odour mixtures and study its functional implications.

Since we treated the system holistically, besides the olfactory cortex (OC) our model encompassed the first and the second stages of mammalian early olfactory processing. Olfactory stimuli patterns, both single- and multi-ligand odour objects, were synthesised and their processing in the olfactory epithelium (OE) was simulated in the form of activations of olfactory receptor neurons (ORNs), modelled as graded units with sigmoidal response characteristics (Rospars et al., 2000). To ensure a satisfactory level of biological plausibility of the model, the distribution of ligand-olfactory receptor (OR) affinities was generated to account for key statistical features of widely reported olfactory response patterns to naturalistic odour stimuli (e.g., Hallem and Carlson, 2006; Yoshida and Mori, 2007). The process of mixing odour molecules modelled at the OR level complied with one of the most predominant hypoadditive syntopic interaction type (Rospars et al., 2008). The resulting static rate-based codes were then processed in the reduced model of the olfactory bulb (OB). OB computations were performed within the modular structure of glomerular columns and the transformation of the primary to the secondary odour representation followed a novel interval concentration coding scheme (Sandström et al., 2009). Self-organization of the feedforward connectivity from the OB to the OC based on statistical properties of synthetic olfactory stimuli with the support of synaptic plasticity provided the capacity for generating sparse and distributed cortical representations (Benjaminsson et al., 2010). The OC model, which handled odour recognition functionality lying at the heart of this study, was implemented in the framework of an associative attractor network with modular architecture and sparse recurrent connections trained with Hebbian plasticity. The proposed odour mixture segmentation mechanism was based on the neural adaptation phenomena at the level of cortical units.

The network was first trained to perform concentration invariant identification of single-ligand odours. A range of different training scenarios were implemented to mimic various psychophysical experimental conditions. In the evaluation stage the olfactory system model was exposed to mixtures of two up to five ligands and the segmentation performance was analysed analogously to classical behavioural studies (Laing and Francis, 1989; Livermore and Laing, 1998). In consequence, we managed to reproduce some qualitative psychophysical effects reported in the context of olfactory perceptual learning (Wilson and Stevenson, 2003), e.g. impeded segmentation capability at low concentrations (Duchamp-Viret et al., 1990), correlation between a so-called glomerular overlap and mixture perception (Frederick et al., 2009) or a profile of the performance drop with an increasing number of odour components (Laing and Francis, 1989) among others. In a broader perspective, the results obtained in this computational study pave the way for a discussion on mechanistic origins of a wide range of perceptual phenomena observed in mixture segmentation. Finally, it should be emphasised that the holistic modelling approach adopted here facilitated insights into the impact

of early olfactory coding, stimulus representations and the system dimensionality on the odour recognition performance.

Bibliography

Benjaminsson, S., Fransson, P., and Lansner, A. (2010) A novel model-free data analysis technique based on clustering in a mutual information space: application to resting-state fMRI. *Front Syst Neurosci.* 4, 1–8.

Duchamp-Viret, P., Duchamp, A., and Sicard, G. (1990). Olfactory discrimination over a wide concentration range. Comparison of receptor cell and bulb neuron abilities. *Brain Res.* 517, 256–262.

Frederick, D.E., Barlas L, Ievins A., and Kay, LM. (2009) A critical test of the overlap hypothesis for odor mixture perception. *Behav Neurosci.* 123, 430–437.

Hallem, E.A., and Carlson, J.R. (2006) Coding of Odors by a Receptor Repertoire. *Cell* 125, 143–160.

Laing, D., and Francis, G. (1989). The capacity of humans to identify s in mixtures. *Phys & Behav.* 46, 809–814.

Livermore, A., and Laing, D.G. (1998) The influence of chemical complexity on the perception of multicomponent odor mixtures. *Percept Psychophys.* 60, 650–661.

Rospars, J.-P., Lansky P., Chaput, M., Duchamp-Viret, P., and Duchamp, A. (2008). Competitive and Noncompetitive Odorant Interactions in the Early Neural Coding of Odorant Mixtures. J Neurosci. 28, 2659-2666.

Rospars, J.-P., Lansky, P., Duchamp-Viret, P., Duchamp, A. (2000). Spiking frequency versus odourant concentration in olfactory receptor neurons. *Biosystems* 58, 133–141.

Sandström, M., Proschinger, T. and Lansner, A. (2009) A bulb model implementing fuzzy coding of odor concentration. In *Proc. of the 13th International Symposium on Olfaction and Electronic Nose* 1137, 159–162.

Yoshida, I., and Mori, K. (2007) Odorant category profile selectivity of olfactory cortex neurons. J *Neurosci.* 27, 9105–9114.

Wilson, D.A., and Stevenson, R.J. (2003) Olfactory perceptual learning: the critical role of memory in odor discrimination. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 27, 307–328.

Activity Patterns in Networks Stabilized by Background Oscillations

Frank Hoppensteadt Courant Institute of Mathematical Sciences, New York University, New York, USA fh21@nyu.edu

There are many background oscillations in a brain, in particular those having frequencies in the theta and gamma bands. An interesting question is what these background oscillations might enable an array of neurons to do. To investigate this question, we consider the same question for an array of oscillators, each of which is based on a heuristic for the Hodgkin-Huxley system. The array is initialized in some configuration of states, which is referred to here as being an image. We show that the background oscillations may provide energy to stabilize the initial image, and it will persist until a new image is presented to the array or until the background oscillation is removed or its frequency content is changed. A computer simulation of this phenomenon is presented.

Channel Capacity of a Spiking Neuron

Shiro Ikeda¹ The Institute of Statistical Mathematics Tachikawa, 190-8562 Japan shiro@ism.ac.jp

> Jonathan H. Manton The University of Melbourne Victoria 3010, Australia jmanton@unimelb.edu.au

In order to understand the information processing in the brain, the information channel capacity[5] is an important quantity. Since a fundamental information processing in the brain is the information transfer through a single neuron, some attempts have been made to compute the capacity of a single neuron[3, 6]. However, some of the results range much larger than measurements[1], or lacks mathematical proof. The computation of the capacity is not simple because it depends on various issues, such as the stochastic characteristics of the communication channel and optimisation over input distributions. We have considered two different models, the temporal coding, and the rate coding, and computed the capacity for each of them[2]. We have employed a spiking neuron model that the ISI follows a gamma-distributed random variable, where the shape parameter κ is fixed and the scale parameter θ varies over time. Theoretical studies prove that the distribution of inputs, which achieves the channel capacity, is a discrete distribution with finite mass points for temporal and rate coding under a reasonable assumption. The proof follows the steps firstly shown by Smith[4]. This allows us to compute numerically the capacity of a neuron. Numerical results are in a plausible range based on biological evidence to date.

Keywords: Information capacity, spiking neuron.

- [1] Baker, S. N., & Lemon, R. N. (2000). Precise spatiotemporal repeating patterns in monkey primary and supplementary motor areas occur at chance levels. *J. Neurophysiol*, **84**, 1770–1780.
- [2] Ikeda, S., & Manton, J. H. (1952). Capacity of a single spiking neuron channel. Neural Comput., 21(6), 1714-1748.
- [3] MacKay, D. M., & McCulloch, W. S. (1952). The limiting information capacity of a neuronal link. *Bull. Math. Biophys.*, **14**, 127–135.
- [4] Smith, J. G. (1971). The information capacity of amplitude- and variance-constrained scalar Gaussian channels. *Information and Control*, **18**, 203–219.
- [5] Shannon, C. E. (1948). A mathematical theory of communication. *The Bell System Technical Journal*, **27**, 379–423 and 623–656.
- [6] Stein, R. B. (1967). The information capacity of nerve cells using a frequency code. *Biophysical Journal*, 797-826.

¹This work was partially supported by MEXT/JSPS KAKENHI (24560490).

Inverse Problem for Leaky Integrate-and-Fire Neuronal Models using Spike-Times Data: The sinusoidally-driven case

Alexandre Iolov, Andre Longtin University of Ottawa Physics Department, 150 Louis Pasteur Ottawa, Ontario, Canada K1N 6N5 {alongtin, aiolo040}@uottawa.ca

We aim to estimate structural parameters (the coefficients) of a stochastic leaky-integrate and fire neuronal model given only data for the interspike intervals (ref. [4, 5, 3]). Building on the Fortet Integral Equation method introduced for this problem in [2] and the classical Fokker-Plank equation, we extend the methods to the case of a time-dependent drift, in particular a sinusoidal term with unknown amplitude, a situation common for sensory neurons [1].

Thus the voltage trajectory, X, is assumed to follow the following trajectory (in non-dimensional form):

$$dX_s = (\alpha - X_s + \gamma \sin((s + \phi)))ds + \beta dW_s.$$
⁽¹⁾

until *X* hits a threshold at which time a spike is recorded and *X* is reset. Here, dW_s is an increment from standard Brownian motion.

The main difficulty in estimating the parameters for these dynamics from spike-data only is that the observed interspike-intervals of the inferred stochastic process do not form a renewal process due to the phase differences in the sinusoidal term at the beginning of each interval (at each spike). We propose to deal with this difficulty by binning the data into several bins each of which with approximately the same phase and then to treat each bin with the methods developed for renewal processes (the Fortet Equation and the Fokker-Plank equation). Both algorithms are iterative and so we also introduce a simple and constructive initialization procedure to provide them with initial guesses for the parameters directly and automatically from the data. The initializer works on approximating the distribution of spike dynamics as an advected Gaussian bell, whose mean and std. deviation can be estimated from the quantiles of the ISI distribution.

Results to Present

We attempt to estimate the parameters for four (4) distinct regimes, which we call: 'Super-Threshold', 'Critical', 'Sub-Threshold' and 'Super-Sinusoidal'. The regimes' respective parameters are in tab. 1. These regimes try to represent the following scenarios: in the 'Super-Threshold', the bias current, α is strong enough to trigger spikes on its own and the noise and sinusoidal currents only create jitter around the regular spiking; in the 'Critical' regime the two deterministic currents, α and $\gamma \sin()$ are barely strong enough to spike without noise; in the 'Sub-Threshold', the neuron spikes only due to the stochastic fluctuations; while the 'Super-Sinusoidal' is like 'Super-Threshold', but here it is the sinusoidal $\gamma \sin()$ term that dominates and that is the primary driver of the spikes.

The estimation results for 16 spike trains are shown in Fig. 1. We see that the estimation procedures are most accurate for the 'Super-Threshold' and the 'Critical' regimes. We also find the Fortetequation method to be more accurate usually, but less robust, meaning it is more likely to be way off. In contrast, the Fokker-Plank-equation method is more robust. We also find that the proposed initializer is doing an effective job, starting the iterative methods close to the true parameter values.

Keywords: inverse first-passage times, stochastic neuron models, parameter estimation from stopping times, Fortet integral equation, Fokker-Plank equation.

Maurice J Chacron, André Longtin, Martin St-Hilaire, and Len Maler. Suprathreshold Stochastic Firing Dynamics with Memory in. Physical Review Letters, 85(7):1576–1579, 2000.

Regime Name	α	β	γ
Super Threshold	1.5	0.3	1.0
Critical	0.55	0.5	.55
Sub-Threshold	0.4	0.3	.4
Super Sinusoidal	0.1	0.3	2

Table 1: α , β , γ parameters for the different regimes.



Figure 1: Absolute errors of the parameter estimation routines for the 4 different spike regimes. The upper panel shows the difference between the estimated and the real value for each parameter, e.g. $\tilde{\alpha} - \alpha$. The lower panel shows the sum of the absolute errors, i.e. $|\tilde{\alpha} - \alpha| + |\tilde{\beta} - \beta| + |\tilde{\gamma} - \gamma|$. NOTE: figures have different scales.

- [2] Susanne Ditlevsen and Ove Ditlevsen. Parameter estimation from observations of first-passage times of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process and the Feller process. *Probabilistic Engineering Mechanics*, pages 1–20, 2008.
- [3] Susanne Ditlevsen and Petr Lansky. Parameters of stochastic diffusion processes estimated from observations of first-hitting times: Application to the leaky integrate-and-fire neuronal model. *Physical Review E*, (76), 2007.
- [4] Liang Meng, Mark A Kramer, and Uri T Eden. A sequential Monte Carlo approach to estimate biophysical neural models from spikes. Journal of neural engineering, 8(6):065006, December 2011.
- [5] Paul Mullowney and Satish Iyengar. Parameter estimation for a leaky integrate-and-fire neuronal model from ISI data. *Journal of computational neuroscience*, 2008.

Can discrete Response-Stimulus Correlation distinguish Integration from Coincidence Detection?

Jacob Kanev Department of Software Engineering and Theoretical Computer Science, Technische Universität Berlin, 10587 Berlin, Germany. j_kanev@arcor.de

> Achilleas Koutsou Department of Computer Science, University of Cyprus, 1678 Nicosia, Cyprus. achilleas.k@cs.ucy.ac.cy

> Chris Christodoulou Department of Computer Science, University of Cyprus, 1678 Nicosia, Cyprus cchrist@cs.ucy.a.cy

Whether neurons operate as integrators or coincidence detectors may determine the role of the cortical neuron [1, 3] and might give an insight as to the nature of the neural code. For this, a simple measure is needed that can both be used for *in vitro/vivo* neuron recordings as well as investigated analytically. Unfortunately, the most likely candidate, the response-stimulus correlation (RSC) or reverse correlation has been shown numerically [2, 5] and can be shown analytically not to be able to distinguish between the two modes.

As an alternative, we introduce a discrete, response-stimulus correlation related measure, based on spike times. The discrete response-stimulus correlation (dRSC) consists of two values: (1) a phase locking value indicating whether the stimulus actually drives the neuron or serves as background noise, and (2) a coincidence value indicating whether the stimulus is used as source of temporal integration or as source of coincidences to detect. We tested both values of the measure on a leaky integrate-and-fire (LIF) neuron and confirmed their validity.

In order to be able to fully assess the validity of the measure under various conditions analytically, we also introduce a re-formulated LIF model, where the single excitatory stimulus is modelled by spike intervals instead of single points in time and the differential equations describing the neuron are discretised. The new model (which we call the interval neuron) consists of one single system tensor, which describes the neural behaviour. Using matrix algebra the dRSC can then be calculated for a given set of neural parameters. This interval neuron cannot only be derived and built from an LIF neuron, but from any mathematical neuron model, or even from *in vitro/vivo* recordings.

We will apply the dRSC measure to corner cases created with both neural models (LIF and interval neuron) in order to see whether in these cases the neurons operate as temporal integrators or coincidence detectors. This verdict will then be compared with the results of other measures (like the one proposed in [4]) for the same corner cases. The results will be presented and fully discussed at the conference.

Keywords:

integration, coincidence detection, discrete response-stimulus correlation

Bibliography

[1] Abeles, M. (1982) Role of the Cortical Neuron: Integrator or Coincidence Detector? *Israel Journal of Medical Sciences*, **18**: 83–92.

- [2] Bugmann, G., Christodoulou, C. and Taylor, J.G. (1997) Role of Temporal Integration and Fluctuation Detection in the highly irregular Firing of a Leaky Integrator Neuron Model with Partial Reset, *Neural Computation*, **9**: 985–1000.
- [3] König, P., Engel, A. K. and Singer, W. (1996) Integrator or Coincidence Detector? The Role of the cortical Neuron revisited, *Trends in Neurosciences*, **19**: 130–137.
- [4] Koutsou, A., Christodoulou, C., Bugmann, G. and Kanev, J. (2012) Distinguishing the Causes of Firing with the Membrane Potential Slope, *Neural Computation*, 24(9): doi:10.1162/NECO_a_00323.
- [5] Mainen, Z.F. and Sejnowski, T.J. (1995) Reliability of Spike Timing in neocortical Neurons, *Science*, **268**: 1503–1506.

Estimating Nonstationary Inputs from Firing Rate and Non-Poisson Irregularity in a Single Spike Train

Hideaki Kim Department of Physics, Kyoto University Sakyo-ku Kyoto, 606-8502 Japan kim@ton.scphys.kyoto-u.ac.jp

Shigeru Shinomoto Department of Physics, Kyoto University Sakyo-ku Kyoto, 606-8502 Japan shinomoto@scphys.kyoto-u.ac.jp http://www.ton.scphys.kyoto-u.ac.jp/~shino/english.html

Neuroscience researchers have measured neuronal firing rates in correlation to animals' behavior, largely ignoring detailed patterns of spike times. We examine spike timing in the present study to collect additional information about the dynamics of unobserved neuronal populations, based on the assumption that neuronal spike timing can provide information about the population activities of excitatory and inhibitory neurons.

Each cortical neuron constantly receives spiking signals from thousands of other neurons. The random arrival of several synaptic inputs results in uncorrelated fluctuations that can be characterized by their mean and amplitude. Mathematical methods have been developed, assuming that presynaptic neuronal activities are constant over time [1]. Recently, to analyze situations in which input parameters vary in time, several methods have been proposed using a time-dependent stimulus traces [2] or averaging over repeated trials [3]. Inputs to individual neurons, however, are not entirely controlled by animal behavior or reproduced exactly under identical behavioral conditions. Instead, they might fluctuate from trial to trial. Therefore, it is necessary to develop a method capable of estimating time-varying inputs in a single trial.

For this purpose, we constructed a method for estimating nonstationary inputs from a single spike train using a two-step analytical method [4]. First, the instantaneous firing characteristics consisting of the spike rate and non-Poisson irregularity are estimated using a computationally feasible state-space method. Then, we transform the firing characteristics into input parameters by inverting the forward transformation from input to output signals, which can be done rapidly. By analyzing spike trains recorded in vivo, we found that neuronal input parameters are similar in the primary visual cortex V1 and middle temporal area, whereas parameters in the lateral geniculate nucleus of the thalamus were markedly different.

Keywords: Non-Poisson irregularity, State-space method, Leaky integrate-and-fire model.

- [1] Lansky, P. and Ditlevsen, S. (2008) A review of the methods for signal estimation in stochastic diffusion leaky integrate-and-fire neuronal models. *Biological Cybernetics*, **99**: 253–262.
- [2] Paninski, L., Pillow, J.W. and Simoncelli, E.P. (2004) Maximum likelihood estimation of a stochastic integrate-and-fire neural encoding model. *Neural Computation*, **16**: 2533–2561.
- [3] Zhang, X., You, G., Chen, T. and Feng, J. (2009) Maximum likelihood decoding of neuronal inputs from an interspike interval distribution. *Neural Computation*, **21**: 3079–3105.
- [4] Kim, H. and Shinomoto, S. (2012) Estimating nonstationary input signals from a single neuronal spike train. *Under review*.

A model-based inference of synaptic connectivity from simulated multi-neuronal spike data

Katsunori Kitano Dept of Human and Computer Intelligence, Ritsumeikan Univ 1-1-1 Nojihigashi, Kusatsu, Shiga 525-8577, Japan kitano@ci.ritsumei.ac.jp http://cns.ci.ritsumei.ac.jp/~kitano/

Ryota Kobayashi Dept of Human and Computer Intelligence, Ritsumeikan Univ 1-1-1 Nojihigashi, Kusatsu, Shiga 525-8577, Japan kobayashi@cns.ci.ritsumei.ac.jp

Synaptic connectivity is one of the most essential factors for neural mechanisms. As multi-neuron recoding techniques are rapidly developed, to capture synaptic connectivity from a multi-neuronal spiking activity is gaining in importance for understanding of the neural mechanisms.

To address this issue, we employed several methods to infer synaptic connections on the simulated spike data of the realistic local cortical network model, which enables us to directly compare the inferred connections with synapses of the model. We examined performances of the employed methods of model-free (information-geometric measure and transfer entropy) and model-based (coupled escape rate model) methods changing the network topology of the computational model by the way used in the small-world-network paradigm.

Irrespective of the employed methods, the evaluation of similarity between the synaptic connectivity and the inferred connectivity by ROC (Receiver Operating Charateristic) and related analyses indicated that the network with a highly clustered, near regular or small-world, connectivity was more correctly inferred than a random network. Among the employed methods, the model-based method showed the best performance in terms of the higher similarity, less sensitivity to change in the threshold and less required data length. Considering the evidence that a cortical connectivity posses highly clustered features, our results suggested the possibility to infer the underlying synaptic connectivity of the local cortical network exhibiting a spontaneous activity.

Keywords: functional connections, network topology, large-scale simulation.

- [1] Gerstner W, Kistler WM (2002) *Spiking neuron models: single neurons, populations, plasticity.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- [2] Garofalo M, Nieus T, Massobrio P, Martinoia S (2009) Evaluation of the performance of information theory-based methods and cross-correlation to estimate the functional connectivity in cortical networks. *PLoS ONE* **4**: e6482.
- [3] Song S, Sjöström PJ, Reigl M, Nelson S, Chklovskii DB (2005) Highly nonrandom features of synaptic connectivity in local cortical circuits. *PLoS Biol* **3**: e68.
A Bayesian approach for estimating time-varying input signals from membrane potential of a neuron

Ryota Kobayashi Department of Human and Computer Intelligence, Ritsumeikan University Shiga 525-8577, Japan kobayashi@cns.ci.ritsumei.ac.jp http://www.ritsumei.ac.jp/~r-koba84/index.html

Shigeru Shinomoto Department of Physics, Graduate School of Science, Kyoto University Kyoto 606-8502, Japan shinomoto@scphys.kyoto-u.ac.jp http://www.ton.scphys.kyoto-u.ac.jp/~shino/

Petr Lansky Institute of Physiology, Academy of Sciences of Czech Republic 142 20 Prague 4, Czech Republic lansky@biomed.cas.cz http://www2.biomed.cas.cz/~lansky/

Neurons transmit information by transforming synaptic inputs into action potentials. It is essential to investigate the dynamics of the synaptic inputs to understand the computational mechanism in the brain.

We consider an estimation problem of input parameters from a single voltage trace of a neuron obtained by intracellular recordings. Previous methods are based on the assumption that the input parameters are constant over time [1, 2]. However, it is natural to expect that neuronal activity in vivo is time-variable, reflecting the variable external conditions.

Here, we propose a Bayesian method to estimate the time-varying input parameters from a voltage trace of the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck neuronal model [3]. The proposed method is extended for more realistic models, i.e., Hodgkin–Huxley type models [4]. It is shown that both time-varying input signals and ion channel state can be deduced from a single voltage trace of a neuron. The proposed method is verified by applying it to simulated data and to in-vitro experimental data.

Keywords: Statistical inference, Single neuron models, Empirical Bayes method

- Rudolph, M., Piwkowska, Z., Badoual, M., Bal, T., Destexhe, A. (2004) A Method to Estimate Synaptic Conductances From Membrane Potential Fluctuations. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 91: 2884–2896.
- [2] Lansky, P., Sanda, P., He, J. (2006) The parameters of the stochastic leaky integrate-and-fire neuronal model. *Journal of Computational Neuroscience*, **21**: 211–223.
- [3] Kobayashi, R., Shinomoto, S., Lansky, P. (2011) Estimation of Time-Dependent Input from Neuronal Membrane Potential. *Neural Computation*, **23**: 3070–3093.
- [4] Kobayashi R., Tsubo Y., Lansky P., Shinomoto S. (2011) Estimating time-varying input signals and ion channel states from a single voltage trace of a neuron, in: *Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems (NIPS) 24* (J. Shawe-Taylor, R.S. Zemel, P. Bartlett, F.C.N. Pereira, K.Q. Weinberge, Eds.), Curran Associates, Inc. pp.217–225.

On reliable information transmission in simple neuronal systems

Lubomir Kostal Institute of Physiology, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic Videnska 1083, 14220 Prague, Czech Republic kostal@biomed.cas.cz http://www.biomed.cas.cz/~kostal/

Ryota Kobayashi Dept of Human and Computer Intelligence, Ritsumeikan Univ 1-1-1 Nojihigashi, Kusatsu, Shiga 525-8577, Japan kobayashi@cns.ci.ritsumei.ac.jp

The nature of information processing in single neurons and neuronal networks is one of the most intensively studied topics in the field of computational neuroscience. The fundamental mathematical framework for the theoretical approach to this problem is often provided by information theory [1]. The theory quantifies, under certain assumptions, the ultimate limit on reliable information transfer by means of information channel capacity. However, channel capacity is known to be essentially an asymptotic quantity, as the code length and the associated coding/decoding complexity tends to infinity. In this contribution we address both the ultimate limits (capacity) and the bounds on non-asymptotic performance for a given code length, taking into account the probability that the stimulus is decoded incorrectly by employing the maximum likelihood decoding scheme. Metabolic cost of neuronal activity is also taken into account.

Keywords: Neural coding, Reliable information transfer, Metabolic cost

- [1] Gallager, R. G. (1968) *Information theory and reliable communication*. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, USA.
- [2] Kostal, L. (2010) Information capacity in the weak-signal approximation. *Phys. Rev. E*, **82**, 026115.

Input synchrony estimation in the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck model through the slope of depolarisation at threshold crossing

Achilleas Koutsou Department of Computer Science, University of Cyprus 75 Kallipoleos Avenue, P.O. Box 20537, 1678 Nicosia, Cyprus achilleas.k@cs.ucy.ac.cy

Petr Lansky Institute of Physiology, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, Videnska 1083, 14220 Prague 4, Czech Republic lansky@biomed.cas.cz

Jacob Kanev Department of Software Engineering and Theoretical Computer Science, Technische Universität Berlin, 10587 Berlin, Germany. j_kanev@arcor.de

> Chris Christodoulou Department of Computer Science, University of Cyprus P.O. Box 20537, 1678 Nicosia, Cyprus cchrist@cs.ucy.ac.cy

We present a method of estimating the input parameters and through them, the input synchrony, of a stochastic leaky integrate-and-fire (LIF) neuron based on the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck (OU) process when it is driven by time-dependent input mean μ and variance σ . Driving the neuron using sinusoidal inputs, we simulate the effects of periodic synchrony on the intracellular voltage and the firing of the neuron. Our estimation methods allow us to measure the degree of synchrony driving the neuron in terms of the input sine wave parameters, using the slope of the membrane potential during threshold crossing.

In a recent publication [1] we demonstrated how the degree of synchrony at the input of a LIF neuron can be estimated, using the slope of the membrane potential in a small period prior to firing. The degree of pre-synaptic synchrony is related to the operational mode of the neuron, which can lie anywhere on a continuum between temporal integration and coincidence detection [2, 3]. The operational mode is in turn related to the way the neuron encodes information into spike trains, which is usually considered to be based either on a rate or on a temporal coding scheme. Our previous methods required defining a temporal window within which the pre-spike slope was averaged for each response spike. This was necessary due to the trajectory of the LIF's membrane potential being discontinuous. However, the stochastic variant of the LIF, the OU model, has a continuous membrane voltage and can be used for further investigation into more accurate input synchrony estimation methods. In addition, our formulation of the OU model's input also accounts for inhibitory inputs, which our previous model did not include.

Our work is based on expressions of the OU's membrane potential slope during firing to define estimators for the values of the input parameters [4]. Preliminary results show that the slope of the membrane potential provides greater accuracy in the estimation methods than estimators based on the inter-spike interval (ISI) distribution alone. The accuracy of our results will be presented using numerical simulations across a wide range of parameters.

Keywords: synchrony, parameter estimation, integrator, coincidence detector

- Koutsou, A., Christodoulou, C., Bugmann, G. & Kanev, J. (2012). Distinguishing the causes of firing with the membrane potential slope. *Neural Computation*, 24(9), doi:10.1162/NECO_a_00323.
- [2] Kisley, M. A., & Gerstein, G. L. (1999). The continuum of operating modes for a passive model neuron. *Neural Computation*, **11**(5), 1139–1154.
- [3] Rudolph, M., & Destexhe, A. (2003). Tuning neocortical pyramidal neurons between integrators and coincidence detectors. *Journal of Computational Neuroscience*, **14**(3), 239–251.
- [4] Ditlevsen, S., & Lánský, P. (2005). Estimation of the input parameters in the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck neuronal model. *Physical Review E*, **71**(1), 011907.

Coding efficiency and detectability of rate fluctuations with non-Poisson neuronal firing

Shinsuke Koyama

Department of Statistical Modeling, The Institute of Statistical Mathematics 10-3 Midori-cho, Tachikawa, Tokyo 190-8562, Japan skoyama@ism.ac.jp

Characterizing the statistical features of spike time sequences in the brain is important for understanding how the brain represents information about stimuli or actions in the sequences of spikes. Although the spike trains recorded from *in vivo* cortical neurons are known to be highly irregular [7, 10], a recent non-stationary analysis has revealed that individual neurons signal with non-Poisson firing, the characteristics of which are strongly correlated with the function of the cortical area [8].

This raises the question of what the neural coding advantages of non-Poisson spiking are. It could be that the precise timing of spikes carries additional information about the stimuli or actions [2, 5]. It is also possible that the efficiency of transmitting fluctuating rates might be enhanced by non-Poisson firing [1, 6]. Here, we explore the latter possibility.

In the problem of estimating firing rates, there is a minimum degree of rate fluctuation below which a rate estimator cannot detect the temporal variation of the firing rate [4, 3, 9]. If, for instance, the degree of temporal variation of the rate is on the same order as that of the noise, a constant rate might be chosen as the most likely estimate for a given spike train. It is, therefore, interesting to see how the minimum degree of rate fluctuation depends on the non-Poissonian feature of spike trains.

In this study, we investigate the extent to which the non-Poissonian feature of spike trains affects the encoding efficiency of rate fluctuations. In addition, we address the question of how the detectability of rate fluctuations depends on the encoding efficiency. For this purpose, we introduce the Kullbuck-Leibler (KL) divergence to measure the encoding efficiency, and assume that spike sequences are generated by time-rescaled renewal processes. With the aid of analytical and numerical studies, we suggest that the lower bound of detectable rate fluctuations, below which the empirical Bayes decoder cannot detect the rate fluctuations, is uniquely determined by the KL divergence. By examining three specific models (the time-rescaled renewal process with the gamma, inverse Gaussian (IG) and lognormal interspike interval (ISI) distributions), it is shown that the KL divergence, as well as the lower bound, depends not only on the first- and second-order moments, but also significantly on the higher-order moments of the ISI distributions. We also find that among the three ISI distributions, the IG distribution achieves the highest efficiency of coding information on rate fluctuations.

Keywords: Non-Poisson firing, firing rate estimations, Kullbuck-Leibler divergence.

- J. P. Cunningham, B. M. Yu, K. V. Shenoy, and M. Sahani. Inferring neural firing rates from spike trains using Gaussian processes. In *Neural Information Processing Systems*, volume 20, pages 329–336, 2008.
- [2] R. M. Davies, G. L. Gerstein, and S. N. Baker. Measurement of time-dependent changes in the irregularity of neural spiking. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 96:906–918, 2006.
- [3] S. Koyama, T. Shimokawa, and S. Shinomoto. Phase transitions in the estimation of event rate: a path integral analysis. *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General*, 40:F383–F390, 2007.
- [4] S. Koyama and S. Shinomoto. Histogram bin width selection for time-dependent Poisson processes. *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General*, 37:7255–7265, 2004.

- [5] B. N. Lundstrom and A. L. Fairhall. Decoding stimulus variance from a distributional neural code of interspike intervals. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26:9030–9037, 2006.
- [6] T. Omi and S. Shinomoto. Optimizing time histograms for non-Poisson spike trains. *Neural Computation*, 23:3125–3144, 2011.
- [7] M. N. Shadlen and W. T. Newsome. The variable discharge of cortical neurons: Implications for connectivity, computation, and information coding. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 18:3870–3896, 1998.
- [8] S. Shinomoto, H. Kim, T. Shimokawa, N. Matsuno, S. Funahashi, K. Shima, I. Fujita, H. Tamura, T. Doi, K. Kawano, N. Inaba, K. Fukushima, S. Kurkin, K. Kurata, M. Taira, K. Tsutsui, H. Komatsu, T. Ogawa, K. Koida, J. Tanji, and K. Toyama. Relating neuronal firing patterns to functional differentiation of cerebral cortex. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 5:e1000433, 2009.
- [9] T. Shintani and S. Shinomoto. Detection limit for rate fluctuations in inhomogeneous poisson processes. *Physical Review E*, 85:041139, 2012.
- [10] W. R. Softky and C. Koch. The highly irregular firing of cortical cells is inconsistent with temporal integration of random EPSPs. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 13:334–350, 1993.

Non-markovian spiking statistics of a neuron with delayed feedback in the presence of refraction

Kseniia Kravchuk Bogolyubov Institute for Theoretical Physics Metrologichna str., 14-B, 03680 Kyiv, Ukraine kgkravchuk@bitp.kiev.ua

Alexander Vidybida Bogolyubov Institute for Theoretical Physics Metrologichna str., 14-B, 03680 Kyiv, Ukraine vidybida@bitp.kiev.ua http://www.bitp.kiev.ua/pers/vidybida/

Any neural network can be described as a set of neurons and inter-neuronal communication lines – axons. When a neuron fires a spike, this spike propagates through communication line and reaches its target neuron after some temporal delay. Future firing moments of neurons depend on present position of impulses in axons which, in the reverberating network, depends on previous firing moments of those same neurons. That is why delayed feedback interconnections may result in non-renewal statistics of neuronal firing, even if the network is stimulated with a renewal process.

In order to reveal the influence of delayed feedback presence on neuronal firing statistics, we consider the simplest possible construction with delayed feedback interconnection, namely, a single neuron with delayed feedback. The neuron receives input impulses from other neurons and sends its output impulses to its own input through the feedback line with a fixed time delay Δ . As input stimulation we take a Poisson stream — the simplest renewal process. As neuronal model be take the binding neuron [1], as it allows rigorous mathematical treatment.



Figure 1: Binding neuron with feedback line under Poisson stimulation. Multiple input lines with Poisson streams are joined into a single one here.

In our previous paper [2], we considered the case, when refraction time r of a neuron equals to zero, r = 0, which allows receiving and generating impulses immediately after the previous spike. In the case of no refraction, the neuron is potentially able to generate an arbitrary large finite number of output impulses within a finite time window Δ , needed for impulse to pass the feedback line. Thus, the impulse from the feedback line at the moment of its arrival can provide information about a very distant previous firing moment. We prove rigorously in [2], that in the case of no refraction the sequence of output inter-spike intervals (ISIs) of a neuron with delayed feedback cannot be represented as a Markov chain of any finite order.

In this work, we check if this result can be violated by presence of non-zero refraction time, r > 0. In the presence of refractoriness, the number of output spikes (and, eventually, ISIs), which can be generated while the feedbacked impulse is traveling through the feedback line, is limited with $\left[\frac{\Delta}{r}\right]$, were [x] gives an integer part of x. That means, that at the moment of its arrival, the impulse from the feedback line could provide information about the moment of one of $\left[\frac{\Delta}{r}\right]+1$ previous firings, but cannot bring any information about the earlier ones. That is why, one could expect the finite Markov order to be found for the output ISI stream in the presence of refraction. The goal of this work is to check if this is the case.

In order to reveal the influence of refractoriness, we take the limiting case

$$1 < \frac{\Delta}{r} < 2,\tag{1}$$

when no more than one output firing is possible while impulse passes the feedback line. In this case, the refractoriness, taking more than half of the delay time within the feedback line, could reduce correlations between ISIs for the most part.

We consider the *m*-order conditional probability density $P(t_{m+1} | t_m, ..., t_0)$, which gives the probability to obtain an output ISI having its duration within the range $[t_{m+1}; t_{m+1} + dt_{m+1}]$, provided previous ISIs had durations $t_m, ..., t_1$ and t_0 , respectively. We derive exact analytical expression for $P(t_{m+1} | t_m, ..., t_0)$ for an arbitrary *m*. We prove exactly, that $P(t_{m+1} | t_m, ..., t_1, t_0)$ does not reduce to $P(t_{m+1} | t_m, ..., t_1)$ for any $m \in \mathbb{Z}^+$. It means, that even for the case (1) the output ISI stream cannot be represented as a Markov chain of any finite order.



Figure 2: Conditional probability density $P(t_2 | t_1, t_0)$ vs. t_2 , found numerically by means of Monte-Carlo method. On both pannels all the parameters are equal except the value of condition t_0 . It is clearly seen, that the figures are different.

We conclude, that refractoriness does not affect qualitatively the non-Markovian character of neuronal firing statistics, which is due to the delayed feedback presence. We suggest, that this result should be taken into account, when analyzing experimental records of spiking statistics from any network with delayed feedback interconnections.

Keywords: Non-Markovian statistics, Delayed feedback, Refraction time.

- Vidybida, A.K. (1998) Inhibition as binding controller at the single neuron level. *BioSystems*, 48: 263–267.
- [2] Kravchuk, K.G. and Vidybida, A.K. (2010) Delayed feedback causes non-Markovian behavior of neuronal firing statistics. *ArXiv*:1012.6019.

Estimating latency in the case of inhibitory response

Marie Levakova Department of Mathematics and Statistics, Faculty of Science, Masaryk University Kotlarska 2, 611 37 Brno, Czech Republic xlevakov@math.muni.cz

Petr Lansky Institute of Physiology, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic Videnska 1083, 14220 Prague 4, Czech Republic lansky@biomed.cas.cz

Stimulus response latency is the time period between the presentation of a stimulus and the occurrence of a change point in the neural firing rate evoked by the stimulation. While the response latency was explored and methods of its estimation were proposed mostly for the case if the response to stimulus is excitatory, which means that the neuron reacts to the stimulus by an increase in the firing rate, the opposite kind of reaction was so far of less attention. Here we focus only on the estimation of the response latency in the case of inhibitory response.

Our approach is based on the measurements of the time from the stimulus presentation to the occurence of the first spike after the stimulus (forward reccurrence time) in *n* independent trials. Two simple models of a spike train are used and probability distribution of the forward reccurence time under the assumption of known response latency is derived for each of them. The distribution is then employed in three different methods of detecting the response latency. Two of them, moment estimators and maximum-likelihood estimators, are applications of generally known estimation methods. The third method is based on a comparison of the theoretical cumulative distribution function of the forward reccurence time under the condition of no change in the firing rate with empirical cumulative distribution function obtained from the experiment. Finally, all three methods are applied on simulated data and the results are compared.

Keywords: response latency, inhibitory response, moment estimator, maximum-likelihood estimator, Kolmogorov-Smirnov test

- [1] BAKER, S. N., GERSTEIN, G. L. (2001) Determination of Response Latency and Its Application to Normalization of Cross-Correlation Measures. *Neural Computation* **13**(**6**), 1351–1377.
- [2] FRIEDMAN, H. S., PRIEBE, C. E. (1998) Estimating stimulus response latency. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 83, 185–194.

Information filtering by stochastic neurons

Benjamin Lindner Physics Department of the Humboldt University Berlin, Newtonstr. 15, 12489 Berlin, Germany benjamin.lindner@physik.hu-berlin.de

Do stochastic neurons prefer to encode information about fast or about slow components of a timedependent stimulus? In my talk, I will consider the frequency-dependent information transmission of model neurons of the integrate-and-fire type, both at the level of a single spiking neuron and at the population level. I will discuss under which conditions short-term synaptic plasticity or subthreshold oscillations may suppress or enhance the flow of information in certain frequency bands.

An electrophysiological study of cortico-thalamic networks in PV depleted mice

Alessandra Lintas^{1,2}, Beat Schwaller¹, and Alessandro E. P. Villa^{2,3}

¹ Unit of Anatomy; Dept. of Medicine; University of Fribourg Route Albert-Gockel 1, CH-1700 Fribourg, Switzerland http://www.unifr.ch/med/de/research/bs

² Neuroheuristic Research Group; University of Lausanne Quartier Dorigny, Internef 138, 1015 Lausanne, Switzerland [avilla,alelintas]@nhrg.org, http://neuroheuristic.org/

³ Grenoble Institute of Neuroscience; Université Joseph Fourier INSERM U836, Equipe 7 Nanomédecine et Cerveau, Grenoble, France

The thalamus is considered as the sensory gateway to cerebral cortex and the reticular nucleus (NRT) 'might be considered the Guardian of that gateway' as mentioned by Francis Crick in 1984. Typically, the NRT receives excitatory inputs from the lateral geniculate nucleus (LGN) and from the visual cortex (VC), and sends back an inhibitory projection to the LGN. Parvalbumin (PV) is a Calcium buffer protein, which is highly expressed in NRT neurons [1]. Recently [2] we suggest the lack of PV affects the firing properties and the burst discharge dynamics of the main population of NRT neurons. For this study we performed in vivo extracellular recording with multiple electrodes across RTN, thalamus and cerebral cortex in anesthetized wildtype (WT) and PV-knockout (KO) mice. General anesthesia was induced by Equithesin at a dose corresponding to 130 mg/kgchloral hydrate and 30mg/kg pentobarbital. Simultaneous extracellular single-unit activity was recorded during spontaneous activity and visual stimulation by xenon strobe flash at 2.5 Hz during 5 minutes. All recordings were performed with a multiple glass-coated platinum-plated tungsten microelectrodes. Up to three distinct single units could be recorded simultaneously from the same site using waveshape spike sorting techniques [3]. The firing patterns are described by serial interval histograms, return maps and auto and crosscorrelograms. We will present results suggesting that PV depleted animals express a decreased ability to process information along parallel channels in the thalamo-cortical pathway. In conclusion, these new results are in agreement with our previous models [4] and extend further the key-role played by NRT in controlling the information processing of thalamo-cortical circuit.

Keywords: Parvalbumin, Thalamo-cortical networks, Extracellular recordings.

- [1] M. R. Celio. Calbindin D-28k and parvalbumin in the rat nervous system. *Neuroscience*, 35: 375–475, 1990.
- [2] L. Alberi, A. Lintas, R. Kretz, B. Schwaller and A. E. P. Villa. Properties of Reticular Thalamic cells of PV-deficient mice. *Submitted*, 2012.
- [3] T. I. Aksenova, O. K. Chibirova, O. A. Dryga, I. V. Tetko, A. L. Benabid, and A. E. Villa. An unsupervised automatic method for sorting neuronal spike waveforms in awake and freely moving animals. *Methods*, 30(2):178–187, Jun 2003.
- [4] A. E. P. Villa, I. V. Tetko, P. Dutoit, Y. De Ribaupierre, and F. De Ribaupierre. Corticofugal modulation of functional connectivity within the auditory thalamus of rat, guinea pig and cat revealed by cooling deactivation. *J Neurosci Methods*, 86(2):161–178, Jan 1999.

The effect of prestimulus oscillatory dynamics on the performance of a cortical attractor network model in a simulated stimulus detection task

Mikael Lundqvist^{1,2}, Pawel Andrzej Herman^{1,2}, Anders Lansner^{1,2}

¹Department of Computational Biology, Royal Institute of Technology (KTH), Stockholm, Sweden ²Numerical Analysis and Computer Science, Stockholm University (SU), Stockholm, Sweden lundqvis@csc.kth.se,paherman@kth.se,ala@csc.kth.se

Temporal variability in human perceptual capabilities has been a commonly reported phenomenon attributed to ongoing changes in the brain (VanRullen and Koch, 2003). In the presence of a continuous stream of information that sensory systems are exposed to, an important question about the nature of processing such sensory input arises. Based on rich experimental evidence it has been suggested that neuronal oscillations, which themselves display considerable variability at different time scales, contribute to the modulation of sensory information processing (Busch et al., 2009; Mathewson et al., 2009). Although the prestimulus cortical oscillatory activity, specifically the alpha rhythm accompanying the resting and baseline brain states, appear to be relevant in this regard, its modulatory role and the underlying causes remain rather elusive.

Since threshold stimulus detection task has been proven as a suitable approach to investigating oscillatory correlates of the prestimulus brain mechanisms mediating perceptual fluctuations (Linkenkaer-Hansen et al., 2004; Busch et al., 2009; Mathewson et al., 2009), we simulated such experimental paradigm with the use of a large-scale biophysically detailed (cortical layer 2/3) modular attractor network model (Lundqvist et al., 2006). To this end, we strongly relied on bistable mode of network's operation accompanied by oscillations in the synthesised local field potentials and inherent attractor dynamics with the mechanism of stimulus-triggered retrieval of activity patterns, stored in the recurrent connections. By default the network was in a noncoding ground state, functionally attributed to a so-called "idling" brain condition (Pfurtscheller et al., 1996), with alpha-like oscillations. In a hierarchical setup with two networks, one modelling a sensory area that processes sensory input and the other one referred to as an associative area that receives feed-forward projections from the lower network and simulates perceptual stimulus detection, we reproduced key experimental findings. In particular, we observed and studied the mechanisms of modulation of the network performance, both in terms of a detection rate and its latency, by prestimulus alpha power (Linkenkaer-Hansen et al., 2004; Mathewson et al., 2009) and phase (Busch et al., 2009; Mathewson et al., 2009; Drewes and VanRullen, 2011). Interestingly, depending on how we controlled the amplitude of alpha oscillations, by affecting either the excitatory or inhibitory drive in the network (within the excitatory-inhibitory loop), we verified seemingly conflicting experimental findings of positive (Linkenkaer-Hansen et al., 2004;) and negative correlations (Sauseng et al., 2009) between the alpha power and psychophysical performance. Hence, in line with recent electrophysiological studies in macaque monkeys (Bollimunta et al., 2011; Mo et al., 2011), our results support a hypothesis about different cortical origins and thus different nature of the oscillatory dynamics of the alpha rhythm, manifested in contrasting modulatory effects in stimulus detection tasks. In addition, the spatial extent of our model facilitated an investigation into the inter-area phase synchronisation conditions prior to stimulation conducive to its successful recognition. The modulation phenomena we identified could be tested experimentally in neuroimaging studies.

In conclusion, we have demonstrated that biophysically detailed hierarchical attractor networks provide a promising framework for reproducing and understanding the correlations between prestimulus oscillations and psychophysical performance in stimulus detection tasks. Since the alpha rhythm plays a dominant role in the modulatory prestimulus dynamics, our work can be linked to an ongoing discussion about the functional role of alpha activity in the brain. The reported results can be explained in the light of different hypotheses where alpha oscillations reflect idling (Pfurtscheller et al., 1996), active inhibition (Klimesch et al., 2007) or attention modulation (Mo et al., 2011).

Bibliography

Bollimunta, A., Mo, J., Schroeder, C.E., and Ding, M. (2011) Neuronal mechanisms and attentional modulation of corticothalamic alpha oscillations. *J Neurosci* 31, 4935–4943.

Busch, N., Dubois, J., and VanRullen, R. (2009) The Phase of Ongoing EEG Oscillations Predicts Visual Perception. *J Neurosci* 29, 7869–7876.

Drewes, J., and VanRullen, R. (2011) This is the rhythm of your eyes: the phase of ongoing electroencephalogram oscillations modulate saccadic reaction time. *J Neurosci* 31, 4698–4708.

Klimesch, W., Sauseng, P., and Hanslmayr, S. (2007) EEG alpha oscillations: the inhibition-timing hypothesis. *Brain Res Rev* 53, 63–88.

Linkenkaer-Hansen, K., Nikulin, V.V., Palva, S., Ilmoniemi, R.J., and Palva, M. (2004) Prestimulus Oscillations Enhance Psychophysical performance in humans. *J Neurosci* 24, 10186–10190.

Lundqvist, M., Rehn, M., Djurfeldt, M., and Lansner, A. (2006) Attractor dynamics in a modular network model of neocortex. *Network* 17, 253–276.

Mathewson, K.E., Gratton, G., Fabiani, M., Beck, D.M., and Ro, T. (2009) To see or not to see: Prestimulus alpha phase predicts visual awereness. *J. Neurosci* 29, 2725–2732.

Mo, J., Schroeder, C.E., and Ding, M. (2011) Attentional modulation of alpha oscillations in macaque inferotemporal cortex. *J Neurosci* 31, 878–882.

Pfurtscheller, G., Stancak, Jr A., and Neuper, C. (1996) Event-related synchronization (ERS) in the alpha band: an electrophysiological correlate of cortical idling. *Int J Psychophysiol* 24, 39–46.

Sauseng, P., Klimesch, W., Gerloff, C., and Hummel, F.C. (2009) Spontaneous locally restricted EEG alpha activity determines cortical excitability in the motor cortex. *Neurophysologia* 47, 284–289.

VanRullen, R., and Koch, C. (2003) Is perception discrete or continuous? *Trends Cogn Sci* 7, 207–213.

Stochastic pooling networks embedded in cortical networks of excitatory and inhibitory neurons

Mark D. McDonnell

Computational and Theoretical Neuroscience Laboratory Institute for Telecommunications Research, University of South Australia Building W, Mawson Lakes Campus, Mawson Lakes, SA 5095, Australia mark.mcdonnell@unisa.edu.au www.itr.unisa.edu.au/CTNL

Pierre-Olivier Amblard

 CNRS (GIPSA-lab, Dept. Images and Signals), Grenoble, France;
Dept of Math & Stat, The University of Melbourne, Australia pierre-olivier.amblard@gipsa-lab.grenoble-inp.fr

Minh-Son To

 Eccles Institute of Neuroscience, John Curtin School of Medical Research, Australian National University, Canberra, ACT 0200, Australia;
Department of Human Physiology and Centre for Neuroscience, Flinders University, SA 5001, Australia minh-son.to@anu.edu.au

Stochastic Pooling Networks (SPNs) are defined in [1], and form a useful model for understanding and explaining how naturally occurring encoding of stochastic processes can occur, due to the interaction of nonlinear lossy compression, random noise and redundancy. SPNs occur in systems ranging from macroscopic social networks to neuron populations and nanoscale electronics, and support various unexpected emergent features, such as suprathreshold stochastic resonance [2].

Previous work on suprathreshold stochastic resonance in populations of neurons has assumed very regular feedforward network topologies, e.g. [3, 4], and these networks are clearly identifiable as SPNs. Here we consider whether SPNs can be observed embedded within more complex neuronal networks with recurrent feedback synapses, such as models of cortical networks.

We address this question using the model of [5] as the 'embedding network' for our SPN. That cortical network model consists of sparsely connected pyramidal neurons and interneurons, and parameters are such that individual neurons fire at rates much lower an emergent population oscillation [5]. Since an SPN encodes an input random variable, we choose to study the hypothesis that learnt synaptic weights are stored in a distributed fashion in a network, so that weights can be 'selected for readout' from multiple neurons by 'signal spikes' arriving along axonal branches from a single upstream neuron. A single 'signal spike' activates synapses with the same weight on different SPN neurons, and if the weights, and other background synaptic input are strong enough, signal spikes can cause each SPN neuron to emit an action potential. Different upstream neurons activate different weight values in this model.

The 'pooling function' of the embedded SPN is formed simply by the total number of SPN neurons that spike in response to a signal spike. Due to noise, the total number of spikes is a conditional random variable that depends on the synaptic weight. The spike count can thus encode the analog weight value in a way that can be described as 'stochastic quantisation' [2] (since a discrete variable encodes an analog variable), or alternatively as a space-rate spike code that relies on noise [6].

In order to assess our hypothesis and the efficacy of our embedded SPN model, we simulated the network model of [5] where we have additionally embedded *N* SPN neurons, that receive 1000 random connections from the recurrent network, and therefore receive both excitatory and

inhibitory spikes that act like a 'synaptic bombardment' [7] noise source. We assume there are many possible weights for signal synapses in the SPN, and based on simulations, we estimate how the probability of a spike in a single SPN neuron increases with synaptic weight. This allows us to calculate the correlation coefficient between signal synapse weight, and the SPN spike count output for varying N, under the assumption that the selected weight is a uniform random variable. We found that the encoding improves with SPN size and is optimal for moderate signal variance, which is consistent with existing studies of suprathreshold stochastic resonance [2].

Recent experimental evidence suggests the possibility that cortical neuronal may code certain information (e.g. stimulus orientation) in a randomly distributed manner throughout the dendritic tree, on all dendritic branches [8]. We therefore also consider the case where the embedded SPN consists of a single neuron with many dendritic branches, and each segment in the dendritic tree acts like a single neuron in the situation we first consider above. This idea is similar to the model of Poirazi *et. al* [9]. In this case, we assume a subset of synapses across the entire neuron are randomly selected by a signal spike, but unlike the distributed SPN, the pooling operation is the summation of the membrane potential within many dendritic branches prior to the soma. In our results, we compare this situation to the network SPN.

Keywords: stochastic pooling network, cortical connectivity, synaptic weight readout.

- [1] M. D. McDonnell, P. O. Amblard, and N. G. Stocks. Stochastic pooling networks. *Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory and Experiment*, pages P01012 (1–18), 2009.
- [2] M. D. McDonnell, N. G. Stocks, C. E. M. Pearce, and D. Abbott. Stochastic Resonance: From Suprathreshold Stochastic Resonance to Stochastic Signal Quantisation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 2008.
- [3] G. Ashida and M. Kubo. Suprathreshold stochastic resonance induced by ion channel fluctuation. *Physica D*, 239:327–334, 2010.
- [4] S. Durrant, Y. Kang, N. Stocks, and J. Feng. Suprathreshold stochastic resonance in neural processing tuned by correlation. *Physical Review E*, 84:011923, 2011.
- [5] A. Mazzoni, S. Panzeri, N. K. Logothetis, and N. Brunel. Encoding of naturalistic stimuli by local field potential spectra in networks of excitatory and inhibitory neurons. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 4:e1000239, 2008.
- [6] W. Maass and T. Natschläger. A model for fast analog computation based on unreliable synapses. *Neural Computation*, 12:1679–1704, 2000.
- [7] A. A. Faisal, L. P. J. Selen, and D. M. Wolpert. Noise in the nervous system. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 9:292–303, 2008.
- [8] N. L. Rochefort and A. Konnerth. Dendritic spines: from structure to *in vivo* function. EMBO reports: advance online publication 13 July 2012; doi:10.1038/embor.2012.102, 2012.
- [9] P. Poirazi, T. Brannon, and B. W. Mel. Pyramidal neuron as two-layer neural network. *Neuron*, 37:989–999, 2003.

Optically Mapping Electrical Activity in the Ganglion of the Leech Hyrudo Medicinalis

Majid Moshtagh Khorasani Neurobiology Sector, International School for Advanced Studies (SISSA), via Bonomea, 265, 34136 trieste, Italy moshtagh@sissa.it

Evan W. Miller Department of Pharmacology, University of California at San Diego, La Jolla, CA 92093, USA ewmiller@ucsd.edu

Vincent Torre Neurobiology Sector, International School for Advanced Studies (SISSA), via Bonomea, 265, 34136 trieste, Italy torre@sissa.it

We have used the newly developed voltage sensitive dye VF2.1.Cl to monitor the electrical activity of neurons in leech ganglia. The VF2.1.Cl dye detects voltage changes in neurons membrane by modulation of photo-induced electron transfer (PeT) from an electron donor through a synthetic molecular wire to a fluorophore [1]. These dyes give bigger responses than other voltage sensitive dyes and the optical changes occur with a faster kinetics. After staining an isolated leech ganglion we were able to monitor the electrical activity of almost 100 neurons in a ganglion, representing around 20–30% of all neurons in a ganglion. With this dye we were also able to monitor the slow changes of voltage membrane associated to the rhythmic activity of heart neurons (HE) and the associated interneurons. The time course of these optical traces and of electrical recordings obtained with conventional intracellular electrodes were very similar. When images were sampled at a frequency lower than 80 Hz the peak of the action potential (AP) could be missed and a truncated AP was recorded optically. In the absence of stimulation, the spontaneous activity was characterized by the firing of APs of several neurons at a frequency between 0.5 and 20 Hertz. Other neurons fired APs more irregularly and a much lower rate. By using these dyes we were able also to identify clusters of neurons electrically coupled, in agreement with previous electrophysiological observations. When mechanosnesory neurons were stimulated with an intracellular electrode it was possible to detect the overall changes of the electrical activity in the ganglion, therefore obtaining an accurate description of information processing occurring inside a ganglion.

Keywords: Voltage sensitive dye, Leech ganglion neurons, Electrical activity

Bibliography

[1] Miller, Evan W. (2011), Optically monitoring voltage in neurons by photo-induced electron transfer through molecular wires, *PNAS* **109**: 2114–2119

A novel mechanism for sparse and reliable stimulus coding in sensory cortices

Martin Paul Nawrot Neuroinformatics and Theoretical Neuroscience, Institute of Biology, Freie Universität Berlin Koenigin Luise Straße 1-3, 14195 Berlin, Germany martin.nawrot@fu-berlin.de www.biologie.fu-berlin.de/neuroinformatik

Farzad Farkhooi Neuroinformatics and Theoretical Neuroscience, Institute of Biology, Freie Universität Berlin Koenigin Luise Straße 1-3, 14195 Berlin, Germany farzad.farkhooi@gmail.com www.biologie.fu-berlin.de/neuroinformatik

Many lines of evidence suggest that few spikes carry the relevant stimulus information at later stages of sensory processing. Neural mechanisms for the emergence of sparse sensory representations, however, remain unclear. Here we present a principle mechanism that introduces a temporally sparse code and, at the same time, increases reliability of the stimulus representation in spiking networks. It combines principles of signal propagation across successive network stages with the neuron-intrinsic mechanism of spike frequency adaptation. We show mathematically and in neural network simulations how a dense code at the peripheral stage translates into a temporal sparse code at the level of a cortical ensemble, which is embedded in a balanced network. At the same time, trial-by-trial variability of the population code is dynamically suppressed in response to stimulus changes by approximately 50% [1], matching experimental observations in sensory cortices [2]. We suggest that the same principle may underlie the prominent phenomenon of sparse coding in the insect mushroom body. Our results reveal a computational principle that relates spike frequency adaptation to temporal sparse coding and variability suppression in nervous systems.

- [1] Farkhooi F, Müller E, Nawrot MP (2011) Adaptation reduces variability of the neuronal population code. *Physical Review E*, 83: 050905
- [2] Churchland M, et al. (2010) Stimulus onset quenches neural variability: a widespread cortical phenomenon. *Nature Neuroscience*, 13: 369–378

Estimation of the information pathway for a motor command generation in an insect brain based on the physiological data

Ikuko Nishikawa, Yoshihiko Yamagishi Ritsumeikan University Kusatsu, Shiga, 525-8577, Japan nishi@ci.ritsumei.ac.jp http://www.sys.ci.ritsumei.ac.jp/

Hidetoshi Ikeno University of Hyogo Himeji, Hyogo, 670-0092, Japan ikeno@shse.u-hyogo.ac.jp http://www.u-hyogo.ac.jp/shse/ikeno/

Tomoki Kazawa, Shigehiro Namiki and Ryohei Kanzaki The University of Tokyo Meguro, Tokyo, 153-8904, Japan kanzaki@rcast.u-tokyo.ac.jp http://www.brain.imi.i.u-tokyo.ac.jp

We report an approach to estimate the functional connection from the possible anatomical connections and physiological response of each neuron. Male silkmoth, Bombyx mori, is known for its programmed behavior for the pheromone orientation on the pheromone source detection [1]. The action command is generated in the premotor center, which is composed of the lateral accessory lobe (LAL) and the ventral protocerebrum (VPC). The morphology and the physiological response to the pheromone stimulus are obtained for main types of LAL-VPC neurons through the intensive electro-physiological and immunohistochemical experiments [2, 3, 4]. However, how the motor command is generated in LAL-VPC, or the information pathway in the network, is still unknown. Therefore, the purpose of this study is to investigate the functional connection in LAL-VPC to elucidate the mechanism of the motor command generation based on the detailed experimental data on each neuron.

LAL-VPC is located in each hemisphere, and is composed of five neuropile regions (inner LAL, outer LAL, .inner VPC, outer VPC and aiVPC) [5]. Each neuron sends its input and output terminals to some regions. Input is from the same side as soma, and output is sent to the same side for local interneurons (LIN) or to the opposite side for bilateral neurons (BLN). Descending neurons (DN) go outside of LAL-VPC to connect to the neck motoneuron for the steering motions. Fig. 1 is the schematic description of the structure, with a LIN, a BLN and a DN. Iwano et al. [5] listed 36 main neurons (LINs and BLNs) for the command generation. In addition, 7 types of DN are identified [3]. Therefore, we consider a network of 86 neurons for a pair of LAL-VPC, and estimate the connection strength between each neuron and regions. Morphology of each neuron restricts the possible connections. And we calculate the connection strength which can best reproduce the observed physiological response of each neuron, as an optimization problem. Sign (positive or negative) of the connection corresponds to excitatory or inhibitory synapse. From the experiments, LINs are supposed to be mostly excitatory, though some are inhibitory, while BLNs are supposed to be mainly inhibitory, though a pair of excitatory serotonin neurons is identified. Therefore, we also aim to investigate whether each neuron is excitatory or inhibitory from the optimal connection strength.

The main pathway is extracted from the obtained connection, both by the connection strength and by the neuron dynamics of the network simulation. Fig. 2 shows an example of obtained loop network to generate an alternating high and low activity (called flip-flop response) of some type of DN. The directed links in the figure indicate neurons, and the label on the link shows the response type of the neurons (brief activation: BA, brief inhibition: BI, long lasting activation: LLA, long lasting inhibition: LLI and flip-flop: FF), which is defined in Ref. [5].

Keywords: Functional Connection, Optimization, Insect Brain, Premotor Center, Odor Source Orientation.



Figure 1: Structure of LAL-VPC.



Figure 2: Loop network for the flip-flop activity of DN.

- [1] Kanzaki, R., Sugi, N. and Shibuya, T. (1992) Self- generated zigzag turning of *Bombyx mori* males during pheromone-mediated upwind walking, *Zoological Science* **9**: 515-527.
- [2] Kanzaki, R., Ikeda, A. and Shibuya, T. (1994) Morphology and physiology of pheromonetriggered flipflopping descending interneurons of the male silkworm moth, *Bombyx mori. Journal of Comparative Physiology A* **175**: 1-14.
- [3] Wada S. and Kanzaki R. (2005) Neural control mechanisms of the pheromone-triggered mating dance in male silkmoths revealed by double-labeling of descending interneurons and the motor neuron, *Journal of Comparative Neurology* **484**: 168-182.
- [4] Kazawa T, Ikeno H, and Kanzaki R. (2008) Development and application of a neuroinformatics environment for neuroscience and neuroethology, *Neural Networks* **21-8**: 1047-1055.
- [5] Iwano, M., Hill, E.S., Mori, A., Mishima, T., Mishima, T., Ito, K. and Kanzaki, R. (2010) Neurons Associated With the Flip-Flop Activity in the Lateral Accessory Lobe and Ventral Protocerebrum of the Silkworm Moth Brain, *Journal of Comparative Neurology, Research in Systems Neuroscience* 518: 366-388.

Coding of temporally incoherent odour mixtures in the antennal lobe of honeybees

Thomas Nowotny School of Engineering and Informatics University of Sussex Falmer, Brighton BN1 9QJ, UK t.nowotny@sussex.ac.uk http://www.sussex.ac.uk/Users/tn41

C. Giovanni Galizia, Paul Szyszka Fachbereich Biology Universität Konstanz D- 78457 Konstanz, Germany giovanni.galizia@uni-konstanz.de,paul.szyszka@uni-konstanz.de http://neuro.uni-konstanz.de

Introduction In recent behavioural experiments with honeybees, *Apis mellifera*, we have found [1, 2] that the animals are able to distinguish coherent odour mixtures, where both odours arrive at the same time, from incoherent odour mixtures where the onset of one odour is delayed. Surprisingly this ability persisted down to an onset delay of only 6 ms. Moreover, the ability of bees to segregate the mixture components is facilitated in incoherent mixtures.

In this work we explore this surprising ability in a model of the honeybee antennal lobe (AL). We hypothesise that a winner-take-all inhibitory network of local neurons (LNs) in the AL could have a symmetry-breaking effect, such that the response pattern to an incoherent mixture is measurably different from the response pattern to the corresponding coherent mixture for an extended amount of time beyond odour onset.

The Model Figure 1A illustrates the general anatomy of the olfactory system of the honeybee as considered in our model and Figure 1B explains the circuit diagram of the model reduced to two glomeruli for clarity. In the full model we consider all 30 glomeruli for which responses to 16 odorants were reliably observed in [3], outlined in dark grey in Figure 1A. Both the projection neurons (PNs) and LNs are excited by olfactory receptor neurons (ORNs) and LNs inhibit the LNs as well as the PNs of all other glomeruli. The lateral inhibition between LNs is strong enough to lead to winner-take all responses in the population of LNs which then modify the response patterns of the PNs. ORNs are modelled as Poisson neurons, with response rates to specific odours reconstructed by matching the spike density functions of the model's PN responses to the glomerular activation patterns observed in imaging data [3]. PNs and LNs are modelled with conductance based models that were developed to reproduce the electrophysiological PN and LN response profiles observed previously [4].

Results Although we are still just at the beginning of this work we have already found that we (i) can approximate the experimentally observed response patterns in the AL model, (ii) the winner-take-all LN network does lead to different winners for different odours and, importantly, for different incoherent mixtures and (iii) the influence of the LN network leads to measurably different PN responses for different incoherent and the corresponding coherent mixtures. We tested the model on hexanol, octanol, their coherent mixture and temporally incoherent mixtures of these two chemicals. To analyse the results we calculated "template responses" to the individual odours and the coherent mixture as the average of PN spike density functions (SDFs) in all glomeruli in the interval from 100 to 200ms after odour onset. Figure 1C,D shows the correlation of the instantaneous PN SDF values of responses to incoherent mixtures with these response templates. We observe that the incoherent mixture, but eventually becomes more similar to the pure octanol response. The response to the octanol-first incoherent mixture is also initially more similar to the coherent mixture but then becomes more similar to the hexanol response that although the incoherent mixtures.

only had a microscopic delay of 10ms on this occasion, the responses are markedly different for the two incoherent mixtures and the coherent mixture for a macroscopic amount of time during the response. This difference could easily be exploited by the animals to recognise the incoherent mixtures against each other and against the coherent mixture.

Conclusion Odours are encountered by the bees in thin filaments in turbulent odour plumes. Odour mixtures emanating from the same odour source will arrive within the same filaments, i.e. as coherent mixtures, while odorants from separate odour sources that are mixed in the air would arrive in different filaments leading to incoherent mixtures. The ability of bees to distinguish incoherent and coherent mixtures could hence underlie a form of "odour object recognition" to help making sense of the complex odorant scene encountered by the animals.

In future work we will test our predictions in physiological experiments in the bee antennal lobe to confirm, falsify or further refine the model. We will perform more systematic explorations of the model to establish the extent of possible response characteristics depending on the model parameters and we will analyse the limitations of incoherent mixture perception given realistic constraints from the anatomy and physiology of the bee brain.



Keywords: Olfaction, Honeybee, Temporal Mixture Coding, Odour Object Recognition.

Figure 1: Model and initial results. A) Anatomy of the relevant structures considered in the model. B) Circuit diagram of the model exemplified for the two most active glomeruli for hexanol and octanol. C) Correlation of the PN responses to a hexanol-first incoherent mixture with 10ms delay to the response templates to hexanol alone (*), octanol alone (\times) and the coherent mixture (+). D) correlation of the response to an octanol-first incoherent mixture to the three templates. The grey bars mark the presence of the stimulus at the ORNs.

- [1] Szyszka, P., Stierle, J.S., Biergans, S., Nowotny, T. and Galizia, C. G. (2011) Honeybee neurons use millisecond time-differences in stimulus coherence for odor-object segregation. *Front. Comput. Neurosci. Conference Abstract* BC11: Computational Neuroscience & Neurotechnology Bernstein Conference & Neurex Annual Meeting 2011.
- [2] Szyszka, P., Stierle, J.S., Biergans, S., Galizia, C.G. (2012) The Speed of Smell: Odor-Object Segregation within Milliseconds. *PLoS ONE*, **7**: e36096.
- [3] Ditzen, M. (2005) Odor concentration and identity coding in the antennal lobe of the honeybee Apis mellifera, *Dissertation*, FU Berlin.
- [4] Krofczik, S., Menzel, R. and Nawrot, M.P. (2008) Rapid Odor Processing in the Honeybee Antennal Lobe Network *Front Comput Neurosci.* **2**: 9.

Discrimination of binary patterns by perceptrons with binary weights

Andrey Olypher School of Science and Technology, Georgia Gwinnett College Lawrenceville, GA, USA aolifer@ggc.edu

Jean Vaillant Département Mathématiques-Informatique, Université des Antilles et de la Guyane Pointe-à-Pitre, Guadeloupe Jean.Vaillant@univ-ag.fr http://monnano.weebly.com/index.html

Information processing in neurons is understood incompletely, especially when neuronal inputs have indirect correlates with external stimuli as for example in the hippocampus. In such cases, researchers study neuronal responses to arbitrary input patterns. It is a challenging problem since for example hippocampal neurons have tens of thousands local inputs, synapses, that can be activated or not [6]. In the experiment, the most advanced techniques allow for selective activation of less than hundred synapses of a neuron [5]. In computer simulations, arbitrary spatio-temporal patterns of synaptic activation can be simulated. However, constraints on computational resources limit available samplings of patterns. That is why there is a growing interest to theoretical results on transformation of inputs in neurons.

Often, neurons process information as a part of a network that receives its inputs from another network. For example, the neurons in the hippocampal field CA1 process inputs from the hippocampal field CA3, among the others [1]. We studied how neurons process network inputs within short time windows. In the hippocampus, neocortex and other brain areas such time windows are the intervals when inhibition of neurons gets weak [2]. Intuitively, if an input pattern makes a target neuron spike then the target neuron should also spike in response to similar patterns - otherwise, neurons would be too sensitive to noise. On the other hand, neurons should discriminate between sufficiently different input patterns and spike selectively. Our main goal was to quantify how well neurons, in particularly in the hippocampus, discriminate patterns of spiking activity in input networks.

We modeled neurons with perceptrons. As a perceptron, the model neuron performs a linear classification of synaptic input patterns [7]. For example in hippocampal neurons, linear summation of inputs does occur to some extent [3]. There is a recent raise of interest to perceptron neuronal models [4, 9]. Most results are asymptotic with respect to the dimension of input vectors. Here, using combinatorial analysis, we complement them by some exact formulas.

In our study, we considered perceptrons with binary inputs and binary synaptic weights. Experimental findings support these assumptions in the case of CA1 principal cells. Binary inputs represent spiking activity in input neurons. If an input neuron spikes, the corresponding component of the input vector is equal to one, otherwise it is equal to zero. When an input neuron spikes, it activates its synapses with target neurons. If the neuronal excitation that results from the activation of synapses exceeds a threshold the target neuron spikes.

As a first step, we derived formulas for the case when all the neurons in the input network are connected with a target neuron. Then, we expanded our results to a general and more realistic case when some of them do not affect the target neuron. As an application of our main result, we provide a new hypothesis of how increased activity in the hippocampal field CA1 [8] may contribute to cognitive deficits in schizophrenia.

Keywords: perceptron, neuronal model, hippocampus

- [1] D. Amaral and P. Lavenex. *Hippocampal neuroanatomy*, pages 37–114. University Press, Oxford, 2007.
- [2] Gyorgy Buzsaki. Rhythms of the Brain. Oxford University Press, USA, 2006.
- [3] S. Cash and R. Yuste. Linear summation of excitatory inputs by ca1 pyramidal neurons. *Neuron*, 22(2):383–394, 1999.
- [4] V. Itskov and L. F. Abbott. Pattern capacity of a perceptron for sparse discrimination. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 101(1):018101, Jun 2008.
- [5] R.H. Kramer, D.L. Fortin, and D. Trauner. New photochemical tools for controlling neuronal activity. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 19:1–9, 2009.
- [6] M. Megias, Z. Emri, T. F. Freund, and A. I. Gulyas. Total number and distribution of inhibitory and excitatory synapses on hippocampal ca1 pyramidal cells. *Neuroscience*, 102(3):527–540, 2001.
- [7] Frank Rosenblatt. *Principles of neurodynamics; perceptrons and the theory of brain mechanisms*. Spartan Books, Washington, 1962.
- [8] S. A. Schobel, N. M. Lewandowski, C. M. Corcoran, H. Moore, T. Brown, D. Malaspina, and S. A. Small. Differential targeting of the ca1 subfield of the hippocampal formation by schizophrenia and related psychotic disorders. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 66(9):938–946, 2009.
- [9] W. Senn and S. Fusi. Convergence of stochastic learning in perceptrons with binary synapses. *Physical Review*, E 71, 061907:1–12, 2005.

The interplay between network topology and structural synaptic plasticity in a model of cortical sequence learning

Daniel E. Padilla and Mark D. McDonnell Computational and Theoretical Neuroscience Laboratory, Institute for Telecommunications Research, University of South Australia Building W, Mawson Lakes Campus, Mawson Lakes, SA 5095, Australia mark.mcdonnell@unisa.edu.au

Models of cortical sequence learning and recognition that include timing variability have recently gained attention. For example, Byrnes *et.* al [1] model and simulate a spiking neuronal network that creates a sparse code and makes use of spike-timing dependent plasticity (STDP) in order to learn sequences with elements with variable duration.

In STDP, neurons modify (i.e., strengthen and weaken) their synaptic connections based on their relative spiking timing [2]. Recent experimental work, however, provides compelling evidence that structural plasticity, whereby synaptic connections between neurons can also form and disappear over timescales comparable to STDP, is a crucial component of learning [3]. Some researchers have theorised that a combination of reweighting of synaptic strength, and reconnection of synapses are both crucial to learning, but that reconnections are more important for longer term memory formation [4].

A recent model of cortical sequence learning, inference and prediction has explicitly incorporated the idea that structural plasticity may be more important than synaptic weight plasticity [5]. This model, that extends related theoretical work [6], also proposes a simple model of a cortical pyramidal cell where dendritic computation is crucial. Here, we study the influence of initial network topology in the so called 'temporal pooler' component of the model of [5], and investigate how the learning process changes the network topology over time. We also study how the model's performance depends on initial network topology, and whether the introduction of learning rules that enable synaptic weights to also be important for learning can improve performance.

Keywords: structural plasticity, cortical learning, adaptive complex network topology.

- [1] Byrnes, S., Burkitt A., Grayden, D. and Meffin, H. (2011) Learning a Sparse Code for Temporal Sequences Using STDP and Sequence Compression. *Neural Computation*, **23**: 2567–2598.
- [2] Melamed, O., Gerstner, W., Maass, W., Tsodyks, M. and Markram, H. (2004) Coding and Learning of Behavioural Sequences. *Trends in Neuroscience*, **27**: 11–14.
- [3] Caroni, P., Donato, F. and Muller, D. (2012) Structural Plasticity upon Learning: Regulation and Functions. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, **13**: 478–490.
- [4] Seung, S. (2012) *Connectome: How the Brain's Wiring Makes Us Who We Are*. Houghton Mifflin Harcourt Trade.
- [5] Hawkins, J., Ahmad, S. and Dubinsky, D. (2011) Hierarchical Temporal Memory including HTM Cortical Learning Algorithms. *Numenta Inc.*, Tech. Rep. Version 0.2.1.
- [6] George, D. and Hawkins, J. (2009) Towards a Mathematical Theory of Cortical Micro-Circuits. *PLoS Computational Biology*, **5**: 1–26.

Effectiveness of information transmission in the brain-like communication models

Bartosz Paprocki Institute of Mechanics and Applied Computer Science, Kazimierz Wielki University Bydgoszcz, Kopernika 1, Poland bartekp@ukw.edu.pl

Janusz Szczepanski Institute of Fundamental Technological Research, Polish Academy of Sciences Warsaw, Pawinskiego 5B, Poland jszczepa@ippt.gov.pl www.ippt.gov.pl/~jszczepa/

The efficiency of information transmission by brain is one of the major interests that have been recently studied, both through data analysis and theoretical modeling [1, 2, 3]. Recent attempts to quantify information transmission have concentrated on treating neuronal communication process in the spirit of Shannon information theory. It was developed as a mathematical, probabilistic framework for quantifying information transmission in communication systems [4].

The fundamental concept of this theory is *mutual information*, which quantifies the information dependence of random variables or stochastic processes. If {*X*} and {*Z*} are input (e.g. stimuli) and output (e.g. observed reaction) stochastic processes, then mutual information between them is given as: I(X;Z) := H(X) + H(Z) - H(X,Z), where $H(\cdot)$ are entropies [5]. Entropies of processes with unknown distributions (containing output process *Z*) have to be estimated and we accomplished it with Strong estimator [3, 6] as it is reliable and computationally fast. Maximal mutual information, called channel capacity, $C = \sup_{p_X} I(X;Y)$, reflects the upper bound on amount of information that can be communicated over the channel.

For neuron model we chose that proposed by Levy & Baxter [3, 7]. Our *brain-like* neural network model (Fig. 1) consists of number of paired *excitatory E* and *inhibitory I* neurons. Such two neurons constitute a *node* (*E*, *I*). Output of one neuron within a given node becomes input of the other one in the next discrete moment. Inhibitory neurons act to hold back activation of excitatory neurons they are paired with. Each node (*E*, *I*)_{*i*} is connected with neighboring nodes (*E*, *I*)_{*i*-1} and (*E*, *I*)_{*i*+1} through output of neuron *E*_{*i*}. Other nodes can be connected through *long-range connections*. Some or all neurons *E*_{*i*} can be connected to the source of information, i.e a discrete, one-zero (*spike* or *no-spike*) stochastic process.

We search for maximal values of mutual information between input process {*X*} and outputs of excitatory neurons {*Z*}s. We ran multiple simulations for architectures presented in Fig. 1. The information source parameters were as follows: *firing-rate* $0 \le f_r \le 1$ in steps of 0.05 and sequences of 1 000 000 bits were generated to reach high accuracy. Parameters associated with neurons were:



Figure 1: All *brain-like* neural architectures we studied. Each one has five nodes and source of size three. **A**, a *symmetric* case. **B**, E_2 has no access to the source of information. **C**, symmetric case with added *long-range* connection from E_2 to E_5 . **D**, a combination of B and C.



Figure 2: Mutual information between input process *X* and outputs of *E* neurons for architectures B, C, D (*symmetric* architecture result drawn with dashed line), maximized over: firing-rate f_r , synaptic success *s* and activation threshold *g*. Optimal values for each neuron marked with ×.

synaptic success $0 \le s \le 1$ in steps of 0.05, activation threshold $g \in \{0.2, 0.3, 0.5, 0.7, 0.9, 1, 1.2, 1.6\}$ and *amplitude fluctuations* were distributed uniformly on interval [0,1]. Neural network was parametrized with *inhibition strength* $b \in \{0, 1/4, 1/2, 3/4, 1, 3/2\}$ (relative to excitatory neurons strength).

Results are presented in Fig. 2. Most neurons reach the optimal information transmission around point where inhibition balances excitation, i.e. for b = 1. Generally, neurons are least efficient if there is no inhibition at all, i.e. for b = 0.

Efficiency of transmission of excitatory neuron lacking access to the source of information is decreased even by 62%, while other neurons efficiency rises by 7–13%, depending on inhibition strength. Long-range connection, if it originates from neuron having access to the source, brings 23–27% loss to target excitatory neuron transmission efficiency. If the connection originates from neuron without access to the source, the efficiency of target neuron is unchanged.

Acknowledgments: This paper has been supported by NCN grant N N519 646540.

Keywords: Brain-like network, Information transmission, Neuronal computation.

- [1] Rieke, F., Warland, D., de Ruyter van Steveninck, R., Bialek, W. (1997) *Spikes. Exploring the Neural Code.* MIT Press, Cambridge, MA.
- [2] Sejnowski, T.J., van Hemmen, J.L. (2006) *23 problems in systems neuroscience*. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- [3] Paprocki, B., Szczepanski, J. (2011) Efficiency of neural transmission as a function of synaptic noise, threshold, and source characteristics, *BioSystems*, **105(1)**: 62–72.
- Shannon, C. (1948) A mathematical theory of communication, *Bell System Technical Journal*, 27: 379–423, 623–656.
- [5] Ash, R. (1965) Information Theory. Interscience, New York.
- [6] Strong, S.P., Koberle, R., de Ruyter van Steveninck, R.R., Bialek, W. (1998) Entropy and information in neural spike trains, *Physical Review Letters*, **80**: 3197–200.
- [7] Levy, W.B., Baxter, R.A. (2002) Energy-efficient neuronal computation via quantal synaptic failures, *The Journal of Neuroscience*, **22**: 4746–4755.

Noise correlations in cortical networks

Nestor Parga Departamento de Fisica Teorica Universidad Autonoma de Madrid 28049, Madrid Spain nestor.parga@uam.es

Cortical activity exhibits correlated variability, frequently referred to as noise correlations. Correlation coefficients covering a wide range of values have been reported in many cortical areas. However little is known about its origin and data analysis based on recordings of cortical activity of awake, behaving animals performing non-trivial tasks are scarce. In the first part of my talk I will review recent theoretical [1] and numerical [2] work that we are doing to understand noise correlations in recurrent neural networks. In the second part, I will report results on noise correlation [3] obtained from data recorded as monkeys perform a perceptual decision-making task consisting in the detection of somatosensory stimuli.

- [1] A Renart, J de la Rocha, P Bartho, L Hollender, N Parga, A Reyes and KD Harris (2010), The Asynchronous State in Cortical Circuits. *Science* 327: 587
- [2] N Parga, J Manrique, J de la Rocha and A Renart, (2011), Noise correlations in densely connected networks of LIF neurons. *Annual Meeting of the Society for Neuroscience*. Washington DC.
- [3] F Carnevale, V de Lafuente, R Romo and N Parga (2012). Uncertainty in stimulus amplitude and application time reveals purely internal neural processing in perceptual decision-making tasks. *Annual Meeting of the Society for Neuroscience*. New Orleans.
Calcium Activated Potassium Currents Contribute to High Fat Diet Induced Inhibition of POMC Neurons of the Mouse Hypothalamus

Andreas Pippow^{1,2}, Moritz Paehler^{1,2}, Simon Hess^{1,2}, Lars Paeger^{1,2}, Merly C. Vogt^{2,4,5}, Tim Klöckener^{2,4,5}, Christophe Pouzat³, Jens C. Brüning^{2,4,5} and Peter Kloppenburg^{1,2}

¹Biocenter, Institute for Zoology, ²Center for Molecular Medicine Cologne (CMMC) and Cologne Excellence Cluster in Aging Associated Diseases (CECAD), University of Cologne, Zülpicher Str. 47b, 50674 Cologne, Germany

³Laboratoire de Physiologie Cerebrale, CNRS UMR 8118, UFR biomedicale de l'Universite Paris V, 45 rue des Saints Peres, 75006 PARIS, France

⁴Department of Mouse Genetics and Metabolism, Institute for Genetics, Center of Molecular Medicine Cologne (CMMC), Cologne Excellence Cluster on Cellular Stress Responses in Aging-Associated Diseases (CECAD), Center for Endocrinology, Diabetes and Preventive Medicine (CEDP), University Hospital of Cologne

⁵Max Planck Institute for Neurological Research, D-50674 Cologne, Germany

Satiety signaling POMC neurons in the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus play a pivotal role in the regulation of energy homeostasis. While various endocrine and nutrient factors are defined and their acute physiological role and signaling mechanisms are increasingly well known, the effects of sustained extreme metabolic states and aging are less understood. However, defining diet and age associated changes in this network and elucidating their molecular mechanisms, is critical to the understanding of what makes the organism increasingly susceptible to metabolic disorders over its lifespan. Here we compared intrinsic electrophysiological characteristics of POMC neurons in mice on a normal chow diet (NCD) and mice on a high fat diet (HFD).

Using perforated patch clamp recordings, we showed that a HFD drastically modulates or rather impairs the intrinsic properties of anorexigenic POMC neurons. In HFD mice the resting membrane potential of POMC neurons was hyperpolarized, the action potential frequency was decreased, and the number of neurons with no spontaneous action potential firing increased. At the systemic level this is a dramatic reduction or even loss of an important satiety signal. Whole cell voltage clamp recordings revealed that the frequency of inhibitory postsynaptic currents (IPSCs) was significantly increased, while the excitatory input remained unchanged. Application of GABA_A receptor blockers eliminated IPSCs completely, but neither GABA_A nor GABA_B receptor blockers restored the membrane potential and firing rate to control levels. The latter results indicate that the HFD induced hyperpolarization and decrease in firing rate could be caused by altered intrinsic properties. Our experiments showed, that an increase in free cytosolic Ca^{2+} leads to an activation of apaminsensitive Ca²⁺ activated potassium currents that contribute to the reduced excitability of POMC neurons. We found three mechanisms that potentially contributed to the elevated intracellular Ca²⁺ levels: a) increase in voltage activated Ca^{2+} influx, b) decrease in the endogenous Ca^{2+} buffering, and c) decrease in the Ca^{2+} extrusion. Consistent with these cellular data, intracerebroventricular application of the SK channel blocker apamin into the left lateral ventricle caused a reduction of food intake in mice on HFD at a dose that was not effective in mice on NCD.

Keywords: Ca²⁺ handling, Hypothalamus, POMC neurons.

Nonparametric estimation of interspike interval distribution and its characteristics

Ondrej Pokora Dept. of Mathematics and Statistics, Faculty of Science, Masaryk University Kotlarska 2, 61137 Brno, Czech Republic pokora@math.muni.cz www.math.muni.cz/~pokora/

Lubomir Kostal Institute of Physiology, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic Videnska 1083, 14220 Prague, Czech Republic kostal@biomed.cas.cz www.biomed.cas.cz/~kostal/

We address the problem of non-parametric estimation of the probability density function and some recently proposed measures of statistical dispersion of positive continuous random variables, which statistically describe the distribution of the interspike intervals in neuronal activity records.

Although standard deviation is used ubiquitously for quantification of variability, such approach has limitations. The dispersion of the probability distribution can be understood in different points of view: as "spread" with respect to the expected value, "evenness" ("randomness") or "smoothness". Although the probability density function, or its estimate provide a complete view, quantitative methods are needed in order to compare different models or experimental results.

We apply the maximum penalized likelihood estimation of the probability density function proposed by Good and Gaskins [1] and present a complete methodology how to estimate the probability density function of the interspike intervals and dispersion measures with a single algorithm, [2].

- [1] Good, I.J.; Gaskins, R.A. (1971) Nonparametric roughness penalties for probability densities. *Biometrika*, **58**: 255–277.
- [2] Kostal, L.; Pokora, O. (2012) Nonparametric Estimation of Information-Based Measures of Statistical Dispersion. *Entropy*, **14**: 1221–1233.

Fano Factor Estimation

Kamil Rajdl Department of Mathematics and Statistics, Faculty of Science, Masaryk University Kotlarska 2a, 61137 Brno, Czech Republic xrajdl@math.muni.cz

Petr Lansky Institute of Physiology, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic Videnska 1083, 14220 Prague, Czech Republic lansky@biomed.cas.cz

Fano factor (FF) is one of the most widely used measures of variability of spike trains. It is defined as

$$FF = \lim_{t \to \infty} FF_t = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{Var(N_t)}{E(N_t)},$$

where N_t denotes the number of spikes in time interval of length t. Its standard estimator, \widehat{FF} , is the ratio of sample variance and sample mean of spike counts observed in window of fixed length, t, [1]. These counts are obtained either from n (short) independent spike trains or from a single (long) spike train, which is divided into n intervals of length t. It is known that \widehat{FF} is strongly biased for small t in both cases, therefore the window should be chosen large enough to reduce this bias. However, in estimating from single spike train increasing of t causes decrease of the number of intervals with spike counts, which leads to larger variance of \widehat{FF} . Thus the question of optimal t arises. In this work we study Fano factor and its estimation for renewal processes with focus on this issue.

We investigate the dependence of FF_t on t and the effect of refractory period on this dependence. Both, relative and absolute refractory period, cause an initial decrease of FF_t , which can lead to nonmonocity of corresponding curves. Because of this effect, \widehat{FF} for small values of t does not reflect the true value of FF. This is illustrated for gamma and inverse Gaussian probability distributions of interspike intervals.

Finally, we derive an approximate asymptotic formula for mean square error (MSE) of \widehat{FF} when Fano factor is estimated from *n* independent spike trains. Using simulations we show that this formula can also be used in the situation with single spike train to find *t* which minimizes MSE. However, the length of the window which minimizes MSE is not always in practice suitable, as for FF near one it can be extremely short and has to be increased.

Keywords: Fano factor, renewal process, mean square error.

Bibliography

[1] Nawrot, M.P., Boucsein, C., Molina, V.R., Riehle, A., Aertsen, A., Rotter, S. (2008) Measurement of variability dynamics in cortical spike trains. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, **169**: 374-390.

Novelty detection and jamming avoidance share common computational mechanisms in pulse gymnotiforms

Alejo Rodríguez-Cattaneo Neurociencias Integrativas y Computacionales Instituto de Investigaciones Biológicas Clemente Estable. Av. Italia 3318, Montevideo, Uruguay carolinapereiralarronde@gmail.com www.iibce.edu.uy

Pedro Aguilera Neurociencias Integrativas y Computacionales Instituto de Investigaciones Biológicas Clemente Estable. Av. Italia 3318, Montevideo, Uruguay peaabarl@gmail.com www.iibce.edu.uy

Ana Carolina Pereira Neurociencias Integrativas y Computacionales Instituto de Investigaciones Biológicas Clemente Estable. Av. Italia 3318, Montevideo, Uruguay carolinapereiralarronde@gmail.com www.iibce.edu.uy

Ángel Ariel Caputi Neurociencias Integrativas y Computacionales Instituto de Investigaciones Biológicas Clemente Estable. Av. Italia 3318, Montevideo, Uruguay caputiangel@gmail.com www.iibce.edu.uy

Electric fish explore their environment using an electric organ discharge. The electric field is modified by the presence of nearby objects allowing the fish to identify different object attributes related to their impedance, shape, position in the electric field, size and distance. This study is focused on the electro-sensory electromotor cycle of *Gymnotus omarorum*.

These fish show a characteristic electromotor behavior unit consisting of transient reductions of the interval between electric organ discharges followed by a slow relaxation phase. This type of pacemaker responses is triggered either by sensory signals or skeleton-motor commands [1]. This basic behavior is part of more complex behaviors specifically related to changes of electro-sensory images of the environment: a) the novelty response and b) the jamming avoidance displays [2]. Novelty responses occur when the presence of a novel object modifies the self-generated electric field. Since each EOD generates an electric image, a novelty response causes an increase in the frames per second rate, allowing the fish to explore such object with larger time resolution. Jamming avoidance displays are triggered by allo-generated electro-sensory signals either preceding or coincident with the EOD. These displays tend to maintain the mutual information between self-generated electro-sensory signals recorded at the skin and the brain in the presence of jamming [3].

The aim of this study was to further investigate the sensitive periods of the EOD cycle in which changes in local or global stimuli provoke transient reductions of the pacemaker interval and the electro-sensory mechanisms involved in detecting the changes in stimulus that trigger this behavioral unit.

First, we investigated in behavioral experiments how an interference signal cause changes in the pacemaker rate. We applied global (head to tail) or local (with a dipole near the skin) 0.1-1ms electric stimuli to water. As expected, onset and offset of stimuli coincident with the EOD provoke novelty responses. To further investigate the phase of the stimuli involved in triggering such response the short stimuli (0.1 ms) was slowly varied (0.1-1 per second) over the EOD and the EOD interval. When sweeping the late phase of the waveform it easily provoked novelty responses. When the stimuli swept intermediate phases of the inter EOD interval no responses were obtained but when the stimuli approached the next EOD transient reductions of the pacemaker interval were

also observed. Phase locked stimuli at long delays (close to the next EOD) caused oscillating changes of the cophase, suggesting that there is the change of the stimulus, rather than its steady presence, the cause of transient accelerations of the pacemaker. These data are coherent with previous modeling [4, 5].

Second, to investigate the sensory mechanisms involved in the detection of stimulus variation we recorded units and field potentials in the freely moving animals while applying electrical stimuli to the receptive field of the explored ELL zone. We found that changes in the stimuli applied at the time of the EOD (thus mimicking the appearance or disappearance of an object) cause relatively large field potentials ("novelty potentials"). With the stimulus polarity that increases the main slope of the EOD waveform, these potentials occur at about 12-14 ms after the EOD only in the next interval after the modified image. With the other polarity it occurs at a phase of 14-20 ms in the next 4 or 5 intervals following the image change. Interestingly, when we elicited the jamming avoidance displays by applying a global stimuli (mimicking the presence of a second fish), or even placing another fish in the neighborhood of the implanted one, similar field potentials occurred previously to the EOD transient accelerations.

Our data suggests that the novelty responses and the jamming avoidance displays share common sensory mechanisms at the electro-sensory lobe. Interestingly, the single "novelty potential" occurs about the time of transition between the silent and the active period of pyramidal neurons (see companion abstract), suggesting that this potential may be the expression of a descending control signal, phase locked with the EOD.

Keywords: electro-sensory system, unitary recording in freely moving fish, jamming avoidance, novelty responses

- [1] Lissmann HW (1958) On the function and evolution of electric organs in fish. *J Exp Biol* 35: 156–191
- [2] Westby GWM (1979) Electrical communication and jamming avoidance between resting Gymnotus carapo. *Behav Ecol Sociobiol* 4: 381–393
- [3] Nogueira J, Caputi AA (2011) Timing Actions to Avoid Refractoriness: A Simple Solution for Streaming Sensory Signals. *PLoS ONE 6(7)*: e22159. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0022159
- [4] Capurro A, Macadar O, Perrone R, Pakdaman K (1998) Computational model of the jamming avoidance response in the electric fish *Gymnotus carapo*. *Biosystems* 48: 21–2
- [5] Caputi, AA (2012) Timing self-generated actions for sensory streaming. LNCS (in press)

Response Properties of First- and Second-Order Neurons in the Olfactory Systems of a Moth and a Frog

Jean-Pierre Rospars UMR 1272, PISC, INRA, 78000 Versailles, France Jean-Pierre.Rospars@versailles.inra.fr

Philippe Lucas UMR 1272, PISC, INRA, 78000 Versailles, France Philippe.Lucas@versailles.inra.fr

Patricia Viret Centre de Recherche en Neurosciences, Université Claude Bernard – CNRS UMR 5292 – INSERM U 1028, 50 avenue Tony Garnier, 69366 Lyon cedex 07, France pviret@olfac.univ-lyon1.fr

The first two neural layers of the olfactory systems of insects and vertebrates are similarly organized. The first-order sensory neurons, the olfactory receptor neurons (ORNs), principally located in the insect antennae and the vertebrate main olfactory epithelium, project their axons in the primary olfactory centre in the brain – the insect antennal lobe and the vertebrate olfactory bulb. There, they make synapses with local neurons and second-order output neurons – the insect projection neurons (PNs) and the vertebrate mitral cells (MCs).

In recent years we have studied experimentally [1, 2, 3] and theoretically [4, 5] various aspects of the stimulus-response relationships of these two neuron types. They present a number of intriguing response properties with their high (or low) sensitivity and small (or wide) dynamic range. To study these properties and analyse how the spiking response reflects quantitatively the intensitive and temporal features of the olfactory stimuli we have used a comparative approach based on insect and vertebrate neurons. For insects (a moth), we have analysed ORNs and PNs responding to the main component of its sex pheromone (a hydrocarbon molecule), and for vertebrates (a frog), the ORNs and MCs responding to four 'ordinary' odorants (anisole, camphor, isoamylacetate and limonene).

Spike trains were recorded with electrophysiological techniques adapted to the four preparations and odorants were applied as square pulses of different concentrations. Methods were developed to analyse quantitatively these spike trains in both neuron types and in both groups. Beyond clarifying the respective merits and limits of these methods (e. g. spike counts in fixed time window, kernel-estimated firing rates, instantaneous firing rates etc.), their broad application revealed the multidimensional nature of spike trains.

Clear differences between groups appeared in the response patterns. The most apparent was the often triphasic response of frog ORNs, contrasting with the monophasic response of moth ORNs, and the bi- or triphasic response of moth PNs. In order to facilitate the comparisons, in all cases we focused on the properties of the first phase (called here 'response' for short).

We showed that the responses of both neuron types in both groups present similar properties. For example the response latencies decrease exponentially with the dose whereas the peak response frequencies increase according to sigmoid Hill functions. The parameters describing these responses (for example threshold, dose at mid-maximum frequency, maximum frequency, Hill coefficient for frequencies) are different in different neurons. However, they follow the same statistical distributions (normal or lognormal). This large variability was expected for frog generalist neurons but less for moth specialist neurons. Finally, the main differences between moth and frog neurons were found to be quantitative. For example the response frequencies, the dynamic ranges and the increase of sensitivity of second- with respect to first-order neurons are higher in the moth than in the frog.

These results provide reference data to develop models of single neurons [4], neuron populations [5] and neural networks [6, 7], and to understand the environmental features that controlled their evolution [8].

- [1] Rospars J.-P., Lansky P., Duchamp-Viret P. and Duchamp A. (2003) Relation between stimulus and response in frog olfactory receptor neurons in vivo. *European Journal of Neuroscience* **18**: 1135-1154.
- [2] Jarriault D., Gadenne C., Rospars J.-P. and Anton S. (2009) Quantitative analysis of sexpheromone coding in the antennal lobe of the moth Agrotis ipsilon : a tool to study network plasticity. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **212**: 1191-1201.
- [3] Jarriault D., Gadenne C., Lucas P., Rospars J.-P. and Anton S. (2010) Transformation of the sex pheromone signal in the noctuid moth Agrotis ipsilon: from peripheral input to antennal lobe output. *Chemical Senses* **35**: 705-715.
- [4] Gu Y., Lucas P. and Rospars J.-P. (2009) Model of the transduction cascade in the moth olfactory receptor neuron sensitive to the sexual pheromone. *PLoS Computational Biology* **5**: e1000321.
- [5] Grémiaux A., Nowotny T., Martinez D., Lucas P. and Rospars J.-P. (2012) Modelling the signal delivered by a population of first-order neurons in a moth olfactory system. *Brain Research* 1434: 123-135.
- [6] Zavada A., Buckley C.L., Martinez D., Rospars J.-P. and Nowotny T. (2011) Competition-based model of pheromone component ratio detection in the moth. *PLoS ONE* **6**: e16308.
- [7] Belmabrouk H., Nowotny T., Rospars J.-P. and Martinez D. (2011) Interaction of cellular and network mechanisms for efficient pheromone coding in moths. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA* **108**: 19790-19795.
- [8] Kostal L., Lansky P. and Rospars J.-P. (2008) Efficient olfactory coding in the pheromone receptor neuron of a moth. *PLoS Computational Biology* **4**: e1000053.

A model of Trial-to-Trial Variability in Monkey Motor Cortex

Thomas Rost Neuroinformatics, Institut of Biology Freie Universität Berlin, Germany Bernstein Center for Computational Neuroscience Berlin, Germany thomas.rost@bccn-berlin.de

Alexa Riehle Institut de Neurosciences de la Timone CNRS & Universite Aix-Marseille, France

Martin P. Nawrot Neuroinformatics, Institut of Biology Freie Universität Berlin, Germany

Whether the strong variability in cortical spike trains is noise or important for computation remains an open question. Time resolved analyses have recently shown that the trial-to-trial variability is modulated over the course of experimental trials and can depend on the experimental condition [1, 2]. One hypothesis that can explain such modulations is that of an ongoing background activity of a network onto which the activities of individual neurons are superimposed [3]. We use spike train statistics to investigate this hypothesis. Similar to [4], we assume a division of the neuronal variability into a part that is due to relatively slow changes in network state and one that arises from the neurons intrinsic properties. Further we show that time resolved parallel analysis of the Fano Factor (FF) and squared Coefficient of Variation (CV^2) can be used to quantify these individual components of the count variance [5]. We use extracellular recordings from the motor cortices of two monkeys performing a delayed center out reach task (data previously published [6]) to show that the CV^2 is only weakly modulated over time (see also [7, 8]) and can be used as an indicator for a neuron's intrinsic variability. We then present a gamma process model where the average rates and regularity parameters $(1/CV^2)$ are fitted to the dataset. The FFs can then be matched by adding varying amounts of backround rate to the individual trials. This model then captures the FF modulations observed in the data and can be used to further investigate the interactions between ongoing activity and task related processes.

This study is funded by the DFG, GRK 1589

Keywords: variability, motor cortex, monkey

- [1] Churchland, Mark M and Yu, Byron M and Cunningham, John P and Sugrue, Leo P and Cohen, Marlene R and Corrado, Greg S and Newsome, William T and Clark, Andrew M and Hosseini, Paymon and Scott, Benjamin B and Bradley, David C and Smith, Matthew a and Kohn, Adam and Movshon, J Anthony and Armstrong, Katherine M and Moore, Tirin and Chang, Steve W and Snyder, Lawrence H and Lisberger, Stephen G and Priebe, Nicholas J and Finn, Ian M and Ferster, David and Ryu, Stephen I and Santhanam, Gopal and Sahani, Maneesh and Shenoy, Krishna V (2010), *Stimulus onset quenches neural variability: a widespread cortical phenomenon*,Nature Neuroscience 13:369-78
- [2] Churchland, Mark M and Yu, Byron M and Ryu, Stephen I and Santhanam, Gopal and Shenoy, Krishna V (2006), *Neural Variability in Premotor Cortex Provides a Signature of Motor Preparation*, The Journal of Neuroscience 26:3697-3712

- [3] Arieli, A. and Sterkin, A. and Grinvald, A. and Aertsen, A. (1996), *Dynamics of ongoing activity: explanation of the large variability in evoked cortical responses*, Science 273:1868
- [4] Churchland, Anne K and Kiani, R and Chaudhuri, R and Wang, Xiao-Jing and Pouget, Alexandre and Shadlen, M N (2011), *Variance as a signature of neural computations during decision making*, Neuron 69:818-31
- [5] Nawrot, Martin P and Boucsein, Clemens and Rodriguez Molina, Victor and Riehle, Alexa and Aertsen, Ad and Rotter, Stefan (2008), *Measurement of variability dynamics in cortical spike trains*, Journal of Neuroscience Methods 169:374-90
- [6] Bastian, Annette and Schoner, Gregor and Riehle, Alexa (2003), *Preshaping and continuous* evolution of motor cortical representations during movement preparation, European Journal of Neuroscience 18:2047-2058
- [7] Ponce-Alvarez, Adrián and Kilavik, Bjørg Elisabeth and Riehle, Alexa (2010), *Comparison of local measures of spike time irregularity and relating variability to firing rate in motor cortical neurons*, Journal of Computational Neuroscience 29: 351-365
- [8] Hamaguchi, Kosuke and Riehle, Alexa and Brunel, Nicolas (2011), *Estimating network parameters from combined dynamics of firing rate and irregularity of single neurons*, Journal of Neuro-physiology 105: 487-500

Dependency problems in neuronal network modeling

Laura Sacerdote Department of Mathematics 'G.Peano', University of Torino Via Carlo Alberto 10, Torino, Italy laura.sacerdote@unito.it http://www.dm.unito.it/personalpages/sacerdote/

Massimiliano Tamborrino Department of Mathematical Sciences, University of Copenhagen Universitetsparken 5, Copenhagen Denmark mt@math.ku.dk http://www.math.ku.dk/~mt/

Cristina Zucca Department of Mathematics 'G.Peano', University of Torino Via Carlo Alberto 10, Torino, Italy cristina.zucca@unito.it http://www2.dm.unito.it/paginepersonali/zucca/

The understanding of the neuronal code is important to know the structure of the neuronal network. Mathematical models may help to this aim. Indeed, there exist several mathematical models for the description of the dynamics of the membrane potential of a single neuron. Furthermore, mathematical tools for their study have been developed during past decades [1, 2, 4, 5]. Mathematical models for the description of small networks, extending single neuron models, exist in the literature [3, 6]. However, their study presents several mathematical problems and simulations or numerical approaches are often necessary [7].

Here we focus on some of these difficulties and we develop some specific mathematical tools to study two network models characterized by the leaky integrate and fire structure. We assume that the inter-times between successive spikes of each single neuron are independent identically distributed random variables. On the contrary the inter-spike intervals of two or more neurons are dependent. We look for the dependence properties of the spike trains generated by different neurons. Due to the difficulty of the problem, we limit our study to the case of two neurons, but the proposed methods may be extended to larger networks.

In the first model, we consider two neurons whose membrane potential evolves according to an integrate and fire Wiener model. Each membrane potential evolves independently from the other, until the time when one of them attains a threshold value. When that neuron releases a spike, its membrane potential is reset to its resting value and its evolution restarts anew. At the same time, the membrane potential of the other neuron has a jump of constant amplitude. Then, the dynamics of both neurons pursue independently until one of them reaches again its boundary, producing a jump in the membrane potential of the other. The study of the coupling of the inter-spike intervals of the two connected neurons presents new problems with respect to single neuron models. Here we discuss them and we present some analytical result on the coupling properties of the spike trains for the case of two neurons modeled through jump diffusion processes, when the diffusion is a Brownian motion.

The second model describes the membrane potential evolution of two neurons through a bivariate Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process characterized by correlated noise. The spike mechanism is analogous to that of the one-dimensional Leaky Integrate and Fire models for single neuron (cf. [8]). For this process, we determine numerically the joint distribution of the first passage time through a two dimensional boundary.

The developed tools are not yet sufficient for a complete study of the dependence properties of the two considered models, but they represent a first step toward the study of the spike trains. To attain this goal, we should generalize our method to the case of arbitrary couples of spike epochs of the considered neurons. Keywords: Leaky integrate and fire model, Jump process, First passage time.

- [1] Burkitt A.N. (2006) A review of the integrate-and-fire neuron model: I. Homogeneous synaptic input. *Biol. Cybern.* 95, 1-19.
- [2] Burkitt A.N. (2006) A review of the integrate-and-fire neuron model: II. Inhomogeneous synaptic input and network properties. *Biol. Cybern.* 95, 97-112.
- [3] Doiron B., Rinzel J. and Reyes A. (2006) Stochastic synchronization in finite size spiking networks. *Phys. Rev. E* 74, 030903.
- [4] Ricciardi L.M. and Sato S. (1989) Diffusion Processes and first-passage-time problems. *Lectures Notes in Biomathematics and Informatics*. Ricciardi L.M. ed. Manchester University Press, 1989.
- [5] Sacerdote, L. and Giraudo, M.T. Stochastic Integrate and Fire Models: a review on mathematical methods and their applications. *LNMBios*, in press.
- [6] Sacerdote L. and Sirovich R. (2010) A copulas approach to neuronal networks models. *Journal of Physiology* Paris 104, (3-4), 223-230.
- [7] Sacerdote L., Tamborrino M. and Zucca C (2012) *Detecting dependencies between spike trains of pairs of neurons through copulas.* Brain Research 1434, 243-256, 2012.
- [8] Tamborrino, M., Sacerdote, L. and Jacobsen, M. *Diffusion approximation and first passage time for multivariate jump processes*. Submitted.

Spike-triggered covariance revisited

Inés Samengo Centro Atómico Bariloche and Instituto Balseiro (8400) San Carlos de Bariloche, Argentina samengo@cab.cnea.gov.ar www.cab.cnea.gov.ar/~samengo

Tim Gollisch Georg-August University and Bernstein Center for Computational Neuroscience Göttingen 37073 Göttingen, Germany tim.gollisch@med.uni-goettingen.de www.retina.uni-goettingen.de

Neurons in sensory systems are often exquisitely tuned to specific stimulus features. Thus, a first step in the characterization of their input–output transformation is to identify which aspects of the stimulus affect a neuron's activity level and which do not. As the space of possible stimuli is typically high-dimensional, an exhaustive exploration of all candidate stimuli appears impractical. But fortunately for neuroscientists, individual neurons often seem to be remarkably selective, and only care about subspaces of low dimensionality. The identification of such low-dimensional spaces of relevant stimuli and their distinction from the larger irrelevant space is a crucial challenge in sensory neuroscience.

In the simplest scenario, an analysis may aim at identifying a single relevant dimension in stimulus space, corresponding to a particular stimulus feature. This is suited, for example, for neurons whose response properties are well captured by their receptive fields. A standard technique for assessing the receptive field from electrophysiological experiments is to measure the spike-triggered average (STA) under stimulation with a broad-band signal, typically white noise.

In many cases, however, a single stimulus feature is insufficient to describe a neuron's response characteristics. If the cell is sensitive to several features and pools them in a nonlinear fashion, its stimulus–response relation may not be well captured by just the receptive field. For these reasons, spike-triggered covariance (STC) analysis has emerged as a popular extension of the STA. In STC analysis, the stimulus segments that precede a spike are characterized through a principal component analysis, which allows the extraction of multiple relevant stimulus dimensions. The basic idea is to detect differences in variance between the distribution of spike-producing stimulus segments and the prior distribution of all stimulus segments. The method is based on the construction and diagonalization of the spike-triggered covariance matrix C. Irrelevant stimulus dimensions are identified as the eigenvectors of C whose eigenvalues are equal to the prior stimulus variance.

The statistics of the applied stimulus play an important role for applying STA and STC analysis. In neurons whose firing probability depends on a single stimulus direction, the STA provides a consistent and unbiased estimator of the relevant direction when the probability distribution of all applied stimuli displays spherical symmetry [1]. This condition states that all stimulus segments that have the same magnitude (i.e. the same Euclidean norm) must also have the same probability of occurrence.

Surprisingly, the requirements concerning the stimulus distribution are more restrictive for STC analysis, where stimuli need to follow not just a spherically symmetric, but a Gaussian distribution to guarantee that the analysis provides a consistent estimator of the relevant stimulus space [2]. Given the otherwise tight analogy between STA and STC analysis, this difference appears puzzling. For STA analysis, the requirement of a spherically symmetric stimulus distribution is best understood

in a geometric picture of why the technique works [1]. The insight and intuition supplied by the geometric proof thus calls for a similar perspective on STC analysis.

Here, we provide such a geometric derivation for STC analysis, leading to a simple proof of why the technique works, that is, of the consistency of the method [3]. The geometric approach highlights the importance of spherical symmetry also for STC analysis and suggests a simple modification of the procedure that makes it applicable to stimulus ensembles with general spherical symmetry, not necessarily Gaussian. In the modified method, irrelevant stimulus directions are identified as the eigenvectors of C whose eigenvalues appear in the spectrum as a baseline of degenerate values. An examination of the symmetry properties of the space of spike-triggering stimuli reveals that irrelevant directions span a subspace where the matrix C is highly degenerate eigenspace of C. For non-Gaussian stimuli, the numerical value of the degenerate eigenvalues cannot be predicted in advance, since it may vary with the stimulus distribution and the input–output transformation implemented by the cell. In the extended method, hence, irrelevant directions can no longer be identified by the magnitude of their eigenvalue. Degeneracy, however, typically suffices to distinguish them. Relevant directions, in consequence, are flagged by eigenvalues popping out as outliers from the degenerate spectrum.

By means of a simple linear transformation, the new approach can be extended to arbitrary elliptic stimulus distributions, containing correlations between different stimulus components. To facilitate identification of relevant stimulus dimensions also when analyzing finite data sets, we finally introduce a new statistical test that assesses the significance of relevant stimulus dimensions. The extended method widens the applicability of spike-triggered covariance analysis, allowing the experimenter to choose the stimulus from a larger class of statistical distributions, and thereby, to better select the stimuli that drive cells most efficiently.

Keywords: covariance analysis, receptive field, linear-nonlinear model.

- Chichilnisky, E. J. (2001) A simple white noise analysis of neuronal light responses. *Network*, 12: 199–213.
- [2] Paninski, L. (2003) Convergence properties of three spike-triggered analysis techniques. *Network*, **14**: 437–464.
- [3] Samengo, I., and Gollisch, T. (2012) Spike-triggered covariance: Geometric proof, symmetry properties, and extension beyond Gaussian stimuli. *Journal of Computational Neuroscience*, in press.

Ideal observer in the stochastic interpolation model of the auditory brainstem

Pavel Sanda The Czech Academy of Sciences, Institute of Physiology Videnska 1083, CZ-142 20, Praha 4, Czech Republic sanda@biomed.cas.cz

Petr Marsalek Charles University in Prague, First Medical Faculty Department of Pathological Physiology, U nemocnice 5, CZ-128 53, Praha 2, Czech Republic petr.marsalek@lf1.cuni.cz

The precision of timing of action potentials reached the most expressed form in the neural circuits of the auditory pathway. The task of spatial hearing requires the neural network to be able to distinguish time difference of tens of microseconds. The particular mechanisms of neural coding differ in various animal species. It has been experimentally shown that *temporal code* (in the form of spike latency) is used in some invertebrates [1] while topographic code is used in some birds (in the form of *delay lines* [2]). The code used in mammals is a matter of controversy since no clear evidence for delay lines was shown. Moreover experiments on small mammals show that the interaural time *difference* tuning curves of the critical binaural neurons are shifted so that the slope part of the curve covers physiological range of the animal [3]. This type of so-called *slope code*, encodes particular value of azimuth into particular value of firing rate. We model the stochastic circuit, which uses this coding scheme and ask how the noise present in the spiking mechanism influences the overall time, which the circuit needs for reliable estimate of the sound source azimuth. For measuring this time we use ideal observer methodology [4] and estimate the time needed by single binaural neuron to reach the perceptual decision, see Figure 1. This figure shows a perceptual decision measure in dependence on the standard deviation of the spike time, for short called the jitter, which is a noise inherent in the neural circuit.



Figure 1: **The jitter value determines the time needed for the perceptual decision.** Parameters of the exponential function were fitted (dotted line) to the last passage time dependency on the spike timing jitter values obtained by the computer simulation of the mammalian sound location neural circuit (solid line).

Parallelism further helps to lower the noise. We have discussed in [4] that in comparison to only single neuron, sensory neural processing is faster when several neurons of the same nucleus are used. The parallelism in the auditory pathway is ubiquitous, from periphery up to higher processing

relays, and the parallel fibers also converge on higher order neurons. For example the level of noise is lowered due to convergence in avian nucleus magnocellularis [5]. The conditions for both enlargement and diminution of jitter due to convergence are given in [6].

The desirable effect is lowering the spike timing jitter. Optimal level of the jitter must exist, since zero jitter would not allow the stochastic neural computation (and is not possible in the real biological system anyway) and high values of jitter peturb the incoming signal so its decoding is no more possible. The jitter level attained by given neurons is one of the key parameters influencing the performance of the sound location circuit as a whole, therefore its values in the mammalian circuit are worth of close investigation.

It is known from the human psychophysics that the just noticeable difference of azimuth accuracy in the mid line is $\pm 2^{\circ}$. The variable shown in Figure 1 (the last passage time) in dependence on the jitter values denotes how long time does the simulated azimuth accuracy take before it enters (lastly passages into) the $\pm 2^{\circ}$ reference interval mentioned above. This way we relate the neural computation and its code to human perception.

Keywords: auditory brainstem, ideal observer, medial superior olive, stochastic interpolation model, sound location neural circuit, sound source azimuth

- [1] Mason A.C., Oshinsky M.L., Hoy, R.R. (2001) Hyperacute directional hearing in a microscale auditory system. *Nature*, **410**: 686–690.
- [2] Carr C, Konishi M (1990) A circuit for detection of interaural time differences in the brain stem of the barn owl. *Journal of Neuroscience*, **10**: 3227–3246.
- [3] McAlpine D, Jiang D, Palmer AR (2001) A neural code for low-frequency sound localization in mammals. *Nature Neuroscience*, **4**: 396–401.
- [4] Sanda, P., Marsalek, P. (2012) Interpolation stochastic model of neural circuit in the medial superior olive. *Brain Research*, **1434**: 257–265.
- [5] Fukui I, Sato T, Ohmori H (2006) Improvement of phase information at low sound frequency in nucleus magnocellularis of the chicken. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, **96**: 633–641.
- [6] Reed M., Blum J., Mitchell C. (2002) Precision of neural timing: Effects of convergence and time-windowing. *Journal of Computational Neuroscience*, **13**: 35–47.

Synchronization of stochastic neuronal networks

Lutz Schimansky-Geier Institute of Physics and Bernstein Center for Computational Neuroscience Humboldt-University, Berlin, Germany alsg@physik.hu-berlin.de

Synchronization is an universal phenomenon in networks of coupled neuronal units and induces a large scaled coherent rhythmic spiking. I will concentrate in my talk on the influence of noise in the dynamics, on effects of network-disorder and network-correlations on the neural activity, and on modifications arising from a delayed interactions between the stochastic neurons. For all these topics paradigmatic models for phases of the neurons are introduced and will be investigated. Outgoing from the stochastic dynamics of the ensemble of neurons, I formulate nonlinear balance equations for the mean phases and study them by bifurcation theory. In dependence on noise intensity, strength of disorder and of correlations and mean delay time conditions for synchronizations are elaborated. Computer simulations support the findings, but show also the limitations of the made approximations in certain cases as will be discussed in the talk.

- [1] T. Prager, M. Falcke, L. Schimansky-Geier, and M. A. Zaks (2007) Non-Markovian approach to globally coupled excitable systems, *Phys. Rev. E* **76**: 011118
- [2] Nikos Kouvaris, Felix Müller and Lutz Schimansky-Geier (2010) Ensembles of excitable twostate units with delayed feedback, *Phys. Rev. E* **82**: 061124
- [3] Bernard Sonnenschein and Lutz Schimansky-Geier (2012) Onset of synchronization in complex networks of noisy oscillators, *Phys. Rev. E* 82: 051116

Order patterns networks (ORPAN) - Concept and applications

Stefan Schinkel Department of Physics, Department of Psychology, HU Berlin, Germany schinkel@physik.hu-berlin.de http://people.physik.hu-berlin.de/~schinkel

Gorka Zamora-López Bernstein Center for Computational Neuroscience (BCCN), Germany

> Olaf Dimigen, Werner Sommer Department of Psychology, HU Berlin, Germany

Jürgen Kurths Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research (PIK),Germany Department of Physics, HU Berlin, Germany

Complex networks provide an excellent framework for studying the function of the human brain on a variety of scales, from the interaction of single neurons to the activation of large cortical areas. Plenty of studies have recently shown the merit of a graph-theoretical approach to better understand brain functions [1]. A basic problem for this approach is that estimating functional networks from measured signals of brain activity is far from being trivial, especially if the data is non-stationary and noisy, as is often the case with physiological recordings. In particular, two decisions have to be made : First, one has to decide which measure to use for estimating the functional connectivity between the individual components of the network (nodes). The choice defines the nature of the dynamic interactions considered as a functional connection. Usually this step gives a real valued all-to-all functional connectivity matrix between all nodes. Second, a threshold has to be applied to convert the real-valued similarity matrix into a binary matrix representing the functional graph. Thresholding is necessary to distinguish true functional relationships between nodes from links that appear only by chance.

Here we introduce an efficient method to estimate time evolving functional networks from multivariate data. The concept we employ are order patterns, which provide a symbolic representation of a real valued time series that represents the local rank structure of a given time series. Order patterns have been shown to be suitable for short and non-stationary data [2]. An advantage of this approach is that it replaces the notion of similarity by that of identity in defining a functional link between two nodes, abolishing the need to decide for a threshold that classifies the (correlation) values as *high enough* to be considered as a functional link; a step that is prone to arbitrary choices.

We demonstrate the potentials of this approach with model data as well as experimental data from an electrophysiological study on language processing.

Keywords: functional networks, network reconstruction, order patterns, EEG/ERP

- [1] G. Zamora-López, C. Zhou, and J. Kurths, "Exploring brain function from anatomical connectivity," *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, vol. 5, p. 83, 2011.
- [2] S. Schinkel, N. Marwan, and J. Kurths, "Order patterns recurrence plots in the analysis of ERP data," *Cognitive Neurodynamics*, vol. 1, no. 4, pp. 317–325, 2007.

Inferring nonstationary input activities from non-Poisson firing of a neuron

Shigeru Shinomoto Department of Physics, Kyoto University Sakyo-ku Kyoto, 606-8502 Japan shinomoto@scphys.kyoto-u.ac.jp http://www.ton.scphys.kyoto-u.ac.jp/~shino/english.html

The cerebral cortex has been classified according to the cytoarchitectonics, reflecting the structure and organization of cortical tissue. The cytoarchitectonically divided areas were found to have the different functions. Recently, we collected neuronal signals recorded from individual cortical areas and investigated their non-Poisson irregularity. It turned out that neuronal firing irregularity does not vary significantly in time for each neuron but varies among neurons in a manner strongly correlated to cortical functions; neuronal firing patterns are regular in motor areas, random in the visual areas, and bursty in the prefrontal area [1]. Because spikes are originally determined by the signals that have been delivered to individual neurons, it may be possible to inquire into the input signals that have generated such firing patterns. Though problems of estimating inputs from output signals are generally ill-posed, a large number of randomly arriving input spikes make it possible to extract some information from an output spike train; a number of irregular synaptic inputs result in uncorrelated fluctuations with means and amplitudes that can be translated into the activities of presynaptic excitatory and inhibitory neuronal populations. Mathematical methods of estimating inputs from output firing pattern have been developed on the assumption that presynaptic neuronal activities are constant over time [2]. We proposed tracking temporal variations in input parameters comprising the mean and the amplitude of uncorrelated fluctuations [3]. I first review the methods for gauging the non-Poisson irregularity from a spike train [4], and then, discuss the method of transforming the information of firing patterns back to the activities of presynaptic excitatory and inhibitory neuron populations.

Keywords: neuronal firing pattern, non-Poisson, estimating inputs.

- [1] Shinomoto, S., Kim, H., Shimokawa, T., Matsuno, N., Funahashi, S., et al. (2009) Relating neuronal firing patterns to functional differentiation of cerebral cortex. *PLoS Comput Biol*, **5**: e1000433.
- [2] Lansky, P. and Ditlevsen, S. (2008) A review of the methods for signal estimation in stochastic diffusion leaky integrate-and-fire neuronal models. *Biol Cybern*, **99**: 253–262.
- [3] Kim, H. and Shinomoto, S. (2012) Estimating Nonstationary Input Signals from a Single Neuronal Spike Train. *Under review*.
- [4] Shimokawa, T. and Shinomoto, S. (2009) Estimating instantaneous irregularity of neuronal firing. *Neural Comput*, **21**: 1931–1951.

Slope-based suprathreshold stochastic resonance in populations of phasic neurons due to intrinsic ion channel noise

Brett Schmerl, Daniel E. Padilla and Mark D. McDonnell Computational and Theoretical Neuroscience Laboratory, Institute for Telecommunications Research, University of South Australia Building W, Mawson Lakes Campus, Mawson Lakes, SA 5095, Australia mark.mcdonnell@unisa.edu.au

Ion channel noise can non-trivially affect spiking patterns [1]. However, whether channel noise can give rise to noise-enhanced neural processing [2] is unclear, as it has received relatively little attention in this context compared with synaptic noise. An exception is recent simulations [3] of a population of Hodgkin-Huxley models. This work revealed that a noise-enhancing effect called suprathreshold stochastic resonance (SSR) [4] can be observed in the population model, solely due to channel noise, as modelled by Markov-chain techniques that track the state of every channel.

We have therefore investigated (i) whether other forms of such stochastic facilitation [2] can be observed due to ion-channel noise models; and (ii) whether new efficient stochastic differential equation (SDE) approximations to channel noise [5] are accurate for such simulations. Specifically, we replaced current noise with channel noise in a model of phasically firing neurons that exhibits a noise-enhancing effect called slope-based stochastic resonance (SBSR), i.e. noise enables firing in response to slowly varying inputs [6]. We found that SBSR persists for a broad range of patch areas.

However, our main result is to show that SSR and SBSR can be combined to form a new noiseenhanced coding effect due that we label 'slope-based suprathreshold stochastic resonance.' This result suggests intrinsic channel noise might be exploited in-vivo to enable phasic population responses to robustly encode slowly varying signals. Although our study used channel noise, the same effect would likely be observed with synaptic or injected current noise.

Keywords: Phasic neuron, ion channel noise, slope encoding.

- [1] A. A. Faisal and S. B. Laughlin. Stochastic simulations on the reliability of action potential propagation in thin axons. *PLOS Computational Biology*, 3:e79, 2007.
- [2] M. D. McDonnell and L. M. Ward. The benefits of noise in neural systems: bridging theory and experiment. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 12:415–426, 2011.
- [3] G. Ashida and M. Kubo. Suprathreshold stochastic resonance induced by ion channel fluctuation. *Physica D*, 239:327–334, 2010.
- [4] M. D. McDonnell, N. G. Stocks, C. E. M. Pearce, and D. Abbott. Stochastic Resonance: From Suprathreshold Stochastic Resonance to Stochastic Signal Quantisation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 2008.
- [5] J. H. Goldwyn, N. S. Imennov, M. Famulare, and E. Shea-Brown. Stochastic differential equation models for ion channel noise in Hodgkin-Huxley neurons. *Physical Review E*, 83:041908, 2011.
- [6] Y. Gai, B. Doiron, and J. Rinzel. Slope-based stochastic resonance: How noise enables phasic neurons to encode slow signals. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 6:e1000825, 2010.

Analysis of non-renewal spiking in neuron models with adaptation

Tilo Schwalger Bernstein-Center for Computational Neuroscience, Humboldt-University, Berlin tilo.schwalger@bccn-berlin.de

Spike-frequency adaptation is a common feature of many neurons and has a large impact on sensory information processing. Spike-triggered adaptation currents lead to an intricate neuronal dynamics with a stationary firing statistics that cannot be described by a renewal model. This is most prominently revealed by negative correlations between interspike intervals, which have been frequently measured in adapting neurons, both in experiments and model simulations. The link between adaptation and non-renewal spiking statistics, such as the serial correlation coefficient of interspike intervals (ISIs), is, however, still poorly understood theoretically. In my talk, I will present a theoretical analysis of simple models with adaptation that can be solved analytical. In particular, expressions for the ISI distribution, the serial correlation coefficient, and the power spectrum will be derived, which explain many of the observed non-renewal features. For the supra-threshold regime (limit cycle spiking), I will demonstrate how weak-noise approximation techniques can be used to calculate the stationary statistics for arbitrary adaptation strength and arbitrary time constants. In particular, perturbation theory is used to study how deviations from the limit cycle due to noise propagate from spike to spike. Moreover, the Fokker-Planck equation can be solved in the neighborhood of the limit cycle, which yields the stationary voltage distribution as well as the distribution of the adaptation current upon firing events. Finally, I address the problem of serial correlations in neurons operating in the subthreshold regime. To this end, an escape rate approch based on a Markovian dynamics of a discrete adaptation variable yields an exactly solvable case providing a theory for negative ISI correlations in fluctuation-driven neurons.

(Leaky) Integrate and Fire models can be coincidence detectors

Roberta Sirovich Department of Mathematics 'G.Peano', University of Torino Via Carlo Alberto 10, Torino, Italy roberta.sirovich@unito.it http://www.dm.unito.it/personalpages/sirovich/

Luisa Testa Department of Mathematics 'G.Peano', University of Torino Via Carlo Alberto 10, Torino, Italy testa_luisa@libero.it

Laura Sacerdote Department of Mathematics 'G.Peano', University of Torino Via Carlo Alberto 10, Torino, Italy laura.sacerdote@unito.it http://www.dm.unito.it/personalpages/sacerdote/

Integrate and Fire models, as well as Leaky Integrate and Fire models, are generally considered a good and simple tool to describe the membrane potential dynamics of a single neuron. Their use to investigate the neural code has helped the interpretation of many features, such as the role of noise in signal transmission. They can qualitatevily reproduce experimental data and, in some instances, fit the observations quantitatively.

Despite their success, their study was mainly qualitative up to recent years. The development of statistical techniques for the estimation of their parameters is quite recent. Furthermore it is mainly focused on the parameters appearing in the drift and diffusion coefficients. The estimation of the firing threshold value presents difficulties. Indeed, the observation of experimental intracellular recordings shows that the membrane potential may cross the threshold level several times before an action potential is generated.

This fact suggests changing the spiking mechanism typical of (Leaky) Integrate-and-Fire models. Here we do not identify the spike time with the first passage time of the process describing the membrane potential dynamics through a threshold. We study a modified version of the (Leaky) Integrate-and-Fire neuron model where a spike is generated whenever the membrane potential remains without interruptions above the threshold level within a period of time after crossing. Hence the firing time is not defined by an instantaneous crossing of the level, but depends on the behavior of the membrane potential on a prescribed window.

The proposed spiking mechanism enhances the range of behaviors of the modeled neuron. Contrary to the (Leaky) Integrate-and-fire models, the neuron with the new firing definition behaves both as an integrator and as a coincidence detector, depending on the width of the introduced window.

Keywords: Leaky Integrate and Fire model, Threshold mechanism, Integrator, Detector.

Transmission efficiency in the brain-like neuronal networks. Information and energetic aspects

Janusz Szczepanski Institute of Fundamental Technological Research, Polish Academy of Sciences Warsaw, Pawinskiego 5B, Poland jszczepa@ippt.gov.pl www.ippt.gov.pl/~jszczepa/

Bartosz Paprocki Institute of Mechanics and Applied Computer Science, Kazimierz Wielki University Bydgoszcz, Kopernika 1, Poland bartekp@ukw.edu.pl

Biological systems evolve as compromises and many of them can be expressed in terms of energy efficiency [1, 2]. Inspired by brain network architecture we analyze the communication channels composed of the main brain ingredients. We study the information-energetic transmission efficiency of such neuronal networks. The Shannon Information Theory is applied and the fundamental concept of this theory, Mutual Information between input and output signals is estimated with high accuracy. The entropy estimator is that of high quality proposed in [3] and the encoded information were of 10^6 bits long to reach high accuracy. The model of neuron considered is that in the spirit of probabilistic approach proposed by [1] and further explored in [4].

The network constitutes from *nodes* each of them being a pair *excitatory* neuron and corresponding *inhibitory* one. The nodes are distributed uniformly over the circle (Fig. 1). Each node is connected with neighboring nodes and additionally the nodes can be connected through *long-range connections*. Source signals are modeled by Bernoulli process (*spike* or *no-spike*) and they can support excitatory neurons only. We study a variety of complementary architectures (Fig. 1). The following parameters affect the effectiveness of this communication system: Source parameter – firing rate f_r , entropy h; Neuron parameters – synaptic failure s, threshold activation g, inhibitory level of dumping b, number of synapses l; Network parameters – size r, number of nodes n. We assume that most energy is consumed by spikes. Thus, with Mutual Information for a given neuron denoted by MI, we analyze the information-energetic formula:

$$\Lambda(b) = \max_{g} \left(\frac{\max_{(s,f_r)} MI(s,f_r,b,g)}{\vartheta(s^0,f_r^0)} \right),$$

where $\vartheta(s, f_r)$ is equal to $s \cdot (nf_r + bf_I + \sum_w f_w)$, $s \cdot (bf_I + \sum_w f_w)$, $s \cdot \sum_w f_w$ for with- and without access to the source and for inhibitor, respectively. $\vartheta(s^0, f_r^0)$ are the values maximizing *MI*. The denominator is proportional to the number of spikes actually used to transfer information. The role of inhibitors, long-range connections and size-delay effects are studied and information-energetic optimal parameters are determined.



Figure 1: *Brain-like* neural architectures we studied. Each one has five nodes and source of size l = 3. **A**, a *symmetric* case. **B**, E_2 has no access to the source of information. **C**, symmetric case with added *long-range* connection from E_2 to E_5 . **D**, a combination of B and C.



Figure 2: A, illustration of inhibition influence. B, size effects. C, long-range connection role.

Inhibitors influence: Parameter b, being a ratio of inhibitory neurons' strength in relation to excitatory neurons' strength, affects every signal that I neuron sends forward. If b = 0, then amplitude of every inhibition signal is reset to zero as if I neurons had completely no effect on the structure's behavior. The bigger the b is, the more potent inhibition signals are in relation to excitatory ones. If b = 1 then both types of neurons react with the same strength. It turned out that inhibitors can strength the effectiveness of transmission even by 50 percent (Fig. 2A).

Size effects: The most important effect of the size increase is a delay in transferring the information. Therefore it was expected that the transmission is most efficient for smaller size, i.e. for r = 1 (r is radius of the circle) but surprisingly further increase of the size (r = 2, 3, 4) does not change effectiveness significantly (Fig. 2B). We also observe that a two times increase of the size can cause even three times decrease of the information-energetic efficiency.

Long-range connections role: We observe that long-range connection can lead to improve target neuron's information-energetic efficiency significantly (even by 70 percent) if the neuron starting it has no access to the source of the stimuli. If the connection originates from neuron that has such access, it can bring a 40 percent loss to the target neuron's efficiency (Fig. 2C) – however this connection increases the efficiencies of starting neuron and neurons neighboring target neuron by up to 24 percent.

Conclusions: Our research shows, both through qualitative and quantitative results, that the brainlike networks significantly improve the information-energetic transmission efficiency.

Acknowledgments: This paper has been supported by NCN grant N N519 646540.

Keywords: Neuronal Communication, Brain-like Network, Shannon Theory.

- [1] Levy, W.B., Baxter, R.A. (2002) Energy-efficient neuronal computation via quantal synaptic failures, *The Journal of Neuroscience*, **22**: 4746–4755.
- [2] Sejnowski, T.J., van Hemmen, J.L. (2006) *23 problems in systems neuroscience*. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- [3] Strong, S.P., Koberle, R., de Ruyter van Steveninck, R.R., Bialek, W. (1998) Entropy and information in neural spike trains, *Physical Review Letters*, **80**: 3197–200.
- [4] Paprocki, B., Szczepanski, J. (2011) Efficiency of neural transmission as a function of synaptic noise, threshold, and source characteristics, *BioSystems*, **105(1)**: 62–72.

Identification of noisy response latency in presence of a background signal

Massimiliano Tamborrino Department of Mathematical Sciences Universitetsparken 5, 2100, Copenhagen, Denmark mt@math.ku.dk www.math.ku.dk/~mt

Susanne Ditlevsen Department of Mathematical Sciences Universitetsparken 5, 2100, Copenhagen, Denmark susanne@math.ku.dk www.math.ku.dk/~susanne

Petr Lansky Institute of Physiology, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic Videnska 1083, 142 20 Prague 4, Czech Republic lansky@biomed.cas.cz www2.biomed.cas.cz/~lansky

In many biological systems, an applied input (stimulation) has an impact on the output (response). If the response can only be observed on top of an un-distinguishable background signal, the estimation of the response can be highly unreliable, unless the background signal is accounted for in the analysis [1].

Such estimation becomes even more unreliable if there is a delay in the response to the stimulus. In fact, if the background activity is ignored, however small it is compared to the response activity, and however large is the delay, the estimate of the time delay will go to zero for any reasonable estimator when increasing the number of observations [2].

Here we propose non-parametric and parametric estimators for the time delay and the response latency, defined as the inter-time between the onset of an input and the output. These estimators are compared on simulated data. Theoretical results on the response latency are also presented.

This problem is described in the context of information transfer within a neural system, more specifically on spike trains from single neurons. However, the proposed technique can be applied to other biological system where one is interested in the estimation of the response to a stimulus.

Keywords: Response latency, background signal, point processes.

- [1] Pawlas, Z., Klebanov, L. B., Beneš, V., Prokešová, M., Popelář, J. and Lánský, P. (2010), First-Spike Latency in the Presence of Spontaneous Activity, *Neural Computation*, Vol. 22, 7: 1675– 1697.
- [2] Tamborrino, M., Ditlevsen, S. and Lansky, P. (2012), Identification of noisy noisy response latency, Submitted.

Modeling the Relations between Neuronal Membrane Potentials, Ion Currents and Ion Channel Dynamics

Aubin Tchaptchet Philipps University of Marburg, Institute of Physiology and Pathophysiology, AG Neurodynamics Deutschhausstrasse 2, 35037 Marburg Germany Aubin.tchaptchet@googlemail.com

Svetlana Postnova Complex Systems Group, School of Physics, The University of Sydney, Physics Annex, A29, NSW 2006, Australia Centre for Integrated Research and Understanding of Sleep, The University of Sydney, Glebe Point Rd, 431, NSW 2037, Australia postnova@physics.usyd.edu.au

Martin T. Huber Klinik für Psychiatrie, Psychotherapie und Psychosomatik, Elbe Klinikum Stade, Bremervörderstrasse 111, 21682 Stade Germany Martin.Huber@elbekliniken.de

Hans A. Braun Philipps University of Marburg, Institute of Physiology and Pathophysiology, AG Neurodynamics Deutschhausstrasse 2, 35037 Marburg Germany braun@staff-uni.marburg.de http://www.uni-marburg.de/fb20/physiologie/ags/braun

Different types of modeling approaches are used for the examination of neural coding and brain dynamics. The physiologically most realistic modeling strategy is the Hodgkin-Huxley type approach [1]. Unfortunately, when facing larger scale problems the original Hodgkin-Huxley (HH)-type algorithms soon become unhandy and even have been considered as "computationally prohibitive" [2]. Accordingly, a diversity of simplified approaches has been developed, especially in the biophysics community, like the widely used Fitzhugh-Nagumo model. With such simplifications, however, the direct relation of the models' variables and control parameters to the physiological mechanisms are often sacrificed.

By contrast, our simplifications of the original HH equations have been introduced with focus on actually most relevant experimental and clinical measures [3]. As an example, the complicated and unhandy equations for the calculation of voltage dependent rate constants in the original HH-model have been omitted. Voltage dependencies of (in-)activation time constants can anyhow by neglected. The precise shape of an action potential, nowadays, is of minor interest. Especially, in agreement with conventional presentation of experimental data, the steady state voltage-dependencies of the ionic conductances can be given by easy adjustable Boltzmann functions. Nevertheless, whenever it is required, ion channel rate constants can be considered. These interdependencies, again, can be implemented in a simpler and easy adjustable way, i.e. by single exponential curves with unit values at the half activation voltage of the Boltzmann function.

The figure illustrates these relations, noteworthy, by means of teaching tools (www.clabs.de) that are widely used in medical and other life-science faculties. While the original equations, especially for the rate constants, are difficult to interpret, all curves of the actual version are reflecting actual measures as they are described in conventional physiology textbooks. The same strategy of simplified but physiologically justified simulations has been used for the implementation of a conductance based HH-type model of a chemical synapse. In this case, the focus was laid on clinically relevant drug effects [4]. In any case, the most important point is that the model is adjusted to the specific task and refers to the physiologically and/or clinically relevant measures. Hodgkin and Huxley, 60 years ago (www.cnsorg.org/hodgkin-huxley60), have provided an explanation for action potential generation and conduction in the squid giant axon with exceptional success,

However, the main reason for the enormous impact of their work in neurophysiology and beyond was the introduction of a revolutionary new concept that turned out to be physiologically appropriate and extraordinarily flexible for successful adjustment to other tasks, allowing simplifications where possible and extensions whenever required.

For the K⁺-channel, additionally the relations between the sigmoid activation curve and accordingly adjusted exponential voltage dependencies of transition rates between open and closed states are shown (d). Black dots indicate the relative open times (p) at different voltages (V) as obtained from 40 ms simulations runs as shown by only a few examples in (e). The exponential curves of opening and closing probabilities p_o and p_c (given per ms) are implemented symmetrically to the half activation potential of the sigmoid activation curve with a = 0.11 and b = (-)0.035.

Keywords: Hodgkin-Huxley-model, Boltzmann function, transition rate.

- Hodgkin A.L. and Huxley A.F. (1952) A quantitative description of membrane current and its application to conduction and excitation in nerve, *J. Physiol.* 17: 500–544
- [2] Izhikevich, E.M. (2003) Simple model of spiking neurons, *IEEE Trans. Neural Netw.* 14: 1569–1572
- [3] Postnova S., Finke C., Huber M.T., Voigt K., Braun H.A. (2011): Conductance-Based Models of Neurons and Synapses for the Evaluation of Brain Functions, Disorders and Drug Effects. In: *Biosimulation in Biomedical Research, Health Care and Drug Development.*, Eds.: E. Mosekilde, O. Sosnovtseva, A. Rostami-Hodjegan. Springer, Wien New York, pp.93–126
- [4] Postnova S, Rosa E, Braun HA (2010): Neurones and Synapses for Systemic Models of Psychiatric Disorders, *Pharmacopsychiatry* **43**: S82–S91



Figure 1: The model generates action potentials (a) on the basis of different first order time delays (b) and sigmoid voltage dependencies (c) of fast Na⁺-channel activation followed by Na⁺-inactivation and slower K⁺-channel activation. For numerical values see [3] or www.clabs.de.
Understanding disordered topography of auditory cortex through natural sound statistics

Hiroki Terashima The University of Tokyo / JSPS 701 Kibantou, 5-1-5 Kashiwanoha, Kashiwa, Chiba 277-8561, Japan teratti@teratti.jp http://mns.k.u-tokyo.ac.jp/~hterashima/

Masato Okada The University of Tokyo / RIKEN BSI 701 Kibantou, 5-1-5 Kashiwanoha, Kashiwa, Chiba 277-8561, Japan okada@k.u-tokyo.ac.jp http://mns.k.u-tokyo.ac.jp/

Recent imaging techniques have revealed a qualitative difference between primary sensory cortices. As neighbouring neurons of the primary visual cortex (V1) specifically respond to light stimuli presented at similarly localized areas of the eye field, its principal topography, called retinotopy, is smooth. By contrast, the topography of the primary auditory cortex (A1), the tonotopy, is disordered [1]. This discrepancy appears to be inconsistent with the canonical model of the neocortex.

We hypothesize that V1 and A1 still use a common coding strategy and that it produces the dissimilar topographies by adapting to their inputs of contrastive statistics. Adaptation to natural image statistics has successfully explained the response properties of V1 neurons [2] and even their smooth topography [3], whereas this line of research has been limited to A1. We focused on how their natural inputs statistically differ: natural images show only local correlations, while natural sounds typically exhibit correlations between distant frequencies. Learning of the non-local statistics might result in topography dissimilar to that of V1.

To test the hypothesis, we used natural sounds as the input to a model that has been previously proposed for the smooth topography of V1, topographic independent component analysis [3], whose input was originally natural images. Learning of natural images, as reported, resulted in a smooth topography similar to V1, whereas the same algorithm applied to natural sounds exhibited a more disordered topography due to natural sound statistics that have distant correlations. This A1 model adapted to natural sounds predicted that the disorder might not be totally random: frequency selectivities of neighbouring neurons would be biased toward being harmonic. Furthermore, non-linear responses similar to pitch selectivity were found in the model's second layer, which originally modelled the complex cells of V1. These results suggest that V1 and A1 exhibit dissimilar topographies owing to the difference of inputs, even though they share an adaptive coding strategy. *Keywords:* Tonotopy, Primary auditory cortex, Topographic independent component analysis.

- [1] Bandyopadhyay, S., Shamma, S. A. and Kanold, P. O. (2010) Dichotomy of functional organization in the mouse auditory cortex. *Nature Neuroscience*, **13**: 361–368.
- [2] Olshausen, B. A. and Field, D. J. (1996) Emergence of simple-cell receptive field properties by learning a sparse code for natural images. *Nature*, **381**: 607–609.
- [3] Hyvärinen, A., Hoyer, P. O. and Inki, M. (2001) Topographic independent component analysis. *Neural Computation*, **13**: 1527–1558.

Analysis of synaptic action in stochastic interpolation model of the auditory brainstem

Peter G. Toth¹ and Petr Marsalek^{1,2}

¹Charles University in Prague, First Medical Faculty Department of Pathological Physiology, U nemocnice 5, CZ-128 53, Praha 2, Czech Republic peter.gabriel.toth@gmail.com

²Faculty of Biomedical Engineering, Czech Technical University Nam. Sitna 3105, CZ-272 01 Kladno, Czech Republic petr.marsalek@lf1.cuni.cz

Background: Mammals are able to localize sound sources with high accuracy. There exist multiple mechanisms of sound azimuth perception in neural circuits of various animals [4]. All the mechanisms must use one neuron as coincidence detector. In previous work, the model of the first binaural neuron as a stochastic coincidence detector has been introduced [5]. The neural fiber delay line is not the only way, how is the brainstem neural circuit computation implemented. Another plausible way of neural computation is the stochastic interpolation mechanism realized by the synaptic circuitry [6].

We describe in detail selected synaptic characteristics of the first binaural neuron. This neuron is in mammals in the nucleus of the medial superior olive. This is the first neuron from the periphery receiving post-synaptic potentials from both sides.



Figure 1: Spike generation in dependence on the time delay.

The narrower curve (thick line) shows the firing probability in a full model with both excitation and inhibition. The broader bell-shaped curve (thin line) shows the output in response to the excitatory input only (with the inhibition disconnected, in analogy to animal experiments abolishing inhibition). Vertical lines show the widths of time windows used for the coincidence detection. The parameters of the neuron model are described in the text. Note that both axes are shown in normalized, dimensionless arbitrary units.

Model: In the presented model, summation of synaptic potentials is expressed in analytical form using formulas for the time course of excitatory and inhibitory post-synaptic potentials, we call them activations for short. The model neuron is the generalized perfect integrate-and-fire model. When the sum of the post-synaptic potentials exceeds the threshold, neuron fires an action potential and its membrane potential is reset back to the resting state. The time range during which the action

potential is generated is calculated using inversion function of the time course of the sum of all the activations.

Several formulas describing synaptic activations exist, namely alpha-function, double exponential and kinetic model, ordered from the simplest to the most complex. The double exponential proved to be the most suitable for our calculations with the inversion function, therefore we use it. In the full description of the model circuit, both excitations and inhibitions are used.

Results: We use typical parameter values based on the fitting and exploration of experimental data [4, 7]. The rise times (leading edges) last typically in order of one millisecond. This compares well with typical maximum interaural time difference, which is for example in gerbil about 330 μ s [4]. We express the threshold height normalized by the maximum activation amplitude. This way we have no free parameter left. Both the deterministic and stochastic analytical calculations with the model show that the neural computing with post-synaptic potentials is essential for the mechanisms implemented by this neural circuit. Figure 1 shows comparison of the full model with the model with excitation only. This figure well compares to experimental results discussed in [1, 4].

Conclusions: The model is consistent with data acquired in electro-physiological experiments [1]. An analytical calculation using the Laplace transform was used to obtain similar activation curves [3]. Calculation with delays gives comparable results obtained with the use of the concept of neuronal arithmetic [2, 6].

Keywords: Medial superior olive, Stochastic interpolation model, Excitatory and inhibitory post-synaptic potentials.

Acknowledgments: Supported by SVV 264507/ 2012 by the Charles University in Prague and by MPO FR-TI3 /869 by the Ministry of Industry and Trade of the Czech Republic. Thanks to Jiri Kofranek.

- [1] Brand, A., Behrend O., Marquardt T., McAlpine D., Grothe, B. (2002) Precise inhibition is essential for microsecond interaural time difference coding. *Nature* **417**: 543–547.
- [2] Bures, Z. (2012) The stochastic properties of input spike trains control neuronal arithmetic. *Biol Cybern* **106(2)**: 111–122.
- [3] Drapal, M., Marsalek, P. (2011) Stochastic model explains role of excitation and inhibition in binaural sound localization in mammals. *Physiol Res* **60(3)**: 573–583.
- [4] Grothe, B. (2003) New roles for synaptic inhibition in sound localization. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, **4(7)**: 540–550.
- [5] Marsalek P. (2001) Neural code for sound localization at low frequencies. *Neurocomputing* **38**: 1443–1452.
- [6] Marsalek, P., Lansky, P. (2005) Proposed mechanisms for coincidence detection in the auditory brainstem. *Biol Cybern* **92(6)**: 445–451.
- [7] Sanda P., Marsalek, P. (2012) Simulation study of a virtual ideal observer of the auditory brainstem. *Neural Coding 2012 Abstract Book*, this issue.

Very Slow Synchronization and Variability of Interspike Intervals in a Globally Coupled Neuronal Oscillators

Ryotaro Tsuneki Graduate School of Engineering, Kyoto University Kyoto 615-8510, Japan tneki716@rotary.kuee.kyoto-u.ac.jp

Shinji Doi Graduate School of Engineering, Kyoto University Kyoto 615-8510, Japan doi@kuee.kyoto-u.ac.jp

Junko Inoue Kyoto Koka Women's University Kyoto 615-0882, Japan jdoi@mail.koka.ac.jp

Abstract

Using the three-dimensional Bonhoeffer-van der Pol (BVP) equations, the dynamics of globally coupled neuronal oscillators is examined. There are interesting phenomena such as very slow phase-locked oscillations (compared with the inherent period of each uncoupled neuronal oscillator) and the death of all oscillations. We show that this slow synchronization is mainly caused by the existence of "fast" oscillators. The variability of interspike intervals (ISI's) and noise effects on the spiking are also studied.

Introduction

In order to clarify how the spiking and biological rhythm are regulated in a network of neurons, a population of globally coupled neuronal oscillators was studied [1] using the Hodgkin-Huxley (HH) equations [2] as a model of single neuronal oscillator. In this coupled system, it was shown that the neuronal oscillators presented a very slow phase-locked or synchronized oscillation compared with the inherent period of each uncoupled neuronal oscillator. The generation mechanism of these phenomena, however, has not been clarified yet.

In this study, a population of globally coupled neuronal oscillators is analyzed using the threedimensional BVP equations [3, 4] which are much simpler single neuron model than the HH equations. Similarly to the case of the HH equations, there are interesting phenomena such as very slow phase-locked oscillation and the death of all oscillators. We investigate the generation mechanism of these global oscillations.

A population of globally coupled neuronal oscillators

Let us consider a population of the extended (three-dimensional) BVP oscillators globally coupled through a common buffer (a mean field) [1, 5]:

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = x_i - \frac{x_i^3}{3} - y_i - z_i + I_{\text{ext}} + D(w - x_i),$$
(1a)

$$\frac{dy_i}{dt} = \eta(x_i - ay_i),\tag{1b}$$

$$\frac{dz_i}{dt} = \varepsilon_i (x_i - bz_i), \quad \varepsilon_i \ll 1,$$
(1c)

$$\frac{dw}{dt} = \frac{D'}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} (x_i - w), \quad (i = 1, ..., N)$$
(1d)

137

where x_i corresponds to the membrane potential and y_i is the refractory (or inhibitory) variable of the *i*-th neuron. z_i also denotes a refractory variable, but its dynamics is supposed to be much slower than that of y_i . The variable *w* denotes the mean field of the neuronal population, and the parameters *D* and *D'* (for the sake of simplicity, we suppose $D \equiv D'$ hereafter) denote the coupling strength between each neuron and the mean field.

When D = 0 in eq. (1), this system becomes a population of uncoupled BVP oscillators. Because the slow variable z_i is added to the original (two-dimensional) BVP equations [6] (or FitzHugh-Nagumo (FHN) equations [7]), we can see peculiar phenomena such as chaos and very slow spiking in the single neuron model [4].

Local stability of the equilibrium point and slow synchronization

If the coupling coefficient *D* is large enough, the population of oscillators show synchronizations or phase-locked oscillations. The ISI or the period of such synchronized oscillations is around the single oscillator's inherent period at first, but it grows up abruptly for the increase of *D*. If *D* is increased further, the slow phase-locked oscillation terminates and the equilibrium point becomes stable through the Hopf bifurcation. Therefore, we suspect that the "local" stability of the equilibrium point has a certain relevance to the slow synchronized oscillation, although the synchronized oscillation is a "global" behavior. Although the size of the Jacobian matrix of eq. (1) at the equilibrium point is very large: $(3N + 1) \times (3N + 1)$, the analysis of its eigenvalues can be reduced to that of lower dimensional matrices[5]. From this analysis, we found the fact that "fast" oscillators are important for the emergence of very slow synchronization.

Variability of interspike intervals and noise effects

In the presence of noise, the single (three-dimensional) BVP neuronal model shows various interesting behavior such as noise-induced acceleration and deceleration and various ISI's variability. We also study the noise effects on the synchronization and the ISI variability in the globally coupled neuronal population.

- [1] K. Sugimoto, Y. Nii, S. Doi, S. Kumagai (2002) Frequency variability of neural rhythm in a small network of pacemaker neurons, *Proc. of AROB 7th '02*, pp.54–57.
- [2] A. L. Hodgkin, A. F. Huxley (1952) A quantitative description of membrane current and its application to conduction and excitation in nerve, *J. Physiol.* **117**: pp.500–544.
- [3] J. Honerkamp, G. Mutschler, R.Seitz (1985) Coupling of a slow and a fast oscillator can generate bursting. *Bull. Math. Biol.* **47**: pp.1–21.
- [4] S. Doi, S. Kumagai (2005), Generation of very slow neuronal rhythms and chaos near the Hopf bifurcation in single neuron models, *J. Comp. Neurosci.* **19**: pp.325–356.
- [5] S. Doi, S. Sato (1988) Regulation of differentiation in a population of cells interacting through a common pool, *J. Math. Biol.* **26**: pp.435–454.
- [6] R. FitzHugh (1961) Impulses and physiological states in theoretical models of nerve membrane, *Biophy. J.* 1: pp.445–466.
- [7] J. Nagumo, S. Arimoto, S. Yoshizawa (1962) An active pulse transmission line simulating nerve axon, *Proc. IRE* **50**: pp.2061–2070.
- [8] S. Doi, J. Inoue (2011) Chaos and variability of inter-spike intervals in neuronal models with slow-fast dynamics, *AIP Conf. Proc.* **1339**: pp.210–221.

Structural phase transition in the neural networks

Tatyana Turova Lund University Lund, Sweden E-mail:tatyana@maths.lth.se

We consider a model for a neural network, which is a stochastic process on a random graph. The neurons are represented by the "integrate-and-fire" processes. The structure of the graph is determined by the probabilities of the connections, and it depends on the activity of the network. We investigate the dependence between the initial level of sparseness of the connections and the dynamics of activation in the network. We find a critical window for the level of sparseness which yields optimal (in some sense) performance of a network.

Keywords: Integrate-and-fire neurons, Random graphs, Phase transition.

Network Inference with Stochastic Hidden Units

Joanna Tyrcha Mathematical Statistics, Stockholm University S-10691 Stockholm, Sweden joanna@math.su.se www2.math.su.se/~joanna

John Hertz Nordita, Stockholm University and Royal Institute of Technology Roslagstullsbacken 23, S-10691 Stockholm, Sweden jhertz@nordita.org www.nbi.dk/~hertz

A good deal of recent work has dealt with the problem of inferring the connections in a network from a record of the activity of its units. In particular, attention has focused on statistical modeling of neural networks based on recorded spike trains[1]. However, this work has assumed that data are available from all the units in the network, a condition that never applies in actual experiments. Here we lay a foundation for treating more realistic situations by developing learning algorithms for networks of binary stochastic units containing "hidden" in addition to "visible" units. For Gibbs equilibrium networks, with symmetric connection matrices, this problem is solved by the classic Boltzmann learning algorithm. For the more general case of asymmetric connection matrices, this problem was also solved many years ago ("back-propagation in time") for networks of continuousvalued units. However, learning in networks of stochastic binary units with arbitrary connection matrices has not been treated previously. We derive an algorithm for this case here.

In the network model we consider, units can take on the values ± 1 and are updated synchronously according to the stochastic rule

$$P[S_i(t+1)|\mathbf{S}(t)] = \frac{1}{2}[1 + S_i(t+1)\tanh H_i(t)], \quad H_i(t) = \sum_j J_{ij}S_j(t) = \sum_j J_{ij}S_j(t) + \sum_b J_{ib}\sigma_b(t).$$
(1)

The likelihood of a history of the system is $P[\mathbf{S}] = \prod_{ti} P[S_i(t+1)|\mathbf{S}(t)]$. We denote the N_v visible units by s_i and the N_h hidden ones by σ_i : $\mathbf{S} = (\mathbf{s}, \boldsymbol{\sigma})$. The likelihood of a history of the visible units s is obtained by marginalizing out the hidden units, and the learning rules are found by gradient ascent on the resulting log likelihood $\log P[\mathbf{s}] = \log \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}} P[\mathbf{s}, \boldsymbol{\sigma}]$. They have the form

$$\Delta J_{ij} \propto \frac{\partial \log P[\mathbf{s}]}{\partial J_{ij}} = \sum_{t} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\sigma}} [S_i(t+1) - \tanh H_i(t)] S_j(t) P[\boldsymbol{\sigma}|\mathbf{s}].$$
(2)

The weight $P[\sigma|\mathbf{s}] = P[\mathbf{s}, \sigma]/P[\mathbf{s}]$ in this average is like a Boltzmann weight for a statisticalmechanical problem for the hidden units with an energy $E_{\mathbf{s}}[\sigma] = -\log P[\mathbf{s}, \sigma]$ and partition function $P[\mathbf{s}] = \sum_{\sigma} P[\mathbf{s}, \sigma]$. If there are no hidden-to-hidden connections, $P[\mathbf{s}, \sigma]$ factorizes into a product of independent factors for each time step in the data. In this case, the statistical-mechanical problem to be solved for each time step has N_h variables. In the general case, $P[\mathbf{s}, \sigma]$ does not factor, and the problem to be solved has $N_h T$ variables $\sigma_i(t)$, where T is the number of time steps in the data. The energy $E_{\mathbf{s}}[\sigma]$ contains terms describing "external fields" acting on each $\sigma_i(t)$ from the visible data $s_j(t \pm 1)$ at both the previous and subsequent time steps, terms which couple each $\sigma_i(t)$ with all $\sigma_j(t \pm 1)$, and nonlinear couplings among the different σ_i at each t. With knowledge of the normalizing denominator $P[\mathbf{s}]$ (the partition function of this auxiliary statistical mechanical problem), the averages in (2) can be evaluated. This constitutes the exact algorithm for finding the couplings J_{ij} . The evaluation can be done exactly for small N_h and T; for large systems and/or data records one can resort to Monte Carlo simulations.

One can develop a mean field theory for this problem, valid for large, densely connected networks, based on a free energy $F_s[\mathbf{m}]$ which is a function of "magnetizations" $m_i = \langle \sigma_i \rangle$. It has the form

 $F_{s}[\mathbf{m}] = E_{s}[\mathbf{m}] - S[\mathbf{m}]$, where $S[\mathbf{m}]$ is a sum of single-unit entropies $-((1 + m_{a})/2)\log((1 + m_{a})/2) - ((1 - m_{a})/2)\log((1 - m_{a})/2)$ for units with constrained magnetization m_{a} . Minimizing $F_{s}[\mathbf{m}]$ leads to coupled mean-field equations

$$\tanh^{-1} m_{a}(t) = \sum_{j} J_{aj} s_{j}(t-1) + \sum_{b} J_{ab} m_{b}(t-1) + \sum_{j} [s_{j}(t+1) - \tanh H_{j}(t)] J_{ja} + \sum_{b} [m_{b}(t+1) - \tanh H_{b}(t)] J_{ba}$$
(3)

(where now $\sigma_b(t)$ is replaced by $m_b(t)$ in the expression for $H_i(t)$ in (1)) for the $m_a(t)$. There are many (N_hT) of these equations, but they can be solved much more quickly than running Monte Carlo simulations for N_hT units. They have a simple interpretation: The first line is just the input to unit *a* from the visible and hidden units, respectively, at the preceding time step. The second line had the form of back-propagated errors from visible and hidden units at the following time step. The combined effect of these influences determines the appropriate target on the hidden units to be used in the learning rule (2). This result is a generalization of an old formulation of back-propagation learning for conventional networks with a single hidden layer in terms of such "internal representations"[2].

Keywords: networks, inference, stochastic dynamics.

- [1] Hertz, J., Roudi, Y., Tyrcha, J. (2011) Ising Models for Inferring Network Structure From Spike Data, to appear in: *Principles of Neural Coding* (S. Panzeri and R. Quian Quiroga, Eds), CRC Taylor and Francis; arXiv:1106.1753
- [2] Krogh, A., Thorbergsson, G.I., Hertz, J.A. (1990) A Cost Function for Internal Representations, *NIPS Proceedings*, **2**: 733-740.

Computational investigation of Glutamate-AMPA interaction in synaptic transmission

Francesco Ventriglia Istituto di Cibernetica "E.Caianiello" del CNR Via Campi Flegrei 34, 80078 Pozzuoli (NA), Italy franco@ulisse.cib.na.cnr.it

Vito Di Maio Istituto di Cibernetica "E.Caianiello" del CNR Via Campi Flegrei 34, 80078 Pozzuoli (NA), Italy vito.dimaio@cnr.it

The excitatory postsynaptic response, following presynaptic activity, is the mechanism that neurons use to transfer the information coded in the spike sequence of the presynaptic neuron to the postsynaptic one in the brain. Because of this key role all the elements present in the synaptic structure, which are thought to give a contribution in shaping the postsynaptic excitatory response, is object of very attentive experimental and computational investigation. In this framework, mathematical models and computer simulations are providing valuable information that could not be obtained experimentally due to technical limitations.

To clarify the mechanisms involved in stochastic variability of postsynaptic excitatory response, in previous papers we proposed a model of excitatory synapse based on a detailed geometrical description of the synaptic structure. The model was based on Brownian motion of Glutamate (GLUT) molecules in the synaptic cleft, described by Langevin Equations in a discretized form with a very fine time step (40f *emtoseconds*) and on a detailed description of their binding to post-synaptic AMPA and NMDA receptors although only the AMPA response was simulated since, in normal conditions, NMDA are blocked by Mg++ ions [6, 7, 8, 9]. Herein, we present an update of the model based on new values of the model parameters obtained by more recent experimental findings [1, 2, 3, 4, 5]. In a recent report we studied the effect of AMPARs trafficking on the shape of the miniature Excitatory Post Synaptic Currents (mEPSCs) produced by AMPARs activation demonstrating the possibility to define an inferior limit for the binding probability between the molecules of GLUT and receptor binding site[9].

In the present work, we present a series of computational experiments intended to study the effect of the the position of the binging site by using a better description of the 3D structure and dimension of the AMPA receptors and by considering that they are elements protruding from the PSD [5]. The presence of filaments in the synaptic cleft, connecting the pre and postsynaptic cells and located around the PSD area, is also considered. Moreover, the decreasing of the Excitatory Post Synaptic response with the increasing of the eccentricity of the position of the releasing vesicle with respect to the center of the Active Zone (AZ), is studied by the space distribution of number of collisions of GLUT molecules on receptor binding sites. At last, the dynamics of the binding process has been studied by means of the several AMPA receptors which they *visit* without success until till the final binding occurs (see Figure 1).

Keywords: Glutamate Synaptic Response; Synaptic Parameters; Computer Simulation

- [1] Feng W, Zhang M (2009) Organization and dynamics of PDZ-domain-related supramodules in the postsynaptic density. Nat. Rev. Neurosci., **10**: 87-99.
- [2] Armstrong N, Gouaux E (2000) Mechanisms for Activation and Antagonism of an AMPA-Sensitive Glutamate Receptor: Crystal Structures of the GluR2 Ligand Binding Core. *Neuron* 28: 165-181



Figure 1: Sequence of time intervals between successive impacts of a GLUT molecule on the binding sites of AMPA receptors, which terminate with a successful binding. Four different receptor sites were visited. First impact occurred after 190.349398720 μ s on receptor 13. After it passed through receptors 26 and 27 before binding on receptor 56 at time=199.963628560 μ s. Main simulation parameters: Releasing position on AZ, x0 = 90nm; Released Molecules=775; Binding Probability=0.0136; AMPARs Number=55; NMDARs Number=13. The horizontal axis shows the values of the decimal logarithm of the time differences between two successive impacts.

- [3] Malinow R, Malenka RC (2002) AMPA receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. *Ann. Rev. Neurosci.* **25**: 103-126
- [4] Santos SD, Carvalho AL, Caldeira MV, Duarte CB (2009) Regulation of AMPA receptors and synaptic plasticity. *Neuroscience* **158**: 105-25
- [5] Tichelaar W, Safferling M, Keinnen K, Stark H, Madden DR (2004) The Three-dimensional Structure of an Ionotropic Glutamate Receptor Reveals a Dimer-of-dimers Assembly. *J. Mol. Biol.* **344**: 435-442.
- [6] Ventriglia F, Di Maio V (2000) A Brownian simulation model of Glutamate synaptic diffusion in the femtosecond time scale. *Biol. Cybern.* **83**: 93-109
- [7] Ventriglia F, Di Maio V (2003) Stochastic fluctuations of the quantal EPSC amplitude in computer simulated excitatory synapses of hippocampus. *Biosystems* **71**: 195-204
- [8] Ventriglia F (2011) Effect of filaments within the synaptic cleft on the response of excitatory synapses simulated by computer experiments *BioSystems* **104**: 14-22
- [9] Ventriglia F, Di Maio V (2012) Variable binding probability in AMPA receptors and AMPARs traffiching. In *Biocomp2012, Abstracts, pp 171-172*. Biocomp2012, June 4-8, Vietri sul Mare (SA), Italy.

Efficient coding beyond the retina

Jonathan D. Victor Department of Neurology and Neuroscience, Weill Cornell Medical College New York City, New York, USA jdvicto@med.cornell.edu http://www-users.med.cornell.edu/~jdvicto/labonweb.html

Yunguo Yu Department of Neurology and Neuroscience, Weill Cornell Medical College New York City, New York, USA yuy2002@med.cornell.edu

Mary M. Conte Department of Neurology and Neuroscience, Weill Cornell Medical College New York City, New York, USA mmconte@med.cornell.edu

The principle of efficient coding [1] is that sensory systems take advantage of the statistical regularities of the natural environment to focus their limited resources on aspects of stimuli that are unpredictable. This is a powerful framework for understanding retinal design principles. Whether it is also applicable to cortical visual processing is less clear, as there is no "bottleneck" comparable to the optic nerve, and much redundancy has already been removed by the retina. Here, we present psychophysical and physiological evidence that regularities of high-order image statistics are indeed exploited by central visual processing, and at a surprising level of detail. This convergence motivates a more detailed psychophysical study of sensitivity to image statistics, which in turn suggests a hypothesis about natural image statistics.

The starting point is a recent analysis of high-order correlations in natural images [2]. This study showed that for natural images, high-order correlations in certain specific spatial configurations are informative, while high-order correlations in other spatial configurations are not, as they can be accurately guessed from lower-order ones. To determine the relevance of this dichotomy for visual processing, we construct artificial images (visual textures) composed either of informative or uninformative correlations. We find that the informative correlations are visually salient, while the uninformative correlations are nearly indistinguishable from random.

To understand the physiological origin of these perceptual signals, we recorded from single neurons in the visual cortex (V1 and V2) of the macaque. Overall, we found that neuronal responses mirror the psychophysical findings: many neurons respond differentially to the informative statistics; few respond to the uninformative ones. Laminar analysis showed that the differential responses to high-order correlations first become prominent in the supragranular layers of V1. The sensitivity to high-order statistics increases further in V2, and exceeds 80% in its supra- and infragranular layers. These findings indicate that selective sensitivity to high-order correlations arises as the result of intracortical processing in V1, and is further enhanced in V2.

Motivated by these findings, we undertook a further analysis of human sensitivity to local image statistics of low and high order [3]. We focused on image statistics that characterize 2x2 neighborhoods in binary images; this is a 10-dimensional space. We find that human visual sensitivity to these image statistics is highly selective, and that interactions between image statistics are well-described by an ellipsoidal isodiscrimination surface. The shape and slant of this ellipsoid is consistent across observers. We hypothesize that the directions of peak sensitivity – which are not the mathematically "natural" directions – correspond to the statistics that are most informative about natural images.

- [1] Barlow, H.B. (1961) Possible principles underlying the transformation of sensory messages, in: *Sensory Communication*, (W.A. Rosenblith, Ed.), MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, pp. 217–234.
- [2] Tkacik, G., Prentice, J.S., Victor, J.D. and Balasubramanian, V. (2010) Local statistics in natural scenes predict the saliency of synthetic textures. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **107**: 18149–18154.
- [3] Victor, J.D., and Conte, M.M. (2012) Local image statistics: maximum-entropy constructions and perceptual salience. *Journal of the Optical Society of America A*, in press.

Event-related potentials associated to decision-making in emotionally-primed Ultimatum Game

Alessandro E. P. Villa^{1,2}, Alessandra Lintas^{1,3}, Sarah Mesrobian¹, Marina Fiori^{1,4}

¹ Neuroheuristic Research Group; University of Lausanne Quartier Dorigny, Internef 138, 1015 Lausanne, Switzerland [avilla,alelintas,sarah,mfiori]@nhrg.org, http://neuroheuristic.org/

² Grenoble Institute of Neuroscience; Université Joseph Fourier INSERM U836, Equipe 7 Nanomédecine et Cerveau, Grenoble, France

³ Unit of Anatomy; Dept. of Medicine; University of Fribourg Route Albert-Gockel 1, CH-1700 Fribourg, Switzerland

⁴ Department of Organizational Behavior; University of Lausanne Faculty of Business and Economics (HEC), 1015 Lausanne, Switzerland

Decision-making is considered the most essential phase in volitional act. This is supposed to occur in the temporal window that follows sensory processes and before the motor response confirming that a decision was made. Let us consider a scenario where one party, the "proposer", offers how to split a finite resource (e.g., a sum of money). If the other party, the "responder", accepts the deal, the resource is distributed according to the proposal, and if he rejects, both parties get nothing. This kind of situation is similar to an iterative implementation of the the Ultimatum Game (UG) [1], which is originally a one-shot bargaining game with no communication and no negotiation. Continuous EEG was recorded using 60 scalp Ag/AgCl active electrodes mounted on a headcap and referenced to the linked earlobes. Event-related potentials (ERPs) from scalp electrodes were recorded during the whole decision-making process. We observed two distinct components at most electrode sites during both conditions of UG. The first component is an early positive wave with a peak latency of about 200 ms, identified as 'P200'. The second component is a negative wave peaking at about 350 ms, identified as Feedback-Related Negarivity, 'FRN'. P200 was peaking with the same latency for proposer and responder decision-making. In the responder condition we observed an additional positive component, occurring after P200, visible along all midline sites, but with amplitude larger at frontal site (FCz). The latency of FRN was bigger in proposer vs. responder condition at all sites, but in responder condition the amplitude of the wave was similar at all frontal sites. In the proposer condition at right frontal sites (F2 and F4) the amplitude of this wave was smaller than at left frontal sites (F1 and F3). These results suggest different coding of decision-making for proposers and responders and extend previous results [2]. In UG the proposer has to store a specific value in the in short-term memory buffer and, then, engage retrieval processes to enable his offer after the instruction.

Keywords: P200, Feedback-Related Negativity, Lateralization.

- [1] W. Güth, R. Schmittberger, and B. Schwarze. An experimental analysis of ultimatum bargaining. *J Econ Behav Organ*, 3(4):367–388, 1982.
- [2] A. E. P. Villa, P. Missonnier, and A. Lintas. Neuroheuristics of Decision Making: from neuronal activity to EEG. In T. V. Guy, M. Kárný, and D. H. Wolpert, editors, *Decision Making with Imperfect Decision Makers*, volume 28 of *Intelligent Systems Reference Library*, chapter 7, pages 159–194. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, Germany, 2012.

Synthetic and elemental coding of the pineapple "accord" and its components

Patricia Viret, Petryszyn Sarah, Michel Chaput and Barbara Ferry UMR 5292, Centre de recherche en neurosciences de Lyon, Université de Lyon, CNRS, INSERM, 50 avenue Tony Garnier, F-69366 Lyon, France

pviret@olfac.univ-lyon1.fr http://crnl.univ-lyon1.fr

A fascinating property of the sense of smell is that odor mixtures often have distinctive emergent qualities, and their individual components are consequently difficult to identify. Here, we make the hypothesis that the emergence of a new quality of an odor mixture is initiated from the peripheral olfactory mucosa. In order to test our hypothesis, "the blending mixture perception" was studied in the Rat at the peripheral and behavioral level.

To this aim, single olfactory receptor neurons (ORN) responses were electrophsiologically recorded in response to (1) the binary ethyl maltol (Emalt) + ethyl isobutyrate (Eiso) mixture from which emerge the pineapple fragrance and (2) each of the molecules. Amplitude of the ORNs responses was plotted as a function of concentrations and the curve obtained for the mixture showed a clear dominance of Eiso or a suppressive or a amplifying effect of Emaltol regarding the response to Eiso when used alone; these 3 effects being equally observed. For the behavioral study, animals were submitted to a conditioned odor aversion (COA) paradigm consisting of the association between Emalt or Eiso (conditioned stimuli) and the administration of a gastric malaise (0.15M Lithium chloride *i.p.* injection). The conditioned aversion to Emalt or Eiso was assessed by presenting successive discriminative two-bottle tests during which the animals had to choose between the conditioned odor versus the mixture Emalt+Eiso.

The results showed that animals conditioned to Eiso showed a clear aversion to the mixture suggesting an elemental strategy that corresponds to the detection of one component of a mixture in order to avoid it. By contrast the animals conditioned to Emalt failed to develop a clear aversion to Emalt thus rendering the absence of conditioned Emalt+Eiso aversion difficult to interpret. Our results obtained at the cellular level showed that the pineapple "accord" induced a remarkable ratio of synergy which may sign an "accord" specificity.

At the behavioral level, our data suggest that animals developed an elemental strategy coding thus rendering possible the detection of the Eiso in the pineapple "accord". The status of Emalt needs to be précised using other types of conditioning which will use rather reinforcement. As a conclusion even in "accord" the different components can present different status regarding discriminative processes.

Keywords: Odor coding, odor mixture, conditioned odor aversion, behavior

Representational capacity of neural codes in the cortex

Lawrence York Informatics Forum, 10 Crichton Street, Edinburgh, EH8 9AB, UK s0570135@sms.ed.ac.uk

Jan Pieczkowski Informatics Forum, 10 Crichton Street, Edinburgh, EH8 9AB, UK s1164986@sms.ed.ac.uk

Mark van Rossum Informatics Forum, 10 Crichton Street, Edinburgh, EH8 9AB, UK mvanross@inf.ed.ac.uk

The coding of sensory stimuli in the neural response is a fundamental property of neural systems that impacts many of its properties. The coding scheme also determines how many different stimuli a population of neurons can represent. Although the coding of single stimuli has been studied extensively, coding of multiple stimuli has been studied far less. Here we study the representational capacity in the visual system when stimulus pairs are represented simultaneously. We assume that the response to the individual stimuli is given, and that the neurons interacts non-linearly to form the response to the pair. Using a Bayesian read-out we find that using a linear sum leads to a smaller capacity, than a maximum-like interaction. Thus non-linear interaction improve coding capacity. The results provide a novel interpretation for the non-linear interaction observed experimentally.

Dynamics of axon fasciculation and its consequences for ephaptic coupling

Martin Zapotocky Institute of Physiology, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic Videnska 1083, 14220 Prague 4, Czech Republic zapotocky@biomed.cas.cz www.biomed.cas.cz/~zapotocky

Debasish Chaudhuri Department of Physics, Indian Institute of Technology Hyderabad Yeddumailaram 502205, Andhra Pradesh, India debc@iith.ac.in

During neural development, the growing axons frequently fasciculate, i.e. form bundles of parallel axons. In the basic process leading to fasciculation, an advancing growth cone encounters the shaft of another axon, attaches to it and follows it. Fasciculation is crucial for setting up correct connectivity in various parts of the nervous system.

In addition to its role in guiding axon growth, fasciculation also influences neural activity. In tightly packed bundles, the electric field arising from an action potential traveling in one of the axons significantly affects the transmembrane voltage in the other axons. Such ephaptic coupling has been experimentally shown to result in synchronized propagation of spikes within the bundle and in changes in conduction velocity in the individual axons. It has been predicted that ephaptic coupling may also trigger action potentials in inactive axons, leading to spreading of electric activity across the bundle.

Our study is motivated by the biology of the mammalian olfactory system, in which axon fasciculation plays an essential role. The nasal epithelium contains about 10⁶ olfactory sensory neurons, which belong to approximately 1000 distinct types. The axons progressively fasciculate in the olfactory nerve and on the surface of the olfactory bulb; axons of each type type finally converge into a specific glomerulus in the bulb. Type-specific axon-axon interactions are presumed to play a key role in the fasciculation process. The axonal type is defined by which odorant receptor protein is expressed in the neuron. It has been shown, however, that the expression of specific types of cell adhesion molecules is strongly correlated with this axonal type.

We have developed a mathematical model of fasciculation in a population of growing axons with adhesive interactions. The axons are represented as directed random walks in two spatial dimensions; each random walker (growth cone) interacts with the trails (axon shafts) of other random walkers. In the simplest version of the model [1], all axons belong to the same type and have strong adhesive interactions, so each newly growing axon encountering an existing fascicle will join the fascicle and never detach. We introduce a turnover of axons (corresponding to adult neurogenesis in the olfactory epithelium) and study the resulting slow dynamics of axon fascicles. In the general version of the model [2], we introduce axons of multiple types, with type-specific interactions and the possibility of detachment of axons from fascicles. The resulting dynamics leads to fasciculation patterns for which we compute quantities such as the distribution of fascicle sizes, the increase of mean fascicle size in the direction of growth, and the purity of fascicles according to axon type.

There are indirect experimental indications [3] that ephaptic coupling between axons of olfactory sensory neurons leads to significant modifications of their electric activity. Ephaptic coupling in fascicles of these axons has been analyzed computationally by Bokil et al. [4], who predicted that additional action potentials are triggered especially within fascicles of small and intermediate size. The overall effect of ephaptic coupling in this system is therefore expected to depend sensitively on the detailed pattern of axon fasciculation.

We use the axon configurations generated by our fasciculation model to evaluate the effects of ephaptic coupling in a population of fasciculating axons. Based on the analysis of Bokil et al. [4], we trigger additional action potentials when the ratio of the number of active axons to the the total

number of axons in a given fascicle exceeds a critical value. We discuss the parameter ranges in which ephaptic coupling leads to a nontrivial spreading of the sensory electric activity. For configurations with 2 types of axons (carrying distinct sensory information), we evaluate the degree of cross-activation between the two axon types; such cross-talk is expected to be detrimental to efficient neural processing in the olfactory bulb.

Keywords: axon guidance, random walk, ephaptic coupling

- [1] Chaudhuri, D., Borowski P., Mohanty P. K., Zapotocky M. (2009) Dynamics of path aggregation in the presence of turnover. *EPL Europhysics Letters*, **87**: art. 20003.
- [2] Chaudhuri, D., Borowski P., Zapotocky M. (2011) Model of fasciculation and sorting in mixed populations of axons. *Physical Review E*, **84**: art. 021908.
- [3] Scott J. W., Sherill L. (2008) Effects of odor stimulation on antidromic spikes in olfactory sensory neurons. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, **100**: pp. 3074–85.
- [4] Bokil, H., Laaris N., Blinder K., Ennis M., Keller A. (2001) Ephaptic Interactions in the Mammalian Olfactory System. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, **21**: RC173.

Index of Authors

Aguilera, P., 103 AlAzad, K.A., 5 Amblard, P-O., 79 Bartussek, J., 19 Bazhenov, M., 1 Benedetto, E., 3 Benjaminsson, S., 47 Borisyuk, R., 5 Brüning, J.C., 97 Braun, H.A., 7, 131 Brugge, J.F., 25 Bugmann, G., 9 Buhl, E., 5 Buonocore, A., 11 Bures, Z., 13 Cao, R., 41 Caputi, Á.A., 15, 103 Caputo, L., 11 Cavallari, S., 17 Chakraborty, S., 19 Chang, T.R., 21 Chaput, M., 23, 149 Chaudhuri, D., 153 Chiu, T.W., 21, 25 Christodoulou, C., 55, 65 Conte, D., 5 Conte, M.M., 145 Cupera, J., 27 Di Crescenzo, A., 29 Di Maio, V., 143 Dimigen, O., 117 Ditlevsen, S., 31, 129 Doi, S., 137 Dutoit, P., 33 El Mountassir, F., 23 Faes, C., 41 Farkhooi, F., 83 Ferry, B., 23, 149 Fiori, M., 147 Fry, S.N., 19

Galizia, C.G., 87 Gerstner, W., 35 Giraudo, M.T., 37 Gollisch, T., 39, 111 Gonzalez-Montoro, A.M., 41 Hansel, D., 43 Herman, P.A., 45, 47, 77 Hertz, J., 141 Hess, S., 97 Hoppensteadt, F., 49 Howard III, M.A., 25 Huber, M.T., 131 Ikeda, S., 51 Ikeno, H., 85 Inoue, J., 137 Iolov, A., 53 Kanev, J., 55, 65 Kanzaki, R., 85 Kazawa, T., 85 Kim, H., 57 Kitano, K., 59 Klöckener, T., 97 Kloppenburg, P., 97 Kobayashi, R., 59, 61, 63 Kostal, L., 63, 99 Koutsou, A., 55, 65 Koyama, S., 67 Kravchuk, K., 69 Krishnamoorthy, V., 39 Kurths, J., 117 Lansky, P., 61, 65, 71, 101, 129 Lansner, A., 45, 47, 77 Le Bon, A.M., 23 Levakova, M., 71 Lindner, B., 73 Lintas, A., 75, 147 Longobardi, M., 29 Longtin, A., 53 Lucas, P., 105 Lundqvist, M., 45, 77

Manton, J.H., 51 Marsalek, P., 113, 135 Martinucci, B., 29 Mazzoni, A., 17 McDonnell, M.D., 79, 91, 121 Mendl, C.B., 39 Mesrobian, S., 147 Miller, E.W., 81 Molenberghs, G., 41 Moshtagh Khorasani, M., 81 Namiki, S., 85 Naud, R., 35 Nawrot, M.P., 83, 107 Nishikawa, I., 85 Nourski, K., 25 Nowotny, T., 87 Okada, M., 133 Olypher, A., 89 Oya, H., 25 Padilla, D.E., 91, 121 Paeger, L., 97 Paehler, M., 97 Panzeri, S., 17 Paprocki, B., 93, 127 Parga, N., 95 Pereira, A.C., 15, 103 Perrig, S., 33 Pieczkowski, J., 151 Pippow, A., 97 Pirozzi, E., 11 Pokora, O., 99 Poon, P.W.F., 21, 25 Postnova, S., 131 Pouzat, C, 97 Qiu, W., 25 Rajdl, K., 101 Riehle, A., 107 Roberts, A., 5 Rodríguez-Cattaneo, A., 15, 103 Rospars, J-P., 105 Rost, T., 107 Sacerdote, L., 3, 37, 109, 125 Samengo, I., 111 Sanda, P., 113 Sarah, P., 149 Schimansky-Geier, L., 115 Schinkel, S., 117

Schmerl, B., 121 Schwalger, T., 123 Schwaller, B., 75 Shaposhnyk, V.V., 33 Shinomoto, S., 57, 61, 119 Sirovich, R., 37, 125 Soffe, S., 5 Sommer, W., 117 Szczepanski, J., 93, 127 Szyszka, P., 87 Tamborrino, M., 109, 129 Tchaptchet, A., 131 Terashima, H., 133 Testa, L., 125 Thomas-Danguin, T., 23 To, M-S., 79 Torre, V., 81 Toth, P.G., 135 Tsuneki, R., 137 Turova, T., 139 Tyrcha, J., 141 Vaillant, J., 89 van Rossum, M., 151 van Vreeswijk, C., 43 Ventriglia, F., 143 Victor, J.D., 145 Vidybida, A., 69 Villa, A.E.P., 33, 75, 147 Viret, P., 23, 105, 149 Vogt, M.C., 97 Yamagishi, Y., 85 York, L., 151 Yu, Y., 145 Zamora-López, G., 117 Zapotocky, M., 19, 153 Zucca, C., 109